### **INFORMATION TO USERS**

This manuscript has been reproduced from the microfilm master. UMI films the text directly from the original or copy submitted. Thus, some thesis and dissertation copies are in typewriter face, while others may be from any type of computer printer.

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted. Broken or indistinct print, colored or poor quality illustrations and photographs, print bleedthrough, substandard margins, and improper alignment can adversely affect reproduction.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send UMI a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if unauthorized copyright material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.

Oversize materials (e.g., maps, drawings, charts) are reproduced by sectioning the original, beginning at the upper left-hand corner and continuing from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps.

ProQuest Information and Learning 300 North Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346 USA 800-521-0600

UMI®

Enzyme substitution therapy for hyperphenylalaninemia with phenylalanine ammonia lyase. An alternative to low phenylalanine dietary treatment; effective in mouse models.

By Christineh N. Sarkissian

Department of Biology McGill University, Montreal

November 2000

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

© Christineh N. Sarkissian (2000)



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services

395 Wellington Street Oltawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisitions et services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Your Ne Votre rélérence

Cur lite Note rélérance

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission. L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

0-612-70148-4

# Canada

To Mum and Dad who gave up all their comforts and moved three continents, to provide us with every opportunity to be all that we wanted to be.

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

TABLE OF CONTENTS	Ι
ABSTRACT	IV
RÉSUMÉ	VI
ABBREVIATIONS	VIII
LIST OF TABLES AND FIGURES	X
PREFACE	XIII
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	XV
CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS	XIX
CHAPTER 1: Introduction	1
Discovery of PKU	2
Defining Hyperphenylalaninemia	2
The Phenylalanine Hydroxylase Gene	3
Mutations Associated with PAH Deficiency	4
PAH Expression	5
The PAH Polypeptide and Enzyme	6
Phenylalanine Homeostasis	8
Treatment Outcome	9
Brain Pathogenesis	10
The Challenge of Maternal HPA	13
Relevance of Animal Models	14
Phenylalanine Transamination Metabolites	19
Treatment	21
Treatment Difficulties and Other Associated Drawbacks	23
Non-Diet Treatment Options	26
Treatment by Liver Transplants	26
Gene Therapy	26
Tetrahydrobiopterin-Responsive HPA Therapy	27
Enzyme Therapy	28
PAH Enzyme Replacement	28
Enzyme Substitution Therapy with	28
Phenylalanine Ammonia Lyase	
Route of PAL Administration	30
Proposal	33
References	37

**CONNECTING TEXT** 

66

CHAPTER 2: A heteroallelic mutant mouse model: A new orthologue for human hyperphenylalaninemia	67
Abstract	68
Introduction	69
Materials and Methods	70
Results	74
Discussion	76
Acknowledgements	77
References	85
CONNECTING TEXT	89
CHAPTER 3: Measurement of phenyllactate, phenylacetate and phenylpyruvate by negative ion chemical ionization – gas chromatography/mass spectrometry in brain of mouse genetic models of phenylketonuria and non- phenylketonuria hyperphenylalaninemia	90
Abstract	91
Introduction	92
Materials and Methods	93
Results and Discussion	96
Acknowledgements	<b>99</b>
References	109
CONNECTING TEXT	111
CHAPTER 4: A different approach to treatment of phenylketonuria: Phenylalanine degradation with recombinant phenylalanine ammonia lyase	112
Abstract	113
Introduction	114
Materials and Methods	115
Results	121
Discussion	122
Acknowledgements	125
References	133
CHAPTER 5: Discussion	139
The Heteroallelic Mouse	140
Metabolic Manipulation	142
Pah Enzyme Activity	142
PAH Enzyme Stability	143
Measuring Behavior	144
П	

Reproductive Problems	144
Phenylalanine Metabolites	145
Logic and Role of Low Phenylalanine Diet	147
PAL Protection and Use as an Alternative to Diet Therapy	148
Future Aims	152
References	154
CLAIMS TO ORIGINALITY	162
APPENDIX A	16 <b>5</b>
APPENDIX B	173
APPENDIX C	182
APPENDIX D	189
APPENDIX E	193

### ABSTRACT

Phenylketonuria (PKU) and related forms of non-PKU hyperphenylalaninemias (HPA) result from deficiencies in phenylalanine hydroxylase (PAH), the hepatic enzyme that catalyses the conversion of phenylalanine (phe) to tyrosine (tyr). Patients are characterised by a metabolic phenotype comprising elevated levels of phe and some of its metabolites, notably phenyllactate (PLA), phenylacetate (PAA) and phenylpyruvate (PPA), in both tissue and body fluids. Treatment from birth with low-phe diet largely prevents the severe mental retardation that is its major consequence.

Mechanisms underlying the pathophysiology of PKU are still not fully understood; to this end, the availability of an orthologous animal model is relevant. A number of N-ethyl-N-nitrosourea (ENU) mutagenized mouse strains have become available. I report a new heteorallelic strain, developed by crossing female ENU1 (with mild non-PKU HPA) with a male ENU2/+ carrier of a 'severe' PKU-causing allele. I describe the new hybrid ENU1/2 strain and compare it with control (BTBR/Pas), ENU1, ENU2 and the heterozygous counterparts. The ENU1, ENU1/2 and ENU2 strains display mild, moderate and severe phenotypes, respectively, relative to the control and heterozygous counterparts.

I describe a novel method using negative ion chemical ionization gas chromatography/mass spectrometry (NICI-GC/MS) to measure the concentration of PLA, PAA and PPA in the brain of normal and mutant mice. Although elevated moderately in HPA and more so in PKU mice, concentrations of these metabolites are not sufficient to explain impaired brain function; however phe is present in brain at levels associated with harm.

Finally, I describe a new modality for treatment of HPA, compatible with better human compliance: it involves enzyme substitution with non-absorbable and protected phenylalanine ammonia lyase (PAL) in the intestinal lumen, to convert L-phenylalanine to the harmless metabolites (*trans*-cinnamic acid and trace ammonia). PAL, taken orally, substitutes for the deficient PAH enzyme and depletes body pools of excess phe. I describe an efficient recombinant approach to produce PAL enzyme. I also provide proofs of both pharmacologic and physiologic principles by testing PAL in the orthologous mutant mouse strains with HPA. The findings encourage further development of PAL for oral use as an ancillary treatment of human PKU.

## RÉSUMÉ

La phénylcétonurie (PCU) et autres formes d'hyperphénylalaninémies (HPA) résultent du malfonctionnement de la phénylalanine hydroxylase (PAH), l'enzyme hépatique catalysant la conversion de la phénylalanine (phe) en tyrosine (tyr). Les patients atteints de PCU présentent dans leurs tissues et leurs liquides corporels des niveaux élevés de phe et certains métabolites, notamment la phényllactate (PLA), la phénylacétate (PAA) et la phénylpyruvate (PPA). Une diète (à la naissance) à faible teneur en phe prévient grandement le retard mental sévère, caractéristique de la PCU.

Les mécanismes impliqués dans la physiopathologie ne sont pas entièrement compris; c'est pourquoi un modèle animal orthologue est nécessaire. Il existe les souches de souris ENU1 (avec légère HPA) et ENU2 (avec PCU) obtenues par mutation induite à la *N*-ethyl-*N*-nitrourée (ENU). Je décris maintenant une nouvelle souche hétéroallélique, ENU1/2 (ENU1 $\stackrel{\circ}{}$  x ENU2/+ $\stackrel{\circ}{}$ ), et compare cette souche avec les contrôles (BTBR/Pas), ENU1, ENU2 et leurs hétérozygotes respectifs. Les phénotypes sont: ENU1 (léger), ENU1/2 (modéré), ENU2 (sévère), lorsque comparé aux contrôles et hétérozygotes.

Je décris une nouvelle méthode utilisant la chromatographie gazeuse d'ionisation chimique d'ions négatifs couplée à la spectrométrie de masse (NICI-GC/MS) pour mesurer la concentration de PLA, PAA et PPA dans le cerveau de souris. Même si les niveaux sont élevés dans la souris HPA (légèrement) et PCU (beaucoup), la concentration de ces métabolites est insuffisante pour expliquer le malfonctionnement du cerveau. Cependant, la quantité de phe est suffisante pour causer certains dommages.

Finalement, je décris un nouveau mode de traitement de HPA qui est compatible avec un usage chez l'humain. Ceci implique la substitution d'enzyme avec la lyase phenylalanine ammoniaque (LPA) protégée (non-absorbable) dans le lumen intestinale. Ceci permet de convertir la L-phenylalanine en métabolites inoffensifs (l'acide trans-cinnamique et des traces d'ammoniaque). La LPA, prise oralement, peut se substituer à l'enzyme déficiente PAH et éliminer l'excès de phe corporel. Je décris une approche recombinante efficace pour produire l'enzyme PAL. Aussi, je fournis des preuves aux niveaux pharmacologique et physiologique en testant PAL chez les souches de souris mutantes orthologues avec HPA. Ces découvertes encouragent le développement de PAL pris oralement comme traitement auxiliaire de la PCU chez l'humain.

# **ABBREVIATIONS**

ACRS	amplification created recognition site
ANOVA	analysis of variance
BBB	blood-brain barrier
BH4	tetrahydrobiopterin
bp	base pairs
BSA	bovine serum albumin
<b>BTBR/Pas</b>	genetic background of ENU treated mouse models
cDNA	complementary deoxyribonucleic acid
CGDN	Canadian Genetic Diseases Network
CLEC	cross-linked enzyme crystals
CNS	central nervous system
CSF	cerebrospinal fluid
Da	dalton
DHPR	dihydropteridine reductase
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
ENU	N-ethyl-N-nitrosourea, a chemical mutagen
ENU1	Pah <sup>emul/1</sup> mouse; mutant orthologue of human non-PKU HPA
ENU1/+	heterozygous counterpart to Pah <sup>enul/1</sup> mouse
ENU1/2	Pah <sup>enui/2</sup> heteroallelic mouse; orthologue of human non-PKU
	HPA
ENU2	Pah <sup>mu2/2</sup> mouse; mutant orthologue of human PKU
ENU2/+	heterozygous counterpart to Pah <sup>enu2/2</sup> mouse
ENU3	Pah <sup>enu3/3</sup> mouse; another mutant orthologue of human PKU
GC/MS	gas chromatography/mass spectrometry
GFAP	glial fibrillary acid protein
GI	gastro-intestinal
GTP-CH	guanosine triphosphate cyclohydrolase
HAL	histidine ammonia lyase
HPA	hyperphenylalaninemia
HPLC	high performance liquid chromatography
IFNG	interferon, immune gene
i.p.	intraperitoneal
IQ	intelligence quotient
IR	infrared
6-MPH4	6-methyltetrahydropterin
MBTFA	N-methyl-bis-trifluoroacetamide
MRC	Medical Research Council (Canada)
MRI	magnetic resonance imaging
mRNA	messenger ribonucleic acid
MRS	magnetic resonance spectroscopy

VIII

.

m/z	mass/charge
NICI	negative ion chemical ionization
non-PKU HPA	non-phenylketonuria hyperphenylalaninemia
OD	optical density
PAA	phenylacetic acid
PAAds	deuterium labeled PAA internal standard ([ <sup>2</sup> H <sub>5</sub> ]-phenylacetic acid)
Pah	mouse phenylalanine hydroxylase enzyme
Pah	mouse phenylalanine hydroxylase gene
PAH	human phenylalanine hydroxylase enzyme
PAH	human phenylalanine hydroxylase gene
PAL	phenylalanine ammonia lyase enzyme
PAL	phenylalanine ammonia lyase gene
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PEA	phenylethylamine
PEPB	peptidase B gene
PFB	pentafluorobenzyl bromide
phe	phenylalanine
PKU	phenylketonuria
PLA	phenyllactic acid
PLAdı	PLA labeled with a single deuterium atoms (reduced PPA)
PLAd <sub>3</sub>	deuterium labeled PLA internal standard $(3-phenyl-2,3,3-^2H_3-lactic acid)$
PPA	phenylpyruvic acid
<b>R</b> <sup>2</sup>	squared correlation coefficient
RNA	ribonucleic acid
SD	standard deviation
SDS	sodium dodecyl sulfate
SE	standard error
SEM	standard error of the mean
SIM	selected ion monitoring
s.c.	subcutaneous
TFA	trifluoroacetate
TMS	trimethylsilyl
tyr	tyrosine



# LIST OF TABLES AND FIGURES

CHAPTER 1	1:	Page
Fig. 1	Major inputs and runouts of free L-phenylalanine in human Metabolism	35
Fig. 2	Schematic representation of PAL enzyme protected from degradation for passage through the GI tract	36
CHAPTER 2	2:	
Table 1	Maternal effect on number and size of litters and survival to weaning	78
Table 2	Behavioral assessment	79
Fig. 1	Plasma and brain phenylalanine concentrations of control, non-PKU HPA and PKU mouse models and their heterozygous counterparts	80
Fig. 2	Plasma phenylalanine clearance rates of ENU1, ENU1/2 and ENU2 animals loaded with a standard dose of phenylalanine	81
Fig. 3	Pah enzyme activity vs. plasma phenylalanine values of control, non-PKU HPA and PKU mouse models and their heterozygous counterparts	82
Fig. 4	Western blot from Pah protein in liver extracts of control, non-PKU HPA and PKU mouse models and their heterozygous counterparts	83
Fig. 5	Classic mouse models of PKU and non-PKU HPA, induced by N-ethyl-N-nitrosourea	84

### CHAPTER 3:

Table 1	Relationship between brain phe metabolites and plasma phenylalanine levels in three phenotypes	100
Table 2	Relationship between plasma and brain phenylalanine values in three mouse models	101
Fig. 1	NICI mass spectra obtained for the PFB derivatives of unlabeled PAA and PAAds	102
Fig. 2	NICI mass spectra obtained for the PFB derivatives of the TFA esters of unlabeled PLA, PLAd1 and PLAd3	103
Fig. 3	SIM chromatograms for a calibrating mixture containing unlabeled PAA, internals standard PAAds and unlabeled PLA	104
Fig. 4	Calibrating curves, showing linear responses for PLA, PPA and PAA, over physiological ranges	105
Fig. 5	SIM chromatograms obtained for phenylalanine metabolites in the brain of a normal mouse	106
Fig. 6	SIM chromatograms obtained for phenylalanine metabolites in the brain of an ENU1 mouse	107
Fig. 7	SIM chromatograms obtained for phenylalanine metabolites in the brain of an ENU2 mouse	108

### CHAPTER 4:

Table 1	Change in phenylalanine content in vitro solutions under various treatments	126
Fig. 1	PAL gene from yeast R. toruloide, cloned in the expression vector pIBX-7	127
Fig. 2	Purified PAL enzyme separated on a SDS/PAGE	128
Fig. 3	The dose response effect of intraperitoneal PAL on plasma phenylalanine levels	1 <b>29</b>
	VI	

Fig. 4	Effect of an intraperitoneal injection of PAL over 24 hours	130
Fig. 5	In vivo phenylalanine degradation by induced recombinant non-pathogenic E. coli cells expressing PAL	131
Fig. 6	<i>In vivo</i> phenylalanine degradation by oral administration of PAL with protease inhibitor aprotinin	132

### PREFACE

### Format of the Thesis

This thesis is composed of three chapters (2 - 4) of scientific experimentation and analyses, all of which are manuscripts that have been published. The format is in accordance with the regulations stated in the "Guidelines for Submitting a Doctoral Thesis", which reads as follows:

### "Guidelines for Thesis Preparation: (C) MANUSCRIPT-BASED THESIS

Candidates have the option of including, as part of the thesis, the text of one or more papers submitted, or to be submitted, for publication, or the clearlyduplicated text (not the reprints) of one or more published papers. These texts must conform to the "Guidelines for Thesis Preparation" with respect to font size, line spacing and margin sizes and must be bound together as an integral part of the thesis. (Reprints of published papers can be included in the appendices at the end of the thesis.)

The thesis must be more than a collection of manuscripts. All components must be integrated into a cohesive unit with a logical progression from one chapter to the next. In order to ensure that the thesis has continuity, connecting texts that provide logical bridges between the different papers are mandatory.

The thesis must conform to all other requirements of the "Guidelines for Thesis Preparation" in addition to the manuscripts. The thesis must include the following: (a) a table of contents; (b) an abstract in English and French; (c) an introduction which clearly states the rational and objectives of the research; (d) a comprehensive review of the literature (in addition to that covered in the introduction to each paper); (e) a final conclusion and summary.

As manuscripts for publication are frequently very concise documents, where appropriate, additional material must be provided (e.g., in appendices) in sufficient detail to allow a clear and precise judgement to be made of the importance and originality of the research reported in the thesis.

In general, when co-authored papers are included in a thesis the candidate must have made a substantial contribution to all papers included in the thesis. In addition, the candidate is required to make an explicit statement in the thesis as to who contributed to such work and to what extent. This statement should appear in a single section entitled" Contributions of Authors" as a preface to the thesis. The



supervisor must attest to the accuracy of this statement at the doctoral oral defense. Since the task of the examiners is made more difficult in these cases, it is in the candidate's interest to clearly specify the responsibilities of all the authors of the co-authored papers.

When previously published copyright material is presented in a thesis, the candidate must obtain, if necessary, signed waivers from the co-authors and publishers and submit these to the Thesis Office with the final deposition."

Thus, this thesis is submitted in the form of manuscripts, with slight modifications needed to meet the requirements for a uniform presentation.

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I have had some extraordinary times at McGill, filled with science, life and personal growth. However, the experiences would have had no meaning without the sharing. This I did with some remarkable people, to whom I am forever grateful.

To my supervisor, Dr. Charles Scriver, for deciding (one more time) not to call it quits and for taking me on as your 'last graduate student'. I'm grateful for all your help, for exposing me to a world that I would have otherwise not known, for giving importance to every stage of this project and for encouraging me to transform the seemingly impossible into reality. I will always admire you for your all-embracing view of life and will accord you the status you've wanted, that of an "honorary mouse".

To Zipper Scriver, Dr. Scriver's lovely wife, who graciously relinquished endless hours of home time, dedicated to my success.

To Dr. Orval Mamer who spent exhaustive hours teaching me about GC/MS. I am grateful for all your help, your infectious enthusiasm and for reminding me that an investigator's 'first graduate student' inspires her/him to solve the world's problems whereas the 'last graduate student' is responsible for her/his retirement.

To the other members of my supervisory committee, Dr. Rima Rozen and Dr. Thomas Chang, who endured a number of committee meetings.

To my good friend and colleague Danielle Boulais who spent endless hours helping me with my experiments. I am grateful for your attention to detail, for your dedication, coming in for those 6:00 a.m. experiments that at times lasted until 12:00 a.m. and your endless generosity. Thank you for the laughter - Your Student!

To the IBEX team: Dr. Hongsheng Su, Dr. Zhongqi Shao, Dr. Robert Heft, Françoise Blain, Rosalie Peevers, Marc Pedneault, Pamela Danagher, Dr. King Lee and Dr. Achim Recktenwald. Thank you for all your hard work and dedication and for not stopping when the prospects appeared grim.

To Dr. David McDonald, for all your help and advice with the development of the heteroallelic mouse model.

To Beverly Akerman, for your technical help and for your brilliant sense of humor that tolerated mine - you kept me going.

To Dr. Paula Waters, for technical advice and for your *effect*ive review of my various manuscripts.

To David Côté - you have the patience of a saint. I can't thank you enough for all your help with my various computer-related crises.

To Yves Sabbagh and Josée Martel, for translating my thesis abstract and for your friendship.

To Dr. Eileen Treacy, who supported me throughout my years here. Thanks for your endless generosity and for introducing me to the Irish culture in Montreal.

To Dr. Vazken Der Kaloustian, for your support and encouragement.

To Dr. Laurent Beck, who gh-ed every r in the English language. I'm grateful for your support, your technical advice and most of all, for the laughter we shared.

To Lynne Prevost and Huguette Rizziero. What would life have been *like* without you. Thanks for all your help, and for making me feel like one of the family.

To George Kritikos, for teaching me about the direct relationship between laughter and health. Thank you for saving me from crazy neighbors, for coming to my rescue when I called, for shoveling me out and then back into major snow banks, for our great drives on the lakeshore, the trips to Ottawa, Toronto, New York and Vermont and those late night backgammon games.

To Aniceta Capua, boy you were a tough nut to crack. Thanks for all your support and for taking me on that fateful trip to Rivière du Loup.

To other members of our lab, Georgia Kalavritinos, Margaret Fuller, Karan Manhas, Paulo Cordeiro, Emmanuelle Denis, Shannon Ryan, Keo Phommarinh, Sina Yak, Siphala Yak, Gail Dunbar, Ping Zhao and Angéline Boulay. Thank you for all your help.

To the various associations that funded my stay at McGill: The McGill University-Montreal Children's Hospital Research Institute, the Garrod Association (Canada) and the Auxiliary (Montreal Children's Hospital). To Mrs. Shirley Forde and Dr. David Logan, my teachers and mentors, for taking an active interest in my life and providing me with continuous guidance, advice and encouragement.

To these strong and incredible individuals:

- My childhood friends Karineh Babayan, Armin Martiros, Melinda Amirkhanian, Dr. Naïri Kassabian, Pearlamina Jerome, my late friend Karin Hacobian, Katrin Faridani, Dr. Jacqueline Faridani, Karen Arslan, Mona Steitieh, Evelyne Gharibian, Nickol Lymbertos, Celine Gharibian and Razmik Nevasartian.
- My friends from my undergraduate years Dr. Andreas Plaitis, Joandice Tigley, Meryl McKay, Dr. Lydia Lee, Liana Heaney, Cheryl Colman and Janice Hylton.
- My friends from Montreal Zoi Kilakos, Kyria Kilakos, Maria Kilakos, Evelyne Budkewitsch, Heather Kleb, Dr. Tina Martino, Kelly Rothney, Stacy Hewson, Claudia Carriles, David Duncan, Kathy Hodgkinson, Dyan Sterling, Dr. Hilary Lemass, Anahid Ajemian and Debbie Lambert.
- My exercise instructing colleagues Diana Destounis, Sophie Dupontgand, Della Ruiz, Pamela Lipson and Chantal Boucher.

I can't thank you enough for your support and encouragement. You will always be a great inspiration to me.

To my friend Hugh, his parents Susan and Hugh Hamilton, his grandmother Mrs. Lorette Woolfenden and the late Irene and George Thomas, Joffre Woolfenden and Dorothy Hamilton, who adopted me into their family. I know I selfishly wished you into my life. Thanks for always reminding me of why my family immigrated to Canada.

To my mother's sister, Annie Ethel Conboy, her brothers Michael and Francis Walsh and their families for their kindness and for teaching me about my ancestral history.

To Edmond Gharibian, for being my pillar of strength.

To my wonderful parents Mary Clare and Arsham, my brother Khachik and his wife Jeanette, my aunts Nora, Bibi and Janet, my uncles Arshak and family and Varoujan Sarkissian and my grandmother Heranoush Saroukhanian. Thank you for loving me so much and for all the support and encouragement. God blessed me with the most extraordinary family; I owe all my successes to you. Finally I am grateful to my two gorgeous nieces, Alexandra and Kelsey, for putting everything in perspective.



### **CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS**

Throughout my course of study, I have collaborated with several people. As chapters 2 to 4 of this Thesis are published articles by multiple authors, I am listing the contributions of each author below.

All three manuscripts presented in this thesis have been co-authored by my thesis supervisor, Dr. Charles R. Scriver and myself. For each body of work, Dr. Scriver discussed concepts with me, provided both technical guidance and supervised the project; he also helped with manuscript preparations.

The non-supervisory co-authors of the manuscript "A heteroallelic mutant mouse model: A new orthologue for human hyperphenylalaninemia" (Chapter 2) are Danielle M. Boulais and Dr. J. David McDonald. Danielle Boulais is the Animal Health Technician working with Dr. C.R. Scriver; Dr. J. David McDonald is an Associate Professor and Chair of the Department of Biological Sciences at Wichita State University. Danielle Boulais was responsible for the general care of the animals, aided with blood and tissue collection, assisted in metabolic manipulation experiments and recorded birth rate-survival to weaning and behavioral assessment. Dr. David McDonald provided advice on weaning, genotyping and metabolic manipulation.

Dr. Orval A. Mamer is the non-supervisory co-author of the manuscript entitled "Measurement of phenyllactate, phenylacetate and phenylpyruvate by negative ion chemical ionization-gas chromatography/mass spectrometry (NICI-GC/MS) in brain of mouse genetic models of phenylketonuria and nonphenylketonuria hyperphenylalaninemia" (Chapter 3). Dr. Mamer is the Director of the Mass Spectrometry Unit at McGill University and was responsible for proposing and directing the development of the NICI-GC/MS method. He provided both technical guidance and supervision.

The non-supervisory co-authors of the manuscript entitled "A different approach to treatment of phenylketonuria: Phenylalanine degradation with recombinant phenylalanine ammonia lyase" (Chapter 4) are Dr. Zhongqi Shao, Françoise Blain, Rosalie Peevers, Dr. Hongsheng Su, Dr. Robert Heft and Dr. Thomas M. S. Chang. Dr. Zhongqi Shao is a Senior Scientist at IBEX Technologies, Françoise Blain was a Research Scientist at IBEX Technologies, Rosalie Peevers was a Research Associate at IBEX Technologies, Dr. Hongsheng Su was an Associate Director at IBEX Technologies, Dr. Robert Heft is the President of IBEX Technologies and Dr. Thomas M. S. Chang is the Director of the Artificial Cells and Organs Research Center at McGill University. Dr. Zhongqi Shao and Rosalie Peevers were responsible for the production of the live organism (E. coli) used in the mouse studies (in vivo oral administration) and in vitro testing of the enzyme in the presence of proteases. Françoise Blain and Dr. Hongsheng Su were responsible for amplification of the PAL gene, construction of the high-expression PAL plasmid and purification of the PAL enzyme. Dr. Robert Heft was responsible for part of the funding. Dr. Chang, Dr. Heft and Dr. Scriver were the primary initiators of this project. They submitted grant applications to MRC and CGDN which, following peer review, provided funding for this work.

# **CHAPTER 1**

Introduction

Phenylketonuria (PKU) and related hyperphenylalaninemias (HPA) are Mendelian disorders resulting from deficient conversion of phenylalanine (phe) to tyrosine (tyr). They are explained by primary deficiencies of phenylalanine hydroxylase enzyme (PAH) (EC 1.14.16.1) activity. If untreated, the patient will most probably experience irreversible impairment of cognitive development. Although highly investigated, the mechanisms underlying the pathophysiology of the disease are still not fully understood (1).

#### **Discovery of PKU**

The story of PKU began in 1934 when Dr. Asbjørn Følling, a physician and biochemist at the University of Oslo School of Medicine, was contacted by the mother of two mentally challenged children. She was determined to find the cause of their retardation and of the mousy odour that seemed to be related to their condition. Dr. Følling asked the mother to bring him urine samples. She returned with over 5 gallons, from which he identified an excessive amount of phenylpyruvic acid (PPA) - a phenylketone. Følling, suspecting a link between the excretion of PPA and the mental retardation, surveyed several of the surrounding mental institutions and identified other such cases. He noted evidence of autosomal recessive inheritance. He further demonstrated that in addition to the high concentration of PPA, these patients also had elevated levels of circulating phe. He therefore hypothesised that metabolism of dietary phe was defective and suggested an inherited metabolic disorder as the cause for mental retardation. He named the disease "oligophrenia phenylpyrouvica" (2-4). Penrose and Quastel renamed the disease "phenylketonuria", literally meaning phenylketones in the urine (5). Penrose postulated that the mental retardation had an identifiable chemical cause (6).

#### **Defining Hyperphenylalaninemia**

PKU and related HPAs are among the most widely studied and well-documented of the hereditary metabolic disorders. Various classification schemes exist for the different forms of HPA (the categories defining the level of severity). The one used here identifies 'hyperphenylalaninemia' as an event in individuals having plasma [phe] > 120  $\mu$ M; 'phenylketonuria' as an event in those with plasma [phe] > 1000  $\mu$ M and a diet phe tolerance < 500 mg/day; the term 'non-PKU HPA' is used for those with 120  $\mu$ M < plasma [phe] < 1000  $\mu$ M and a diet phe tolerance > 500 mg/day (1;7). 'Variant PKU' is the term used for the patients who do not strictly fit the description for either PKU or non-PKU HPA (8). In reality these terms simply describe places on the spectrum of a metrical trait called HPA.

The prevalence of the PAH-deficient forms of HPA is in its broadest terms 1 in 10,000 live births in Caucasian and East Asian populations, with a heterozygote carrier frequency of 1 in 50 (1;8). However, ethnic variation in the frequency of so-called PKU has long been evident (9), with population rates as high as 1 in 2000 (Turkish) and 1 in 4500 (Irish) and as low as 1 in 43,000 (Japanese) and 1 in 200,000 (Finn and the Ashkenazi Jewish); the frequency of the non-PKU HPA shows less stratification and is more uniform (1;8).

### The Phenylalanine Hydroxylase Gene

The PAH-deficient forms of HPA are autosomal recessive traits at clinical and metabolic levels of phenotype and codominant at the enzymatic level (OMIM 261600). They result from mutations in the phenylalanine hydroxylase gene (*PAH*) which encodes the PAH enzyme (1). The human *PAH* gene is localized on the long arm of chromosome 12, band region q22-24.1 (10). It extends over  $\sim$  100kb of genomic DNA (11). It encodes 13 exons, which cover less than 3% of the genomic length (11;12). The complete genomic sequence is soon to be reported (D. Konecki, personal communication); meantime the full-length complementary DNA (cDNA) has been cloned and the nucleotide sequence determined (GenBank U49897.1)(12). The corresponding mRNA species is approximately 2500 nucleotides in length and contains the complete genetic code for the functional PAH enzyme (11;13). The 5' untranslated region encodes *cis*-acting, *trans*-

3

activated regulatory elements and 5' potential transcript initiation (CAP) sites; it lacks a TATA box and has sequences similar to GC boxes, all features of house-keeping genes (11).

#### Mutations Associated with PAH Deficiency

To recognise the rapid evolution of mutation research, one only needs to go back 32 years. In 1968, Woolf et al. reported the possibility of a third allele at the PAH locus, which resulted in distinct phenotypic characteristics, different from both the 'normal' and the 'typical' PKU allele. They were not sure whether an observed phenotype was caused by a variant form of PAH enzyme or if it was an effect brought about by other enzymes involved in phe metabolism (14). In 1971, Ara Tourian suggested the possible presence of yet another site for phe-PAH interaction, distinct from its catalytic site, resulting in a genetic variant that caused 'atypical' PKU with PAH enzyme activity of around 5% normals in the affected patients (15). Today we know of several hundred (>380) disease-causing alleles harbored by the PAH gene on more than 80 different haplotypes (16). The phenotypic outcome of these mutations covers a complete spectrum, ranging from benign polymorphisms to non-PKU HPA and variant PKU to the severely affected PKU phenotype. In the majority of cases, the identification of mutant genotype can broadly predict severity of the disease (17:18) and could indicate the level of phe tolerance of the individual patient (17).

Disease-causing *PAH* mutations fall into 5 classes: missense, small deletions or insertions (usually with frame shift), modifiers of mRNA splicing, termination (nonsense) alleles; large deletions are rare in this gene (1). The missense alleles cover ~ 65% *PAH* mutations (19) in comparison to the ~ 50% of disease-causing human alleles (20). Approximately a half dozen *PAH* mutant alleles account for over 50% of HPA cases in the Caucasian population; the remaining mutations are either rare or private alleles (1;16). Different sets of alleles are found in Orientals; again a few prevalent, most rare (16;21).

studies have provided interesting insight on the saying that the history of the population can be history of the alleles. They have shed light on the variety of genetic backgrounds on which mutations are found and the spatial distribution and relative frequencies of a number of these mutations (22). Therefore, human genetic diversity at the *PAH* locus can teach us a great deal about the occurrence of migration, genetic drift, natural selection (perhaps), recurrent mutation and intragenic recombination over the past 100,000 years (1;9).

Disease-causing mutation in PAH have their effect at three phenotypic levels: (i) 'proximate', affecting enzyme structure and function; (ii) 'intermediate', affecting metabolic homeostasis; and iii) 'distal', affecting brain structure/function, with associated cognitive developmental deficiencies (1).

### PAH Expression

Transcription of the *PAH* gene with its TATA-less promoter is regulated by multiple *cis*-acting elements (11). The *PAH* gene has developmental- and tissue-specific transcription/translation, proposed to be regulated at the transcriptional level (1;23). Since the proximal promoter region of the human *PAH* gene has no tissue-specific transcription factor binding sites, it has been suggested that the tissue-specific expression of the gene results from the combined effect of the interaction between multiple protein factors and multiple *cis*-elements (23;24).

Phenylalanine hydroxylase is present in a number of organisms from bacteria to humans (25). PAH appears in the cytoplasm (26). In humans, PAH enzyme is active in hepatocytes, with new evidence that kidney also harbors significant phenylalanine hydroxylating activity (1;27-30). In addition, there is evidence of some illegitimate transcription as demonstrated by the presence of mRNA in lymphocytes (31). In rodents, phenylalanine hydroxylating (symbol Pah) (EC 1.14.16.1) activity can be found in liver, kidney and pancreas (32;33). It has been suggested that detection of Pah activity in the pancreas is due to the common developmental origin of the pancreas and liver (34).

### The PAH Polypeptide and Enzyme

The *PAH* gene translates into a 452-amino acid polypeptide with a molecular weight of 52kD (one subunit 50Å x 45Å x 45Å) (35). The wild-type enzyme forms a homooligomer which is in equilibrium between its tetrameric and dimeric forms (36). The dimer is the minimum functional unit of purified PAH (37). The equilibrium can be shifted to the tetrameric form and activated by preincubation with phe and by lowering the pH (26;35;36;38;39). The minimum molecular requirements for the normal reaction are: PAH, oxygen, L-phenylalanine and tetrahydrobiopterin (BH<sub>4</sub>) cofactor (1).

With the use of X-ray crystallography, the structure of residues 117-427, containing the catalytic domain of human PAH, was determined at a resolution of 2Å (40). These crystallization experiments showed dimeric forms of PAH missing the N-terminal regulation and C-terminal tetramerization domains. Therefore the same team went further to crystallize and determine the structure of a truncated form of human tetrameric PAH (residues 118-452) (38). Finally the conformational properties of the N-terminal domain were studied by the use of infrared (IR) spectroscopic methods (39).

The enzyme is composed of three domains: regulatory (residues 1-142), catalytic (residues 143-410), and tetramerization (residues 411-452) (13;35;36;41-43). The secondary structural conformations and their internal and intra-subunit (monomer) interactions have been studied indicating a pronounced asymmetry in the packing of the four subunits (38).

The subunit encoded off the PAH gene, then folds into tertiary and quaternary structures, determining the catalytic efficiency, substrate specificity and binding ability of the enzyme, each of which can be altered in the presence of a mutation (43). Patients with typical PKU display < 1% normal PAH activity while those with non-PKU HPA had more enzymatic activity (> 5\% normal) (1). In some cases, interindividual variation in hepatic enzyme activity has been attributed to allelic heterogeneity. In addition, allelic interaction may play a role

6

where it is much more likely to reduce the catalytic activity than to enhance it (44).

Mutations affecting the PAH enzyme can be divided into four groups by their apparent effect: (i) 'null' alleles (no activity); (ii) 'Vmax' alleles (reduced activity); (iii) 'kinetic' alleles (altered affinity for substrate or cofactor); (iv) 'unstable' alleles (increased turnover and loss of PAH protein) (1;45).

The combined expression of two mutant alleles determines the metabolic phenotype. Yet the independent activity of the mutant alleles is important for broad prediction of the probable phenotype in newborn HPA cases. If a patient carries two 'severe' mutant alleles each associated with classical PKU, the clinical outcome is classical PKU. However, if there is a 'mild' mutation on one chromosome and a 'null' on the other, the result is likely to be a mild phenotype owing to the codominance of the 'mild' allele (46).

To study the effect of a mutation, a number of prokaryotic and eukaryotic *in-vitro* expression systems have been adopted, with the mammalian cell expression systems probably providing a more direct reflection of the human situation *in vivo* (47). Most expressed missense mutations in *PAH* provide evidence of misfolding with an associated increased aggregation (48;49); there are, however, a few stable mutant proteins that show normal levels of PAH immunoreactive protein with decreased enzymatic activity (47). Mutant proteins that have an increased tendency to aggregate tend to have enhanced degradation. Therefore, Waters *et al.* proposed that degradation of misfolded protein could be a general mechanism by which missense alleles cause PKU and related forms of HPA (48;50). Variability in the cellular handling of the protein (background genetics) may also have a significant impact explaining the range of PKU/HPA phenotypes (48;51).

7

### Phenylalanine Homeostasis

Claude Bernard referred to the constancy of the internal milieu as a necessary condition for life (52). The phenylalanine concentration is a metrical trait with an observed steady-state and a central tendency (homeostasis). HPA results when the non-peptide bound (free) phenylalanine is greater than the normal frequency distribution, reflecting a different (higher) steady-state value (1).

The metabolic steady-state is dynamic. Concentrations of metabolites in the system are fixed through fluxes imposed during standard daily dietary intake. However, persistent change in a flux will eventually change the steady-state value (53;54). Enzymes do not act in isolation; these steady-state values are determined by kinetically-linked enzymes that interact via their substrates and products. The steady-state of phe is determined by processes that lead to the net disposal and the replenishing of the plasma pool (55). Therefore, the fluxes through the system are under the control of the loci covering the overall mechanism. The level of contribution by a particular locus (enzyme) is described by its sensitivity coefficient, Z, which is defined by the fractional change in flux over the fractional change in enzyme activity; the sum of all the coefficients combined is always unity *in vivo* (56).

The free phe pool in the normal subject is derived from two sources: intake of exogenous dietary protein and turnover of endogenous polypeptides. At normal physiological concentrations (<120  $\mu$ M), hydroxylation of phe to tyr by PAH accounts for approximately 75% of the phe runout in the system with the remaining quarter incorporated into protein (see Fig. 1) (57;58). In addition, different urinary excretion and distribution of amino acids between extracellular and intracellular water and tissue compartments may also have small but significant roles in phe runout (46;59). Other metabolite pathways for the runout are normally of minor consequence (see Fig. 1). However, in the absence of, or at reduced levels of PAH activity (with elevated plasma concentration of phe ~ 0.3 - 0.5 mM), the transamination pathway becomes significant. The correlation between the excretion of each of the individual phe metabolites becomes statistically significant at these levels (60). The reaction is not fully operative in the immature newborn (61).

Phenylalanine transaminase initiates this alternative pathway by modifying the alanine side-chain of phe (55). This pathway is also active in tissues other than liver (1). This initial step involves converting phe to phenylpyruvic acid. Phenylpyruvate is subsequently converted to phenyllactic acid (PLA), phenylacetic acid (PAA), and phenylacetylglutamine. Decarboxylation to phenylethylamine (PEA), a tertiary pathway, is a trivial part of the whole (see Fig. 1) (1;55;62).

#### **Treatment Outcome**

PKU is now a treatable genetic disease and occurrence of the associated mental retardation is unusual in the treated patient. The treatment entails dietary restriction of phe intake. A large ongoing collaborative study, evaluating the outcome of early-treated PKU cases, showed that IQ scores at 6 years of age were directly related to maternal intelligence, treatment age of onset, and average life-time plasma phe values during treatment. With early treatment, patients with good dietary maintenance attain an IQ score in the normal range. However, PKU probands, as a group, have a small IQ deficit relative to their normal sibs. Patients who terminated treatment early scored lower than those who continued it longer (63;64).

Short-term periods without treatment, however, tend not to have a devastating affect on the older patients. One study measuring neuropsychological outcomes showed that treated older children sustaining 3 months of recurrent HPA suffered minimal if any harm to psychological function (65). This supports the idea that by late childhood, the vulnerability of the nervous system to the neurotoxic effect of phe may be significantly reduced (65).

9

Patients, treated by diet, with satisfactory IQ outcome, may however display other (non-cognitive) problems. These include significantly increased tooth wear (66), osteopenia with prominent bone loss (67) and other physical phenotypes such as decreased skin and hair pigmentation, when compared with controls (8;68). Patients tend to meet their genetic potential and have normal pubertal development for height, although they tend to be mostly overweight (69-72). They show impaired abstract reasoning and executive functions, behavior may be more extroverted and they may have problems with task orientation. They also have twice the normal frequency of neurotic and emotional disorder and hyperkinetic behavior (73-77).

In the event of treatment termination in adulthood, as is often the case due to the difficulties associated with the current therapy, patients can suffer from agoraphobia, depression and anxiety, with impaired vigilance and reaction times. They are deficient in social quotients with substantial behavioral problems (75;78-81).

### **Brain Pathogenesis**

There are 'threshold values' for plasma phe that result in apparent neurotoxicity in PKU patients. For an acute effect, a value of 1300  $\mu$ M (82) is assumed; however chronic values >120 but < 600  $\mu$ M (83) can still result (in treated patients) in changes visible by magnetic resonance imagine (MRI), and IQ score distributions below the normal range. It is therefore suggested that any degree of persistent HPA could be harmful to the brain, particularly during early life. If recurrence of HPA occurs in later life, a reversible acute neurotoxicity will most probably appear at first, and if the HPA persists, irreversible chronic neurotoxicity could result (1).

Pathogenesis of cognitive development in PKU has been studied for many years; however 'cause' is poorly understood. Phenylalanine can interfere with the development and function of the central nervous system (CNS) by different mechanisms; however, no single process by itself seems sufficient to explain the brain phenotype in PKU (84). One of the suggested mechanisms involves phe transport across the blood-brain barrier (BBB). At least two components contribute to this effect. One is trans-membrane fluxes of phe into parenchymal cells (achieving net intracellular accumulation of phe). It requires a system independent of the one used by several other large neutral amino acids to enter the cell. However, these amino acids exit parenchymal cells on the same system as phe. This system is blocked in the presence of high phe concentration (85-91). The other is that large neutral amino acids are transported across the BBB by a common saturable carrier; phe has the highest affinity for the system, hence in the presence of excess phe, the cellular influx of these amino acids is impeded (the system is specific for large neutral amino acids). Therefore, the net concentration of these large neutral amino acids in brain will be reduced as they will be both trapped in the parenchymal tissues and will have to compete at the BBB (86;87;91).

The transport of large neutral amino acids is an important control point for the overall regulation of cerebral metabolism, including neurotransmitter production and protein synthesis. The inhibited uptake (by phenylalanine) of amino acids, tyrosine and tryptophan, into the brain results in reduction of serotonin and catecholamine (82;92;93). Serotonin, and the catecholamines (dopamine and norepinepherine) are neurotransmitters that act in both central and peripheral systems, are involved with the modulation of psychomotor function, aid in vascular tone maintenance and blood flow, help control thermoregulation, and modulate pain mechanisms. Hence, any changes in this system can have a profound impact on central and peripheral homeostasis and may lead to neurological complications (94).

Interindividual variation in phe transport is apparent with different concentrations of free phe in the brain tissue of affected individuals; this also influences the brain phenotype in PKU (1). Brain phe concentrations can be

11
measured by magnetic resonance spectroscopy (MRS) (95;96). In comparing the PKU patients, clinical outcome with various blood vs. brain phe levels, it was found that those individuals with high blood and brain phe levels displayed 'typical' PKU phenotype while those patients (some untreated) with high blood and low brain phe concentrations were of normal intelligence (95;97;98), suggesting that PKU adults with low brain phe concentration (below 0.25mM) are likely to do well clinically despite high blood concentrations (97). No statistically significant differences were found in the regional concentrations of phe (96).

Other studies indicate that cerebral protein synthesis is inversely related to plasma phe, and this effect is apparent at phe concentrations as low as 200-500  $\mu$ M (99). Increased phe concentrations in the brain results in decrease proliferation and increased loss of neurons (100-102). DNA content is apparently reduced in the affected brain cells and its synthesis is impaired (102;103). Elevated phe levels result in dysmyelination and can cause decreased neurotransmitter receptor density and cell connectivity (104), decreased dendritic arborization and a number of synaptic spines (105), all associated with brain dysfunction in HPA (106;107). Toxic levels of phe are also shown to affect neuronal development during axonal maturation, resulting in hypomyelination in the outer cortical layers. Myelination appears to be severely inhibited during the critical developmental period (108).

Finally, histological and biochemical analyses of brain samples from PKU mouse orthologues and on *in vitro* cultured oligodendrocytes of wildtype mouse brain exposed to high concentrations of phe show evidence of myelinating oligodendrocytes, adopting a non-myelinating phenotype and over-expressing a glial fibrillary acid protein (GFAP). In addition, in the PKU mouse, the increased turnover of myelin is associated with loss of neurotransmitter (muscarinic acetylcholine) receptor density (104;109;110).

# **The Challenge of Maternal HPA**

Following the control and normal development of the affected patient, there is one additional concern that plagues female patients. Maternal hyperphenylalaninemia is a form of teratogenesis, imposing its cost on the next generation. The phenotypic effect observed here is dependent on the two mutant alleles carried by the mother where the obligatory heterozygous *PAH* genotype of the fetus is of little functional significance (111). Because the placenta pumps phe to the fetus, untreated pregnancies generally result in severe embryopathy and fetopathy, with other complications. There is a greater than 80% chance of microencephaly, mental retardation, malformations of the heart ( $\sim 7.5$ -12% probability) and other organs, esophageal atresia, dysmorphic facial features, and intrauterine growth retardation in the unborn child (112). Congenital cardiac defects occur at the rate of  $\sim 7.5$ -12% in children born to mothers with PKU, but only at 0.8% in the control population (113). Prevention is therefore essential and treatment necessary for the well being of the fetus.

The need for preconceptional and intrapartum treatment to prevent HPA teratogenesis was highlighted by Scriver in 1967 (114) and its relevance documented by Lenke and Levy in 1980 in their study of the outcome of over 500 untreated HPA mothers (115). It is very effective in preventing teratogenesis. The level of HPA is important when assessing the danger to the fetus, as no cases of congenital heart disease were observed in babies born to mothers with mild HPA (116). However, the ultimate reproductive outcome in maternal PKU is dependent on both prenatal metabolic control and postnatal environmental circumstances. These factors greatly depend on the educational resources provided for the PKU mother (117).

Unfortunately  $\sim 60\%$  of female PKU patients become pregnant unintentionally and therefore are not in metabolic control. Such pregnancies are usually late-treated and expose fetuses to elevated maternal phe levels (118). In addition, there are women with undiagnosed PKU (who may be well in the range

of normal mental function) whose fetuses are at risk (119). Consequently, a very careful management of maternal HPA is necessary, albeit difficult. Without treatment the beneficial effects of newborn screening for PKU would be lost in one generation, as untreated PKU women would give birth to defective children (120;121). Prevention requires identification and education (with reproductive counseling) of women with HPA in the reproductive age group (112).

The Maternal Phenylketonuria Collaborative Study was established to assess the efficacy of phe-restricted dietary regime and estimate the quality of outcome in reducing morbidity among the offspring of women with PKU (116;118;122). The report states that the offspring derives the most benefit when treatment is instituted before conception or by 8 to 10 weeks' gestation (to levels < 600  $\mu$ M), significantly reducing the chances of teratogenesis. Preliminary data suggests that optimum intellectual status of the offspring follows preconceptional and intrapartum treatment (116).

# **Relevance of Animal Models**

PKU-related pathologies have been very difficult to study and analyze. Some of the reasons for this are the inherent limitations in using human beings in controlled studies, including low participant numbers (due to the rarity of PKU), population heterogeneity with respect to genetic constitution, and participant compliance with the parameters of the experiment (123). To this end, the availability and use of animal models have been invaluable. Surrogate organisms with uniform genetic background allow the accumulation of statistically strong data (as a large sample size is possible), and the manipulation of environmental conditions to evaluate their contribution to the disease (for example, the control of phe intake by animals to reduce variation in blood phe caused by dietary noncompliance) (123).

For many years, hyperphenylalaninemic animal models were created by the use of exogenous phe loads and the introduction of chemical agents such as p-

chlorophenylalanine and  $\alpha$ -methylphenylalanine to block the Pah reaction (it was necessary to inhibit Pah activity to obtain hyperphenylalaninemia without hypertyrosinemia). However, these chemical agents had additional effects, which resulted in secondary consequences (neurochemical, among others) (124). The obvious shortcoming of such methods is that clear conclusions often can not be drawn from studies using chemically induced models.

To eliminate these drawbacks, Dove and his group at the University of Wisconsin set out to create natural mammalian counterparts (orthologues) of human PKU. The mouse was chosen as the most appropriate surrogate organism.

In the past century, the status of the mouse has been elevated from pest to model, and it now serves as one of the best studied 'honorary humans' (125). Mice are 2000-3000 times lighter than humans; they have gestation and generation periods of 3 and 10 weeks; the average litter size is between 5-10 pups; they have a postpartum estrus; they are easy to handle with a robust health status; their pregnancies can be timed by the detection of a vaginal plug after mating; and they are the most cost-efficient mammal to maintain (123;126). Moreover, these animals allow for extensive genetic manipulation and have a high degree of physiological similarity to humans. There is a growing body of evidence detailing the similarity between the mouse and human genomes as well as the phenylalanine hydroxylase gene and protein sequences (123;127;128). There is currently an international effort to define the mouse structural and functional genome and to create a mouse mutant resource with database and bioinformatics facilities (125). The genetic map of the mouse is the most highly characterized mammalian map, rivaled only by the human map (127). In addition, the map of homology segments between mouse and man is the one nearest saturation for any pair of species in the genome initiative (128). In fact, localization of the mouse PAH gene (symbol Pah) was achieved by using the rapidly consolidating map of the human genome to identify a putative syntenic group including Pah, PEPB and IFNG. Since the latter two members of this group had been previously found on

15 -

mouse chromosome 10, the *Pah* gene was easily localized to chromosome 10 C2  $\rightarrow$  D1 (33). In 1988, the mouse *Pah* gene was mapped and the cDNA cloned and sequenced (GenBank X51942) (33;129).

Mouse and human genes have  $\sim 87\%$  conservation of sequence, with  $\sim$  10% of the nucleotide changes silent. No similarities are observed in the untranslated regions (129). The mouse Pah enzyme has 453 residues (molecular weight, 51,786 Da). Some divergence ( $\sim 8\%$ ) exists between human and mouse amino acid sequences with the majority of differences in the N-terminal region; there is a 96% similarity at the C-terminal. (12;129).

To create animal models of a particular disease, two different approaches can be taken: (*i*) The genotype-driven approach is labor-intensive and generally entails large-scale genome-wide mutagenesis through gene trapping in embryonic stem cells. Here, identification of the mutated gene is relatively trivial; the focus is on characterization of genome mutational change. The very obvious drawback to this system is that the genotype-driven route gives no indication of the likely phenotypic outcome. Quite often the model does not closely resemble the corresponding human condition, compounded by the fact that homozygous animals carrying a null allele could die prior to any comprehensible analyses. (ii) Phenotype-driven approaches use mutagenic procedures that focus on the recovery of novel or sought-after phenotypes, without focusing on the underlying gene or pathway that has been disrupted. Here, the problem lies with the identification of the underlying gene (130-132).

One phenotype-driven approach is by chemical mutagenesis using N-ethyl-N-nitrosourea (ENU,  $C_2H_5N(NO)CONH_2$ ). ENU is a DNA-alkylating agent, which is currently the most powerful mutagen known for mouse germline (131-133). It is a potent mouse spermatogonial stem cell mutagen (134) mainly creating point mutations (i.e. A-T base pair substitutions as well as small intragenic lesions rather than large deletions). ENU injected into male mice mutagenizes premeiotic spermatogonial stem cells. Therefore, one treated male can produce a

large number of F1 animals carrying different mutations (126;135). ENU induces mutations at a frequency of ~  $10^{-3}$  per locus. Therefore ~ 1000 gametes need to be examined from an ENU-treated male mouse for any specific mutant locus recovery (135;136).

Identification of new recessive mutations requires mating of the ENUtreated males to wild-type females. The F1 progeny (G1) are bred to wild-type mice, establishing families of siblings (G2) sharing common mutations. G2 progeny can be back crossed to G1, producing G3 progeny that can be assessed for recessive mutant phenotypes. The initial strains of hyperphenylalaninemic mice were selected using this breeding strategy, including mutations in the gene for *Pah* (135;137).

To produce these mouse orthologues, inbred ENU-treated BTBR/Pas (genetic background) males were mated to normal BTBR/Pas females. The BTBR/Pas strain was chosen because of its excellent breeding ability and because it was inbred for many generations (carrying a uniform genetic background) (138). Selection required the three generation breeding scheme described above followed by the phenotype test (retarded ability of the animals to clear a phe load). Four different mutant autosomal recessive lines were initially selected using this strategy. In the first one (hph-1), HPA was mutated at the guanosine triphosphate cyclohydrolase locus (GTP-CH catalyzes the first step in biosynthesis The Pahhphs of BH<sub>4</sub> - the essential cofactor for hydroxylase activity) (137). mutant (now renamed Pah<sup>enul/1</sup>, ENU1) was identified next. This model is mutated at the Pah locus (139). Once one Pah mutant strain was established (ENU1), further allelic variants were selected by mating the newly selected F1 animals to the homozygous established mutant; extended HPA following a phe challenge was again the selection criteria (127;136;139-141). ENU allowed the generation of multiple alleles increasing the depth of the mouse mutant resource at this locus (135).

To date, three mutant Pah enzyme-deficient homoallelic and one heteroallelic mouse orthologues of human PKU and non-PKU HPA have been described: ENU1, Pahenu2/2 (ENU2), Pahenu3/3 (ENU3) and Pahenu1/2 (ENU1/2). The homozygous ENU1 mouse was reported in 1990 (139). ENU1 mice have a c.364 T  $\rightarrow$  C transition (V106A) in exon 3. Val 106 is conserved among the mammalian species but is divergent in the others (142). This mutation falls in the N-terminal regulatory domain of the protein, distant from the catalytic residues of PAH/Pah, as evidenced by crystallographic analysis of the human enzyme (38:40). This factor, in conjunction with the conservative nature of the predicted Val to Ala substitution, may explain the mild phenotype of the ENU1 animals (142). On regular diet (Teklad, #8626), these animals display normal plasma phe levels and normal coloration with no abnormal behavior. No apparent effect of maternal phenotype on the fetus is observed; progeny shows normal growth and survival of progeny rates. Under conditions of elevated phe in diet, reduced growth is observed (139;141).

ENU2 and ENU3 strains were reported in 1993 (141). Both strains are classified as PKU counterparts. The ENU2 mutation is a c.835 T  $\rightarrow$  C transition (F263S) in exon 7 (142). Phenylalanine 263 is in a highly conserved catalytic domain of the protein. Also present in the active site, which is proposed to be important for pterin binding (35;43). The presence of mutation in this critical region in conjunction with the radical phe to serine substitution may explain the severe phenotype observed in ENU2 animals.

The ENU3 mouse mutation is still not reported; however, it has been localized to a 301 bp portion of the coding sequence, spanning part of exon 11 and all of exons 12 and 13 (142). Neither ENU2 or ENU3 have measurable hepatic enzyme activity; on normal diets, they both have 10-20 fold elevated serum phe levels and elevated phenylketones in urine. These animals display retarded pre- and postnatal growth, microcephaly, pronounced hypopigmentation and behavioral abnormalities which start 2 weeks into adulthood. These include

toppling while grooming, lack of alertness, too uncoordinated to swim and impaired discrimination, reversal and latent learning (141;143). In addition, ENU2 mouse brain analyses have shown reduced amine contents, metabolism and release (144). Both strains display severe maternal effect on the fetus with complete loss of litters within several hours of birth (141). These reproductive problems solely depend on the maternal genotype and dietary phe intake; paternal or fetal genotype have no effect (123). Such pregnancies have also been terminated pre-term to analyze the heart tissue; a variety of cardiovascular defects beginning at 75% through gestation was observed. The defects ranged from mild to serious and were mainly vascular in the mouse (145).

A hybrid ENU1/2 mouse orthologue for a non-PKU HPA phenotype has been developed. It is the topic of Chapter 2 in this thesis and the corresponding publication in Appendix A.

These orthologous animal models have provided a surrogate organism for the study of potential therapies and made possible the study of mechanisms underlying the pathophysiology in PKU and related non-PKU HPA phenotypes.

#### Phenylalanine Transamination Metabolites

Treated PKU patients whose blood phe levels range between 300-600  $\mu$ M excrete 6-16 times the normal amount of the phe transamination metabolites (60). In an *in vivo* study with stable isotopes measuring the disposal of phe in PKU, Treacy *et al.* proposed that the variation in formation of phe transamination metabolites, and differences in renal clearance of these metabolites, play a role in dietary phe tolerance in PKU (146). However, generally these pathways do not significantly reduce the excess phe in the system and therefore do not nullify its possible toxic effect. It is also extremely unlikely that pronounced HPA can be caused by a lack of transaminase (55). Therefore, the question remains whether phe itself or one of its metabolites is the cause of the neurotoxicity in HPA.

Urine, plasma and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) sampling and analysis by various methods have shed some light on this issue. Elevated urinary levels of PEA do not result in clinical deterioration providing no support for the idea that elevations in peripheral levels of PEA will interfere with normal brain function (147). Loo et al. showed that elevated organic acid derivatives of phe cause microcephaly and myelin defects in PKU rat models exposed to phe and parachlorophenylalanine (148). However, the actual metabolite concentrations required to bring about this effect were approximately of two orders of magnitude higher than the levels reached in HPA/PKU (147). In addition, Perry et al. who compared various biochemical characteristics in two adult brothers with untreated PKU (one with a severe mental defect and the other with superior intelligence), found no difference in urinary phe metabolite levels or in their degree of HPA (149), suggesting that toxicity was not caused by any one of the acid metabolites at the concentrations presented in HPA/PKU. Wadman later reported on two sisters with normal mental development that had permanently increased amounts of phe transamination products measured in their urine, while their levels of phe were normal (150). These findings provided more support for the non-toxic status of phe metabolites and further implicated phe as the chief villain associated with HPA pathology. No further substantial proof of neurotoxicity was gathered since these earlier studies (147) and the data highly suggest that "there are no abnormal metabolites in PKU, only normal metabolites in abnormal amount"(151). However an effect of phe metabolites in the brain could not be fully ruled out as method directly measuring brain metabolites was available no (55;84;147;151;152). Therefore, such a technique and a good comparable natural model (human surrogate) for brain sampling were two very useful resources to elucidate this issue. This is the focus of Chapter 3 in this thesis and the corresponding publication in Appendix B.

# Treatment

Phenylalanine is an essential nutrient and in addition to its requirement for protein synthesis, it serves as a precursor for tyr and tyr derivatives. In its absence, tyr becomes an essential amino acid. Therefore, the treatment of HPA requires the balanced reduction of systemic phe concentration without excessive depletion plus the provision of satisfactory amounts of tyr, a by-product of phe hydroxylation (1).

Hyperphenylalaninemias are multifactorial disorders, as the dietary experience and mutant genotype are both necessary components of the cause. Accordingly, the metabolic phenotype is also multifactorial, providing the opportunity for dietary treatment (1). PKU treatment is a classic example of euphenic therapy (Lederberg's term) where the aim is to restore the normal phenotype without genetic modification. It is necessary to manipulate the experience to maintain health (1;153).

The experience here is control of dietary phe. An artificial diet to reduce phe intake became available in the mid-1950's (154-156). The story began when Louis Woolf, a biochemist at the Hospital for Sick Children, London, convinced his colleagues to put a PKU patient on a diet low in phenylalanine. Sheila Jones, 17 months of age at the time, was the child chosen for this project. Woolf prepared a diet low in phe, by passing a protein hydrolysate through active charcoal (157) and with the help of John Gerrard, Evelyne Hickmans and Horst Bickel, administered it to Sheila (154;155;158). In a short time, Sheila's systemic phenylalanine levels were reduced and although her mental status did not change appreciably, it was evident to the research team and her mother that she was benefiting from the treatment. She was able to make eye contact for the first time and smile; she had stopped drooling and was starting to walk. Because of the skepticism among their colleagues, Bickel and his team decided to add phe back into the diet without telling Sheila's mother. One week later, Sheila was no longer making eye contact or smiling, was again drooling and had stopped

walking (158;159). It was a long road from these initial experiments to the institution of dietary therapy, but the proof of principle was there. Efficacy of dietary treatment in the prevention of severe IQ loss, became uniformly accepted by the late 1960's (1), and a population screening test was soon developed (160) to identify new-born patients early and to initiate therapy to prevent postnatal cognitive impairment.

The current treatment regimen involves the careful regulation of dietary Lphenylalanine to < 500 mg/day, sufficient to support protein synthesis while preventing excess accumulation of phe in the free pool. The exact tolerance for phe (200-500 mg/day) varies between patients even when the same mutant *PAH* genotype is present (1). A semi-synthetic diet, low in phe, presumed to be adequate in other nutrients, is used to treat PKU and non-PKU HPA. Better plasma phe homeostasis is observed if the amino acid intake is distributed throughout the day (161;162).

Up to the early 1970's, it was suggested that diet, stopped completely at the age of 6-9, would result in normal intellectual performance and behavior. At that time, the main concern was reintroduction of diet during the reproductive years of the affected female population, as a possible teratogenic role of PKU on the unborn child was suspected (163). However, by the 1980's, reports on problems such as learning disabilities among patients with early treatment termination, urged reconsideration. It was at this time that recommendations for 'diet-for-life' treatment was introduced (163). In the 1990's, clinicians realized the difficulties inherent in lifetime dietary treatment. The need to consider the quality of life for adolescents and adult PKU patients played a major role in this debate (163), since adults with PKU can tolerate a much higher level of phe than children, without the same devastating outcome. Today, quality of life, dietary cost, and varying genetic and socioeconomic backgrounds have all become major components in dietary recommendations for adults (97). Treatment is currently recommended until at least the ages of 10-12 when the brain is suspected to be

fully developed (8;164;165); however, life-long compliance is advised (166;167). In addition, reintroduction of diet can be used as a definite option when a patient who has abandoned the diet develops associated shortcomings. A significant improvement in attentiveness, a reduction in hyperreflexia and shortening of the latencies of the evoked potentials has been observed, even if the patient has been treatment-free for a number of years (168). The optimal treatment recommendations today generally entail early onset (within one month of birth) continuous treatment throughout childhood, adolescence, conception and pregnancy, with more and more evidence for benefits with lifetime control (169). If controlled levels are kept below  $\sim 360 \ \mu M$  in early childhood, a positive outcome is expected. The individual should be able to attain normal executive function (defined as higher goal-directed mental activity, organizing function and dependent on good control of attention) (170). Delayed treatment generally results in an IQ deficit of  $\sim 4$  points for each month's delay until treatment onset, for each 300  $\mu$ M rise in average blood phe levels and for each 5 month period during infancy when blood phe concentration stays below  $120\mu M$  (171). However, late diagnosis  $(\sim 3 \text{ months of age})$  and treatment still results in significant intellectual improvement. Therefore it is suspected that society could benefit substantially by providing a phe-restricted diet for late-diagnosed mentally retarded persons with PKU (172).

### Treatment Difficulties and Other Associated Drawbacks

Although dietary treatment is simple in theory, it is demanding for the patient and the caregiver in practice. In fact, controlled phe intake, while meeting the nutritional needs of the patient at various growth periods, is a science by itself. It involves disruption of culture (food), lifestyle (dietary choice), family behaviour (divided culinary activities) and so on. As the patients gets older, his/ her energy and protein requirements decline, the dietary needs evolve and must be adjusted accordingly (173). The importance of complete or almost complete intake of the

recommended amount of phe-free amino acid mixture cannot be overstated, as it plays a major role in the control of blood phe level of patients (174).

Maternal PKU also requires treatment and is now recommended when maternal phe levels exceed 400  $\mu$ M (169). Nutrition takes top priority in any pregnancy, but in women with PKU, the goal is 2-fold: (*i*) providing adequate nutrients for fetal growth and (*ii*) controlling phe levels to protect the fetus. The women must consume the low-phe diet that includes multivitamins, vitamin B12, and folic acid before and during pregnancy. Furthermore, the gestational age at which the mother attains metabolic control is an important factor associated with outcome (118). The blood phe levels must be adjusted between 120 to 360  $\mu$ M prior to conception and throughout the pregnancy (113). Duration of treatment prior to conception should take into consideration the fact that severe or moderate PKU patients, who are planning a pregnancy, may have more difficulty in getting their blood phe levels within the recommended range (117).

The principles of treatment for PKU, non-PKU HPA may be clear enough; however in practice, restoring normal homeostasis in tolerable fashion, is often something else (153). Although there are general guidelines for treatment of patients at specific developmental periods in life, other considerations also come in to play, not least of which is the genetic background of the patients. Each patient has his or her own form of HPA; accordingly, he/she requires his or her own stringency of therapy (153), further complicating the treatment process. The first consideration is the individuality of the HPA state. Diagnosis that characterizes severity of the disease provides objective and effective criteria for therapy of each particular case (175). Steady-state concentration of blood phe, blood phe clearance rate following an oral phe challenge, and dietary phe tolerance are all values that help in the decision about the degree of phenylalanine intake restriction necessary to achieve a satisfactory clinical outcome (55). The recent findings on brain phe concentration may also have a role in determining dietary stringency and adult need for life-long control, raising the fundamental

question of whether treatment should be based on the concentration of phe in the brain or levels in the blood, or both. It may mean that patients with high transport levels would require more stringent dietary restriction than recommended by the general guidelines; the reverse being true for those with low transport levels (97).

The overall advantages of dietary HPA treatment are obvious. Biochemical abnormalities are reversed, preventing neurological deterioration, which in turn improve neuropsychological performance and prevention of teratogenesis in maternal HPA. However, the diet is difficult to enjoy (poor in organoleptic qualities and boring in composition), and not perfect as full compliance is very difficult and requires a great deal of social support. There is also a continual worry about nutrient imbalance and deficiency (176-178). Cause for concern are imperfections in the composition of low phe diets, detected deficiencies in trace minerals: selenium, iron, copper and chromium; reduced levels of Vitamin D, cholesterol, carnitine, lack of the essential nutrient, the fatty acid decosahexanoic acid, and other nutrients which are necessary for normal development (152;153;179-181). In addition, protein catabolism occurs when nutrition is not adequate, releasing phe and increasing the free pool (1). Fever and infection can further complicate the problem as elevated blood phe is observed during such episodes (182). Finally, phe controlled diet initiated prior to conception, or early in the first trimester, may still result in abnormalities (183).

Compliance with dietary therapy remains a major challenge. Teaching and support of an experienced healthcare team of physicians, nutritionists, genetic counselors, social workers, nurses, and psychologists are very necessary components in improving the chances of successful treatment (8). Efforts to improve the organoleptic properties of the diet continue. Some of the simplest solutions have been the production of less offensive amino acid mixtures by varying the formulation (184), or by masking them through the use of gelatine encapsulation (initially introduced to accommodate the delicate tolerance of pregnant PKU

females) (185). Other research, focusing on expression of genes that translate into modified phe-free protein products in corn are in progress (186) and transgenic cow production of modified human protein (alpha-lactalbumin) lacking phe, are also currently in progress (187).

### **Non-Diet Treatment Options**

Alternative forms of therapy deserve consideration.

### Treatment by Liver Transplants

An orthotopic liver transplantation was conducted on a 10-year-old PKU patient from Italy who also had concomitant, unrelated end-stage chronic liver disease. The transplantation was successful and a complete correction of the metabolic abnormalities was observed. Liver function was promptly restored with normal phe tolerance; blood [phe] fell from 9.5 mg/dl (pre-transplant with phe restricted diet) to 1.0 to 1.2 mg/dl (post transplant on normal diet or with oral protein load). The success of liver transplantation observed confirmed that the liver is the chief site of the enzymatic defect in classic PKU (188). Although this method was effective in correcting HPA in the single patient, because of the shortage of donated organs, complications with anti-rejection therapies and the good results achieved with early dietary restriction, it is not an appropriate option for otherwise uncomplicated PKU in the population of patients (188).

#### Gene Therapy

Germline gene therapy could result in a potential 'cure' for the successive generations of PKU individuals, but is the least likely option because of technical and ethical reasons. On the other hand, research into somatic gene therapy has shown great potential. Human *PAH* cDNA was expressed in a series of cultured mammalian cells. Transient expression was observed here, as integration of the cDNA was not stable. This problem was overcome by the use of recombinant

retroviruses where the gene was transmitted to subsequent generations (1). Primary hepatocyte cultures from the Pah-deficient mouse have been transfected with wildtype mouse Pah cDNA. Transduced cells have shown high expression levels of mouse Pah-specific mRNA enzyme activity, and immunoreactive protein (189;190). ENU2 mice, treated with a recombinant adenoviral vector containing a human PAH cDNA, showed normal plasma phe levels for one week; however the effect did not persist (191). This method involves further complications such as surgical procedure (portal vein infusion) and the use of adenoviral vectors (reported to be cytopathic to host cells) (192). Other attempts at gene therapy with the ENU2 mouse have introduced the gene construct with a mouse muscle creatine kinase promoter element. Here they observed Pah expression in cardiac and skeletal muscle but not in liver and kidney. This experiment also required the repeated dosing of the cofactor BH4; however it successfully demonstrated the locus-specific PAH enzyme activity (it expressed in heterologous tissue). Euphenylalaninemia was restored when the animals were supplied with abundant cofactor (193). Finally, one other group reported the possibility of gene therapy using T cells from PKU patients. These cells have a small amount of biopterin, but significant dihydropteridine reductase (DHPR) activity. Intracellular biopterin content could again be increased by exogenous BH4 supplementation. The cells were able to uptake the retrovirus containing the human PAH cDNA. The T lymphocytes were able to express all that is required for phenylalanine hydroxylation reaction. T lymphocyte-directed gene therapy is currently the safest established means of gene therapy (192). The above methods are at the experimental stage and will only be used in the absence or failure of all other forms of treatment.

#### Tetrahydrobiopterin-Responsive HPA Therapy

A subgroup of HPA patients is BH<sub>4</sub> responsive (194). Efficacy in these particular persons is attributed to a residual PAH activity stabilized when saturated

with BH<sub>4</sub> cofactor (so called BH<sub>4</sub>-dependent or BH<sub>4</sub>-responsive HPA). The particular combination of the mutant PAH subunits is likely to be important for BH<sub>4</sub> responsiveness.

#### Enzyme Therapy

Enzyme therapy could be done either by replacement of PAH (via transplantation) or by PAH enzyme substitution, with another protein involved in phe degradation.

PAH Enzyme Replacement: This is an unlikely option, as a series of problems exist associated with its large-scale isolation and purification of the protein. In addition, the enzyme requires the (very costly) cofactor to function. Replacement therapy with PAH will require the intact multi-enzyme complex for catalytic hydroxylating activity (1).

Enzyme Substitution Therapy with Phenylalanine Ammonia Lyase (PAL) (EC 4.3.1.5): This is a potential alternative, probably best seen as an adjunct to modest dietary control. PAL is a robust autocatalytic protein without need for a cofactor (195), an enzyme that stoichiometrically converts L-phenylalanine to *trans*-cinnamic acid and ammonia by nonoxidative deamination (196-198). PAL carries all the information required for catalytic activity (199). Some species that have PAL activity are capable of utilizing phe as a sole source of carbon and nitrogen (200). In fungal cells, this enzyme has a strictly catabolic role (201). In plants, PAL is a key biosynthetic enzyme catalyzing the first specialized reaction in the synthesis of a variety of polyphenyl compounds (i.e. flavonoids, phenylpropanoids and lignin in plants). Induced activity is observed in response to various stimuli, such as injury, light and hormones (202-204). Approximately 30 - 40% of plant organic matter is derived from L-phe through the cinnamate pathway (205).

The complete *PAL* sequence for *Rhodosporidium toruloides* yeast has been reported (GenBank X51513) (201); it contains a 2148-bp open reading frame (206). The genomic sequence contains six introns; relatively small in comparison with those found in higher eukaryotes, with sizes ranging from 50-88bp (201;202;207). It has three transcription initiation sites with non-translated leaders of 24-35 nucleotides (206). The 25 bases upstream of the start codon are A/C rich (76%) as observed in several other lower eukaryotic genes and the 45 bases preceding the transcription initiation sites are pyrimidine-rich (90%), a feature of genes from filamentous fungi and particularly striking in genes lacking the TATA box and in highly expressed genes (206). The size of *PAL* mRNA was shown to be  $\sim 2.5$ kb with at least 50 of these bases consisting of the 3' polyadenylated tail. The mRNA is monocistronic (one gene copy) (207).

The *PAL* sequence translates into a 716 amino acid polypeptide monomer with a molecular weight of ~77 kDa (206). The enzyme is tetrameric, consisting of four identical monomers, pairs of which form a single active site (199;208;209). The molecular weight of the tetramer is estimated to be from 275 to 300 kDa (197).

Little is known about functional groups of PAL; however, there is good evidence that a dehydroalanine is an essential part of the active site. Site-directed mutagenesis of conserved serine residue 143 in the sister enzyme histidine ammonia-lyase (HAL, EC 4.3.1.3) from *Pseudomonas putida*, resulted in complete loss of activity. HAL deaminates L-histidine to *trans*-urocanic acid (210). HAL and PAL are very similar enzymes with high sequence homology; they catalyze the same reaction type and possess the same prosthetic group (211). Serine 212 is the equivalent residue in *R. toruloides* PAL (210;212). Serine is the precursor of the active-site dehydroalanine; the conversion is autocatalytic (195;199). Dehydroalanine is made post-translationally by forming a prosthetic group covalently attached to the enzyme (199). This modification is suspected to be the rate-limiting step in the conversion of the PAL to a catalytically competent

form (212). PAL is also a sulfhydryl enzyme (200). The optimum pH range for PAL activity is 8.0 to 10.5 and the enzyme remains stable up to 50°C, but is destroyed above 60°C (200).

The product, *trans*-cinnamic acid, is a harmless metabolite. It is present in all vegetable matter, is used as a food additive and as a constituent of some cosmetics (196;213) and has no embryotoxic effects in laboratory animals (214). The liver metabolizes it to benzoic acid and it is then excreted principally as hippurate via urine (215). A small amount of cinnamate, unchanged, can also appear in the urine, together with some benzoic acid (196). The  $\sim$  3g of cinnamic acid that would be generated daily with complete dietary phe conversion by PAL is predicted to be harmless to both PKU and normal individuals. The ammonia formed would be metabolically insignificant (196;213).

# **Route of PAL Administration**

The proposed route of (protected) PAL administration is oral and it capitalizes on three prior observations: (*i*) amino acids are in equilibrium between the various compartments of body fluids and ultimately in equilibrium with the intestinal lumen, therefore this mode of treatment affects all body pools (53;85;216); (*ii*) it will modify phe content of body fluids in the whole organism (217;218); (*iii*) the proposed theory of extensive enterorecirculation of amino acids states that the most likely major source of intestinal amino acids is probably from gastric, pancreatic, intestinal and other intestinal secretions. Tryptic digestion converts the secreted proteins, enzymes, polypeptides and peptides into amino acids, which are then reabsorbed back into the body as they pass down the intestine. This forms the large enterorecirculation of amino acids between the body and intestine (219). Oral PAL therapy will deplete the phe pool in the intestine whether the phe source is dietary or from the endogenous run out of free phe from bound pools (219).

Oral administration of PAL avoids any possible immunological problems that may occur with injected enzymes. Such immunological reactions have been reported when animals have been injected with PAL (213;220).

Oral delivery of a protein 'drug', though a worthy objective, can be extremely difficult (221). PAL may have no toxic properties, however the unprotected enzyme, exposed to the gastro-intestinal (GI) environment, would not survive to complete the job; the strong acidic condition of the stomach and the abundance of proteases and peptidases in the GI tract are the reasons (221). Duodenal juices rapidly inactivate PAL, with chymotrypsin working approximately 30 times faster than trypsin, suggesting the presence of a hydrophobic region on the surface of the enzyme (209). PAL activity is stable in duodenal juice with inactivated chymotrypsin and trypsin.

In light of the problems associated with oral therapy, it is necessary to create a protective yet porous barrier that will surround the PAL enzyme before administration. The barrier must provide the following: first, it must prevent the relatively large molecular weight digestive proteases from gaining access to the enzyme; and second, it must provide full phe access to the PAL enzyme for conversion (see Fig. 2). The problem with the low gastric pH is overcome by enteric coating of the free or formulated enzyme. Enteric coating works with neutralization of the expelled stomach contents in the duodenum followed by dissolution of the capsules and intimate mixing of enzyme and duodenal contents. Preliminary studies in human PKU patients showed attenuated HPA following the administration of PAL in enteric coated gelatin capsules (213).

A number of different formulations and mechanisms have been tested to prevent protease inactivation. Artificial cells (semipermeable microcapsules) of cellular dimension with an ultrathin (200Å) membrane have been used to immobilize PAL (222). Administration to chemically induced HPA rats (223) as well as in naturally-occurring HPA in a mouse model has shown significant plasma phe reduction (218). Here, encapsulated PAL acts by the diffusion of phe

into the artificial cells where it is converted into *trans*-cinnamic acid. *Trans*cinnamic acid is then released from the artificial cell. Entrapment of enzyme in silk fibroin was another proposed method of PAL protection. The investigators here showed effective activity and protection of PAL following direct injection into rat duodenum. Efficacy was measured by the appearance of *trans*-cinnamate (224). Recently, adenocarcinoma cell line Caco-2 (225) as a package delivery system with a protective cell wall has been successfully attempted. Finally, one other route, using a non-oral-extracorporeal multitubular enzyme reactor, with immobilized PAL, was developed to deplete circulating phe. Here a shunt was introduced and the phe-rich blood was pumped through the reactor, the phedepleted blood pumped back into the system. This was successfully tried on a patient with PKU as the plasma phe levels dropped significantly without the enzyme entering the circulation (226). These studies were not continued because PAL was not available in sufficient amounts at reasonable cost.

Economical production of PAL is now possible, thanks to cloning technology. Protected free PAL 'enclosed' within the *E. coli* cells and studies with the protease inhibitor aprotinin (in the mouse model), provide positive proof of principle that PAL will reduce systemic phe levels in the PKU and HPA mouse models. Thus there is the potential for oral enzyme substitution therapy as adjunct alternative therapy for PKU independent of artificial diets. This project is the focus of Chapter 4 and the corresponding publication in Appendix C.

# Proposal

As described above, the focus of a number of projects in the past two decades has been to improve the treatment of PKU. Yet not one of these attempts was effective enough to take the place of dietary therapy. However, with current advancements in animal modelling and related biotechnologies, such as cloning, some of the former difficulties associated with new drug development and measurement of efficacy have been overcome. This thesis focuses on one of these technologies, after an overview of other options. I approached my project on three levels:

#### I. An Animal Model:

PKU and HPA animal models serve as living systems to measure orthologous human phenotypic outcomes. Their use eliminates problems in population genetic heterogeneity, in standardizing experimental parameters, and with measurements that would otherwise be unacceptable in human subjects. The first objective of this project was to develop a compound heteroallelic ENU1/2 mouse model and to describe and compare their organismal phenotypes with those of the control (BTBR/Pas), mutant strains (ENU1 and ENU2) and their carrier counterparts. To achieve this, the corresponding metabolic parameters, quantitation of Pah protein levels, hepatic Pah enzyme activity, blood and brain phe levels, behavioral parameters and maternal HPA effect on the fetus were all measured.

#### II. A New Analytic Approach:

A method was devised for specific measurement of phe metabolites in the brain to further describe these animal models and to answer the question of whether phe itself, or one of its metabolites, is the cause of neurotoxicity in PKU. Such measurements must be sensitive enough to analyse samples of trivial volume. Hence the second objective of this project was to develop a very sensitive detection

method that incorporated negative ion chemical ionization gas chromatography/mass spectrometry (NICI-GC/MS) to measure these metabolites.

# III. An Alternative to Diet Therapy for PKU

Improvement in the treatment of PKU was my ultimate goal. I used enzyme substitution therapy [with PAL] to replace the current dietary treatment. The relevance of this treatment mode was demonstrated by: (*i*) developing an economical industrial supply of PAL at IBEX; (*ii*) protecting the enzyme sufficiently to allow short-term passage through the GI tract; and (*iii*) providing proofs of pharmacological and physiological efficacy in the Pah-deficient genetic mouse models.



FIG. 1. Major inputs  $(\Rightarrow)$  and runouts  $(\rightarrow)$  of free L-phenylalanine in human metabolism. Inputs of this essential amino acid to the pool of freely diffusible solute are from dietary protein [hence the minimal dietary requirement] and turnover of endogenous (bound, polypeptide) pools. Runout is by (1) hydroxylation to tyrosine (reaction 1 catalyzed by phenylalanine hydroxylase, followed by oxidation); (2) incorporation into bound (polypeptide) pools (reaction 2); and (3) by transamination (A) and decarboxylation (B). The approximate proportional importance of the three runouts is 3:1:trace at normal steady state.

This figure is a reproduction of Fig 77-2 from HYPERPHENYLALANINEMIA: Phenylalanine Hydroxylase Deficiency in <u>The Metabolic and Molecular Bases of</u> <u>Inherited Disease</u>, 8 Edition (2001), Authors: Scriver C.R. and Kaufman S. Reproduced with permission of the publisher, The McGraw-Hill Companies. (Copyright © 2001 by The McGraw-Hill Companies).



digestive proteases

FIG. 2. Schematic representation of PAL enzyme protected from degradation for passage through the GI tract: A protective yet porous barrier (e.g. by encapsulation or cross-linked enzyme crystals) can shield PAL within a microenvironment, free of digestive proteases that are unable to cross the boundary. Free phenylalanine can be transported through the slightly porous barrier and be converted by PAL to *trans*-cinnamic acid.

# REFERENCES

- Scriver, C.R. and Kaufman, S. 2001. Hyperphenylalaninemia: Phenylalanine Hydroxylase Deficiency. In *The Metabolic and Molecular Bases of Inherited Disease*. (8 ed.) Scriver, C.R., Beaudet, A.L., Sly, W.S., Valle, D., Assoc.eds. Childs, B., Kinzler, K., and Vogelstein, B., editors. McGraw Hill., New York.
- Folling, A. 1934. Uber Ausscheidung von Phenylbrenztraubensaure in den Harn als Stoffwechselanomalie in Verbindung mit Imbezillitat. Hoppe-Seylers Z. Physiol. Chem. 277:169-176.
- 3. Folling, A., Mohr, O.L., and Ruud, L. 1945. Oligophrenia phenylpyrouvica. A recessive syndrome in man. Skrifter Det Norske Vitenskapsakademi i Oslo. I. Mat Naturv Klasse. 1-48.
- 4. The Discovery of PKU. National PKU News Spring/Summer (4(1)), 74. 1992.
- 5. Penrose, L.S. and Quastel, J.H. 1937. Metabolic studies in phenylketonuria. J Biochem 31:266-269.
- 6. Penrose, L.S. 1935. Inheritance of phenylpyruvic amentia (Phenylketonuria). Lancet 2:192-194.
- Scriver, C.R. 1995. American Pediatric Society Presidential Address 1995: Disease, war, and biology: Languages for medicine - and pediatrics. *Pediatr Res* 38:819-829.

- Ryan, S. R. and Scriver, C. R. Phenylalanine Hydroxylase Deficiency. GeneClinics Nov. 24. 1999. NIH. (http://www/geneclinics.org/profiles/pku/details.html)
  - 9. Penrose, L.S. 1946. Phenylketonuria: A problem in eugenics. Lancet June 29:949-953.
- Lidsky, A.S., Law, M.L., Morse, H.G., Kao, F.T., and Woo, S.L.C. 1985. Regional mapping of the phenylalanine hydroxylase gene and the phenylketonuria locus in the human genome. *Proc Natl Acad Sci (USA)* 82:6221-6225.
- Konecki, D.S., Wang, Y., Trefz, F.K., Lichter-Konecki, U., and Woo, S.L.C.
  1992. Structural characterization of the 5' region of the human phenylalanine hydroxylase gene. *Biochemistry* 31:8363-8368.
- Kwok,S.C.M., Ledley,F.D., DiLella,A.G., Robson,K.J.H., and Woo,S.L.C. 1985. Nucleotide sequence of a full-length complementary DNA clone and amino acid sequence of human phenylalanine hydroxylase. *Biochemistry* 24:556-561.
- Ledley, F.D., DiLella, A.G., Kwok, S.C.M., and Woo, S.L.C. 1985. Homology between phenylalanine hydroxylase and tyrosine hydroxylase reveals common structural and functional determinants. *Biochemistry* 24:3389-3394.
- Woolf,L.I., Goodwin,L., Cranston,W.I., Wade,D.N., Woolf,F., Hudson,F.P., and McBean,M.S. 1968. A third allele at the phenylalarinehydroxylase locus in mild phenylketonuria (hyperphenylalaninemia). *The Lancet* Jan. 20:114-117.

- 15. Tourian, A. 1971. Activation of phenylalanine hydroxylase by phenylalanine. Biochim Biophys Acta 242:345-354.
- Scriver, C.R., Waters, P.J., Sarkissian, C., Ryan, S., Prevost, L., Cote, D., Novak, J., Teebi, S., and Nowacki, P.M. 2000. PAHdb: A locus-specific knowledgebase. Hum Mutat 15:99-194.
- Kayaalp, E., Treacy, E., Waters, P.J., Byck, S., Nowacki, P., and Scriver, C.R. 1997. Human Phenylalanine Hydroxylase Mutations and Hyperphenylalaninemia Phenotypes: A Metanalysis of Genotype-Phenotype Correlations. Am J Hum Genet 61:1309-1317.
- Guldberg, P., Rey, F., Zschocke, J., Romano, C., Francois, B., Michiels, L., Ullrich, K., Hoffman, G.F., Burgard, P., Schmidt, H. et al. 1998. A European multicenter study of phenylalanine hydroxylase deficiency: classification of 105 mutations and a general system for genotype-based prediction of metabolic phenotype. Am J Hum Genet 63:71-79.
- Mutation List. 2000. (http://data.mcgill.ca/cgi-bin/pahdb\_new/list\_mut.pre).
- 20. The Cardiff Human Gene Mutation Database (HGMD). 2000. (http://www.uwcm.ac.uk/uwcm/mg/hgmd0.html).
- Eisensmith, R.C. and Woo, S.L.C. 1995. Molecular Genetics of Phenylketonuria: From Molecular Anthropology to Gene Therapy. In Advances in Genetics. J.C.Hall and Dunlap, J.C., editors. 199-271.
- Tyfield, L. A., Stephenson, A., Cockburn, F., Harvie, A., Bidwell, J. L., Wood, N. A. P., Pilz, D. T., Harper, P., and Smith, I. Sequence variation at the phenylalanine hydroxylase gene in the British Isles. *Am J Hum Genet* 60, 388-396. 1997.

- 23. Wang, Y., DeMayo, J.L., Hahn, T.M., Finegold, M.J., Konecki, D.S., Lichter-Konecki, U., and Woo, S.L.C. 1992. Tissue- and developmentalspecific expression of the human phenylalanine hydroxylase/Chloramphenicol acetyltransferase fusion gene in transgenic mice. J Biol Chem 267:15105-15110.
- Wang, V., Hahn, T.M., Tsai, S.Y., and Woo, S.L.C. 1994. Functional characterization of a unique liver gene promoter. J Biol Chem 269:9137-9146.
- 25. Chen, D. and Frey, P.A. 1998. Phenylalanine hydroxylase from Chromobacterium violaceum. J Biol Chem 273:25594-25601.
- 26. Hufton, S.E., Jennings, I.G., and Cotton, G.H. 1995. Structure and function of the aromatic amino acid hydroxylases. *Biochem J* 311:353-366.
- Lichter-Konecki, U., Hipke, C.M., and Konecki, D.S. 1998. PAH expression in human kidney. Am J Hum Genet 63:A269 (Abstr.)
- Moller, N., Meek, S., Bigelow, M., Andrews, J., and Nair, K.S. 2000. The kidney is an important site for *in vivo* phenylalanine-to-tyrosine conversion in adult humans: A metabolic role of the kidney. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 97:1242-1246.
- Lichter-Konecki, U., Hipke, C.M., and Konecki, D.S. 1999. Human phenylalanine hydroxylase gene expression in kidney and other nonhepatic tissues. *Molec Genet Metab* 67:308-316.
- Tessari, P., Deferrari, G., Robaudo, C., Vettore, M., Pastorino, N., De Baisi, L., and Garibotto, G. 1999. Phenylalanine hydroxylation across the kidney in humans rapid communication. *Kidney Int* 56:2168-2172.

- Ellingsen, S., Knappskog, P.M., Apold, J., and Eiken, H.G. 1999. Diverse PAH transcripts in lymphocytes of PKU patients with putative nonsense (G272X, Y356X) and missense (P281L, R408Q) mutations. FEBS Letters 457:505-508.
- 32. Tourian, A., Goddard, J., and Puck, T.T. 1969. Phenylalanine hydroxylase activity in mammalian cells. *J Cell Physiol* 73:159-159.
- Ledley, F.D., Ledbetter, S.A., Ledbetter, D.H., and Woo, S.L.C. 1988.
  Localization of mouse phenylalanine hydroxylase locus on chromosome 10.
  Cytogenet Cell Genet 47:125-127.
- 34. Grompe, M., Al-Dhalimy, M., and Overturf, K. 1998. Hepatic repopulation by adult murine pancreatic liver stem cells. *Am J Hum Genet* 63:A3.
- 35. Flatmark, T. and Stevens, R.C. 1999. Structural insight into the aromatic amino acid hydroxylases and their disease-related mutant forms. *Chem Rev* 99:2137-2160.
- 36. Bjorgo, E., Knappskog, P.M., Martinez, A., Stevens, R.C., and Flatmark, T. 1998. Partial characterization and three-dimensional-structural localization of eight mutations in exon 7 of the human phenylalanine hydroxylase gene associated with phenylketonuria. *Eur J Biochem* 257:1-10.
- 37. Davis, M.D., Parniak, M.A., Kaufman, S., and Kempner, E. 1997. The role of phenylalanine in structure-function relationships of phenylalanine hydroxylase revealed by radiation target analysis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 94:491-495.
- Fusetti, F., Erlandsen, H., Flatmark, T., and Stevens, R.C. 1998. Structure of tetrameric human phenylalanine hydroxylase and its implications for phenylketonuria. J Biol Chem 273:16962-16967.

- Chehin, R., Thorolfsson, M., Knappskog, P.M., Martinez, A., Flatmark, T., Arrondo, J.L.R., and Muga, A. 1998. Domain structure and stability of human phenylalanine hydroxylase inferred from infrared spectroscopy. FEBS Lett 422:225-230.
- 40. Erlandsen, H., Fusetti, F., Martinez, A., Hough, E., Flatmark, T., and Stevens, R.C. 1997. Crystal structure of the catalytic domain of human phenylalanine hydroxylase reveals the structural basis of phenylketonuria. *Nat Struct Biol* 4:995-1000.
- Erlandsen, H., Flatmark, T., Stevens, R.C., and Hough, E. 1998. Crystallographic analysis of the human phenylalanine hydroxylase catalytic domain with bound catechol inhibitors at 2.0 Resolution. *Bioch* 37:15638-15646.
- 42. Hufton, S.E., Jennings, I.G., and Cotton, R.G.H. 1998. Structure/function analysis of the domains required for the multimerisation of phenylalanine hydroxylase. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1382:295-304.
- 43. Erlandsen, H. and Stevens, R.C. 1999. The structural basis of Phenylketonuria. *Molec Genet Metab* 68:103-125.
- 44. Kaufman, S., Max, E.E., and Kang, E.S. 1975. Phenylalanine hydroxylase activity in liver biopsies from hyperphenylalaninemia heterozygotes: deviation from proportionality with gene dosage. *Ped Res* 9:632-634.
- 45. Flatmark, T., Knappskog, P. M., Bjorgo, E., and Martinez, A. Molecular characterization of disease related mutant forms of human phenylalanine hydroxylase and tyrosine hydroxylase. Pfleiderer, W. and Rokos, H. 1997. Chemistry and Biology of Pteridines and Folates 1997. Germany, June 15-20, 1997. Conference Proceeding.

- 46. Guldberg, P., Mikkelsen, I., Henriksen, K.F., Lou, H.C., and Guttler, F. 1995. In vivo assessment of mutations in the phenylalanine hydroxylase gene by phenylalanine loading: characterization of seven common mutations. *Eur J Pediatr* 154:551-556.
- 47. Waters, P.J., Parniak, M.A., Nowacki, P., and Scriver, C.R. 1998. *In vitro* expression analysis of mutations in phenylalanine hydroxylase: Linking genotype to phenotype and structure to function. *Hum Mutat* 11:14-17.
- 48. Waters, P.J., Parniak, M.A., Akerman, B.R., and Scriver, C.R. 2000. Characterization of phenylketonuria missense substitutions, distant from the phenylalanine hydroxylase active site, illustrates a paradigm for mechanism and potential modulation of phenotype. *Molec Genet Metab* 69:101-110.
- 49. In Vitro Expression. 2000. (http://data.mch.mcgill.ca/pahdb\_new/search.html).
- 50. Waters, P.J., Parniak, M.A., Hewson, A.S., and Scriver, C.R. 1998. Alterations in protein aggregation and degradation due to mild and severe missense mutations (A104D, R157N) in the human phenylalanine hydroxylase gene (PAH). Hum Mutat 12:344-354.
- 51. Scriver, C.R. and Waters, P.J. 1999. Monogenic traits are not simple. Lessons from phenylketonuria. TIG 15:267-272.
- 52. Bernard, C. 1878. Les Phénomènes de la Vie. Libraire J-B Bailliere et Fils., Paris. 879-879 pp.
- 53. Cohn,R.M., Palmieri,M.J., and McNamara,P.D. 1980. Non equilibrium thermodynamics, non covalent forces, and water. In Principles of Metabolic Control in Mammalian Species. R.H.Herman, Cohn,R.M., and McNamara,P.D., editors. Plenum Press, New York. 63-63.

- 54. Murphy, E.A. and Pyeritz, R.E. 1986. Homeostasis VII. A conspectus. Amer J Med Genet 24:735-735.
- Kaufman,S. 1999. A model of human phenylalanine metabolism in normal subjects and in phenylketonuria patients. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 96:3160-3164.
- 56. Kacser, H. and Burns, J.A. 1981. The molecular basis of dominance. Genetics 97:639-666.
- 57. Kaufman, S. 1976. Phenylketonuria: Biochemical mechanisms. Adv Neurochem 2:1-132.
- 58. Salter, M., Knowles, R.G., and Pogson, C.I. 1986. Quantification of the importance of individual steps in the control of aromatic amino acid metabolism. *Biochem J* 234:635-647.
- 59. Krempf, M., Hoerr, R.A., Marks, L., and Young, V.R. 1990. Phenylalanine flux in adult men: Estimates with different tracers and route of administration. *Metabolism* 39:560-561.
- 60. Michals, K., Lopus, M., and Matalon, R. 1988. Phenylalanine metabolites as indicators of dietary compliance in children with phenylketonuria. *Biochem Med Metab Biol* 39:18-23.
- 61. Scriver, C.R. and Rosenberg, L.E. 1973. Amino Acid Metabolism and Its Disorders. Saunders, W.B., Philadelphia.
- 62. Kaufman, S. 1976. Biochemical mechanisms. Adv Neurochem 2:1-132.
- 63. Williamson, M.L., Koch, R., Azen, C., and Chang, C. 1981. Correlates of intelligence test results in treated phenylketonuric children. *Pediatrics* 68:161-167.

- 64. Koch, R., Azen, C., Friedman, E.G., and Williamson, M.L. 1984. Paired comparisons between early treated PKU children and their matched sibling controls on intelligence and school achievement test results at eight years of age. J Inher Metab Dis 7:86-90.
- 65. Griffiths, P., Ward, N., Harvie, A., and Cockburn, F. 1998. Neuropsychological outcome of experimental manipulation of phenylalanine intake in treated phenylketonuria. *J Inher Metab Dis* 21:29-38.
- 66. Kilpatrick, N.M., Awang, H., Wilcken, B., and Christodoulou, J. 1999. Implication of phenylketonuria on oral health. *Pediatr Dent* 21:433-437.
- Al-Qadreh, A., Schulpis, K.H., Athanasopoulou, H., Mengreli, C., Skarpalezou, A., and Voskaki, L. 1998. Bone mineral status in children with phenylketonuria under treatment. *Acta Paediatr* 87:1162-1126.
- Schallreuter, K.U., Wood, J.M., Pittelkow, M.R., Gutlich, M., Lemke, K.R., Rodl, W., Swanson, N.N., Hitzemann, K., and Ziegler, I. 1994. Regulation of melanin biosynthesis in the human epidermis by tetrahydrobiopterin. *Science* 263:1444-1446.
- Holm, V.A., Kronmal, R.A., Williamson, M., and Roche, A.F. 1979. Physical growth in phenylketonuria: II. Growth of treated children in the PKU collaborative study from birth to 4 years of age. *Pediatrics* 63:700-707.
- 70. Lyonnet, S., Caillaud, C., Rey, F., Berthelon, M., Frezal, J., Rey, J., and Munnich, A. 1989. Molecular genetics of phenylketonuria in Mediterranean countries. A mutation associated with partial phenylalanine hydroxylase deficiency. Am J Hum Genet 44:511-517.
- 71. White, J.E., Kronmal, R.A., and Acosta, P.B. 1982. Excess weight among children with phenylketonuria. *J Amer Coll Nutr* 1:293-303.

- McBurnie, M.A., Kronmal, R.A., Schuett, V.E., Koch, R., and Azeng, C.G. 1991. Physical growth of children treated for phenylketonuria. Ann Hum Biol 18:357-368.
- 73. Griffiths, P., Tarrini, M., and Robinson, P. 1997. Executive function and psychosocial adjustment in children with early treated phenylketonuria: correlation with historical and concurrent phenylalanine levels. J Intellect Disabil Res 41:317-323.
- 74. Kalverboer, A.F., van der Schot, L.W.A., Hendrikx, M.M.H., Huisman, J., Slijper, F.M.E., and Stemerdink, B.A. 1994. Social behaviour and task orientation in early-treated PKU. *Acta Paediatr Suppl* 407:104-105.
- 75. Ris, M.D., Weber, A.M., Hunt, M.M., Berry, H.K., Williams, S.E., and Leslie, N. 1997. Adult psychosocial outcome in early-treated phenylketonuria. J Inherit Metab Dis 20:499-508.
- Zygulska, M., Eigel, A., Pietrzyk, J.J., and Horst, J. 1994. Phenylketonuria in Southern Poland: A new splice mutation in intron 9 at the PAH locus. *Hum* Mut 4:297-299.
- 77. Burgard, P., Armbruster, M., Schmidt, E., and Rupp, A. 1994. Psychopathology of patients treated for phenylketonuria: results of the German collaborative study of phenylketonuria. Acta Paediatr Suppl 407:108-110.
- 78. Waisbren, S.E. and Levy, H.L. 1991. Agoraphobia in phenylketonuria. J Inher Metab Dis 14:755-764.
- 79. Lou, H.C., Güttler, F., Lykkelund, C., Bruhn, P., and Niederwiesser, A. 1985. Decreased vigilance and neurotransmitter synthesis after discontinuation of

dietary treatment for phenylketonuria in adolescents. Eur J Pediatr 144:17-20.

- Matthews, W.S., Barabas, G., Cusack, E., and Ferrari, M. 1986. Social quotients of children with phenylketonuria before and after discontinuation of dietary treatment. Am J Ment Defic 91:92-94.
- Smith, I. 1985. The Hyperphenylalaninemias. In Genetic and Metabolic Disease in Pediatrics. J.K.Lloyd and Scriver, C.R., editors. Butterworths, London. 166-166.
- Krause, W., Epstein, C., Averbrook, A., Dembure, P., and Elsas, L. 1986. Phenylalanine alters the mean power frequency of electroencephalograms and plasma L-DOPA in treated patients with phenylketonuria. *Pediat Res* 20:1112-1116.
- Bick, U., Fahrendorf, G., Ludoph, A.C., Vassallo, P., Weglage, J., and Ullrich, R. 1991. Disturbed myelination in patients with treated hyperphenylalaninemia: Evaluation with magnetic resonance imaging. *Eur J Pediatr* 150:185-189.
- Scriver, C.R., Kaufman, S., Eisensmith, R., and Woo, S.L.C. 1995. The Hyperphenylalaninemias. In *The Metabolic and Molecular Bases of Inherited Disease*. (7 ed.) Scriver, C.R., Beaudet, A.L., Sly, W.S., and Valle, D., editors. McGraw Hill Book Co, New York. 1015-1075.
- 85. Christensen, H.N. 1982. Interorgan amino acid nutrition. *Physiol Rev* 62:1193-1233.
- 86. Christensen, H.N. 1986. Where do the depleted plasma amino acids go in phenylketonuria? *Biochem J* 236:929-929.
- 87. Christensen, H.N. 1987. Hypothesis: Where the depleted plasma amino acids go in phenylketonuria, and why. *Persp Biol Med* 30:186-186.
- 88. Thalhammer,O., Pollak,A., Lubec,G., and Konigshofer,H. 1980. Intracellular concentrations of phenylalanine, tyrosine and α-aminobutyric acid in 13 homozygotes and 19 heterozygotes for PKU compared with 26 normals. *Hum Genet* 54:213-216.
- 89. Thalhammer,O., Lubec,G., Konigshofer,H., Scheibenreiter,S., and Coradello,H. 1982. Intracellular phenylalanine and tyrosine concentration in homozygotes and heterozygotes for phenylketonuria (PKU) and hyperphenylalaninemia compared with normals. *Hum Genet* 60:320-321.
- Andrews, T.M., McKeran, R.O., Watts, R.W.E., McPherson, K., and Lax, R. 1973. Relationship between the granulocyte content and the degree of disability in phenylketonuria. *Q J Med New Ser* XL11:805-817.
- 91. De Cespedes, C., Thoene, J.G., Lowler, K., and Christensen, H.N. 1989. Evidence for inhibition of exodus of small neutral amino acids from nonbrain tissues in hyperphenylalaninemic rats. J Inher Metab Dis 12:166-180.
- 92. Krause, W., Halminski, M., McDonald, L., Demure, P., Salvo, R., Friedes, S.R., and Elsas, L. 1985. Biochemical and neuropsychological effects of elevated plasma phenylalanine in patients with treated phenylketonuria. J Clin Invest 75:40-48.
- Paans, A.M.J., Pruim, J., Smit, G.P.A., Visser, G., Willemsen, A.T.M., and Ullrich, K. 1996. Neurotransmitter positron emission tomographic-studies in adults with phenylketonuria, a pilot study. *Eur J Pediatr* 155:S78-S81.
- 94. Hyland, K. 1999. Presentation, diagnosis, and treatment of the disorders of monoamine neurotransmitter metabolism. *Semin Perinatol* 23:194-203.

- 95. Moller, H.E., Weglage, J., Widermann, D., and Ullrich, K. 1998. Blood-brain barrier phenylalanine transport and individual vulnerability in phenylketonuria. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 18:1184-1191.
- Moller, H.E., Weglage, J., Widermann, D., Vermathen, P., Bick, U., and Ullrich, K. 1997. Kinetics of phenylalanine transport at the human bloodbrain barrier investigated in vivo. *Brain Res* 1997:329-327.
- 97. Moats,R.A., Koch,R., Moseley,K., Guldberg,P., Guttler,F., Boles,R.G., and Nelson,Jr.M.D. 2000. Brain phenylalanine concentration in the management of adults with phenylketonuria. J Inher Metab Dis 23:7-14.
- Weglage, J., Wiedermann, D., Möller, H., and Ullrich, K. 1998. Pathogenesis of different clinical outcomes in spite of identical genotypes and comparable blood phenylalanine concentrations in phenylketonurics. J Inher Metab Dis 21:181-182.
- 99. Pardridge, W.M. 1998. Blood-brain barrier carrier-mediated transport and brain metabolism of amino acids. *Neurochem Res* 23:635-644.
- 100. Swaiman, K.K. and Wu, S.R. 1984. Phenylalanine and phenylacetate adversely affect developing mammalian brain neurons. *Neurology* 34:1246.
- 101. Heuther, G. and Neuhoff, V. 1981. Use of  $\alpha$ -methylphenylalanine for studies of brain development in experimental phenylketonuria. J Inher Metab Dis 4:67-68.
- 102. Heuther, G., Neuhoff, V., and Kaus, R. 1983. Brain development in experimental hyperphenylalaninemia: disturbed proliferation and reduced cell numbers in the cerebellum. *Neuropediatrics* 14:12-19.

- 103. Johnson, R.C. and Shah, S.N. 1984. Effect of hyperphenylalaninemia induced during suckling on brain DNA metabolism in rat pups. *Neurochem Res* 9:517.
- 104. Hommes, F.A. 1994. Loss of neurotransmitter receptors by hyperphenylalaninemia in the HPH-5 mouse brain. Acta Paediatr Suppl 407:120-121.
- 105. Bauman, M.L. and Kemper, T.L. 1982. Morphologic and histoanatomic observations of the brain in untreated human phenylketonuria. Acta Neuropathol 58:55-63.
- 106. Hommes, F.A. and Moss, L. 1992. Myelin turnover in hyperphenylalaninaemia. A re-evaluation with the HPH-5 mouse. J Inher Metab Dis 15:243-251.
- 107. Changeux, J.P. and Danchin, A. 1976. Selective stabilization of developing synapses as a mechanism for the specification of neuronal networks. *Nature* 264:705-712.
- 108. Reynolds, R., Burri, R., and Herschkowitz, N. 1993. Retarded development of neurons and oligodendroglia in rat forebrain produced by hyperphenylalaninemia results in permanent deficits in myelin despite long recovery periods. *Exp Neurol.* 124:357-367.
- 109. Dyer, C.A., Kendler, A., Philibotte, T., Gardiner, P., Cruz, J., and Levy, H.L. 1996. Evidence for central nervous system glial cell plasticity in phenylketonuria. J Neuropath & Exper Neurol 55:795-814.
- 110. Hommes, F.A. 1993. The effect of hyperphenylalaninaemia on the muscarinic acetylcholine receptor in the HPH-5 mouse brain. J Inher Metab Dis 16:962-974.

- 111. Levy, H.L., Lenke, R.R., and Koch, R. 1984. Lack of fetal effect on blood phenylalanine concentration in maternal phenylketonuria. J Pediatr 104:245-247.
- 112. Levy, H. and Ghavami, M. 1996. Maternal phenylketonuria: A metabolic teratogen. *Teratology* 53:176-184.
- 113. Rouse, B., Matalon, R., Koch, R., Azen, C., Levy, H., Hanley, W., Trefz, F., and De La Cruz, F. 2000. Maternal phenylketonuria syndrome: Congenital heart defects, microcephaly, and developmental outcomes. J Pediatr 136:57-61.
- 114. Scriver, C.R. 1967. Treatment in Medical Genetics. In Proceedings of the Third International Congress of Human Genetics. J.F.Crow and Neel, J.V., editors. The Johns Hopkins Press, Baltimore. 45-56.
- 115. Lenke, R.R. and Levy, H.L. 1980. Maternal phenylketonuria and hyperphenylalaninemia. An international survey of untreated and treated pregnancies. *New Engl J Med* 303:1202-1208.
- 116. Platt, L.D., Koch, R., Hanley, W.B., Levy, H.L., Matalon, R., Rouse, B., Trefz, F., De La Cruz, F., Guttler, F., Azen, C. et al. 2000. The International Study of Pregnancy Outcome in Women with Maternal Phenylketonuria. Report of a 12-year study. Am J Obstet Gynecol 182:326-333.
- 117. Guttler, F., Azen, C., Guldberg, P., Romstad, A., Hanley, W.B., Levy, H.L., Matalon, R., Rouse, B.M., Trefz, F., De La Cruz, F. et al. 1999. Relationship among genotypes, biochemical phenotype, and cognitive performance in females with phenylalanine hydroxylase deficiency: Report from the Maternal Phenylketonuria Collaborative Study. *Pediatrics* 104:258-262.

- 118. Waisbren, S.E., Chang, P., Levy, H.L., Shifrin, H., Allred, E., Azen, C., De La Cruz, F., Hanley, W., Koch, R., Matalon, R. et al. 1998. Neonatal neurological assessment of offspring in maternal phenylketonuria. J Inher Metab Dis 21:39-48.
- 119. Hanley, W.B., Platt, L.D., Bachman, R.P., Buist, N., Geraghty, M.D., Isaacs, J., O'Flynn, M.E., Rhead, W.J., Seidlitz, G., and Tishler, B. 1999. Undiagnosed maternal phenylketonuria: The need for prenatal selective screening or case finding. Am J Obstet Gynecol 180:986-994.
- 120. Scriver, C.R. 1966. Principles of dietary therapy in hereditary metabolic disease. In Nutrition and Inherited Diseases of Man. L.E.Schacth and Reardon, E., editors. The Minnesota Dept. of Health, Education & Welfare, 87-98.
- 121. Kirkman, H.N. 1982. Projections of a rebound in frequency of mental retardation from phenylketonuria. *Appl Res Ment Retard* 3:319-328.
- 122. Thompson,G.N., Francis,D.E.M., Kirby,D.M., and Compton,R. 1991. Pregnancy in phenylketonuria: Dietary treatment aimed at normalizing maternal plasma phenylalanine concentration. Arch Dis Child 66:1346-1349.
- 123. McDonald, J.D. 1994. The PKU mouse project: its history, potential and implications. Acta Paediatr 407:122-1123.
- 124. Hoshiga, M., Hatakeyama, K., Watanabe, M., Shimada, M., and Kagamiyama, H. 1993. Autoradiographic distribution of [<sup>14</sup>C] tetrahydrobiopterin and its developmental change in mice. J Pharmacol & Exper Therapeut 267:971-978.
- 125. Denny, P. and Justice, M.J. 2000. Mouse as the measure of man? TIG 16:283-287.

- 126. Hrabé de Angelis, M. and Balling, R. 1998. Large scale ENU screens in mouse: genetics meets genomics. *Mutat Res* 400:25-32.
- 127. McDonald, J.D. 1995. Using high-efficiency mouse germline mutagenesis to investigate complex biological phenomena: genetic diseases, behavior, and development. *Proc Soc Exp Biol Med* 209:303-308.
- 128. Nadeau, J.H. 1989. Maps of lineage and synteny homologies between mouse and man. TIG 5:82-86.
- 129. Ledley, F.D., Grenett, H.E., Dunbar, B.S., and Woo, S.L.C. 1990. Mouse phenylalanine hydroxylase. Homology and divergence from human phenylalanine hydroxylase. *Biochem.J.* 267:399-405.
- 130. Brown, S.D.M. 1998. Mouse models of genetic disease: New approaches, new paradigms. J Inher Metab Dis 21:532-539.
- 131. Nolan, P.M., Peters, J., Strivens, M., Rogers, D., Hagan, J., Spurr, N., Gray, I.C., Vizor, L., Brooker, D., Whithill, E. *et al.* 2000. A systematic, genome-wide, phenotype-driven mutagenesis programme for gene function studies in the mouse. *Nat Genet* 25:440-443.
- 132. Hrabé de Angelis, M., Flaswinkel, H., Fuchs, H., Rathkolb, B., Soewarto, D., Marschall, S., Heffner, S., Pargent, W., Wuensch, K., Jung, M. et al. 2000. Genome-wide, large-scale production of mutant mice by ENU mutagenesis. Nat Genet 25:444-447.
- 133. Russell, W.L., Kelly, E.M., Hunsicker, P.R., Bangham, J.W., Maddux, S.C., and Phipps, E.L. 1979. Specific locus test shows ethylnitrosourea to be the most potent mutagen in the mouse. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 76:5818-5819.
- 134. Russell, W.L., Hunsicker, P.R., Raymer, G.D., Steele, M.H., Stelzner, K.F., and Thompson, H.M. 1982. Dose response curve for ethylnitrosourea

specific-locus mutations in mouse spermatogonia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 79:3589-3591.

- 135. Brown, S.D.M. and Nolan, P.M. 1998. Mouse mutagenesis systematic studies of mammalian gene function. *Hum Molec Genet* 7:1627-1633.
- 136. McDonald, J.D., Bode, V.C., Dove, W.D., and Shedlovsky, A. 1990. The use of N-ethyl-N-nitrosouria to produce mouse models for human phenylketonuria and hyperphenylalaninemia. *Prog Clin Biol Res* 340C:407-413.
- 137. Bode, V.C., McDonald, J.C., Guenet, J.-L., and Simon, S. 1988. *hph-1*: A mouse mutant with hereditary hyperphenylalaninemia induced by ethylnitrosourea mutagenesis. *Genetics* 118:299-305.
- 138. Shedlovsky, A., Guenet, J.-L., Johnson, L.L., and Dove, W.F. 1986. Indication of recessive lethal mutation in the *T/1-H-2* region of the mouse genome by a point mutagen. *Genet Res* 47:135-142.
- 139. McDonald, J.D., Bode, V.C., Dove, E.F., and Sedlovsky, A. 1990. Pah<sup>hph-5</sup>: A mouse mutant deficient in phenylalanine hydroxylase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA 87:1965-1967.
- 140. McDonald, J.D. and Bode, V.C. 1988. Hyperphenylalaninemia in the hph-1 mouse mutant. Pediatr Res 23:63-67.
- 141. Shedlovsky, A., McDonald, J.D., Symula, D., and Dove, W.F. 1993. Mouse models of human phenylketonuria. *Genetics* 134:1205-1210.
- 142. McDonald, J.D. and Charlton, C.K. 1997. Characterization of mutations at the mouse phenylalanine hydroxylase locus. *Genomics* 39:402-405.

- 143. Zagreda, L., Goodman, J., Druin, D.P., McDonald, D., and Diamond, A.
  1999. Cognitive deficits in a genetic mouse model of the most common biochemical cause of human mental retardation. J Neurosci 19:6175-6182.
- 144. Puglisi-Allegra, S., Cabib, S., Pascucci, T., Ventura, R., Cali, F., and Romano, V. 2000. Dramatic brain aminergic deficit in a genetic mouse model of phenylketonuria. *Neurochemistry* 11:1361-1364.
- 145. McDonald, J.D., Dyer, C.A., Gailis, L., and Kirby, M.L. 1997. Cardiovascular defects among the progeny of mouse phenylketonuria females. *Pediat Res* 42:103-107.
- 146. Treacy, E., Pitt, J.J., Seller, J., Thompson, G.N., Ramus, S., and Cotton, R.G.H. 1996. In vivo disposal of phenylalanine in phenylketonuria: A study of two siblings. J Inher Metab Dis 19:595-602.
- 147. Kaufman, S. 1989. An evaluation of the possible neurotoxicity of metabolites of phenylalanine. *J Pediatr* 114:895-900.
- 148. Loo, Y.H., Scotto, L., and Horning, M.G. 1977. Aromatic acid metabolites of phenylalanine in the brain of the hyperphenylalaninemic rat: effect of pyridoxamine. J Neurochem 29:411-415.
- 149. Perry, T.L., Hansen, S., Tischler, B., Bunting, R., and Diamond, S. 1970. Glutamine depletion in phenylketonuria. A possible cause of mental defect. *N Engl J Med* 282:761-766.
- 150. Wadman,S.K., Ketting,D., De Bree,P.K., Van Der Heiden,C., Grimberg,M.I., and Kruijswijk,H. 1975. Permanent chemical phenylketonuria and a normal phenylalanine tolerance in two sisters with a normal mental development. *Clin Chim Acta* 65:197-204.

- 151. Knox, W.E. 1972. Phenylketonuria. In *The Metabolic Basis of Inherited Disease*. (3 ed.) J.B.Stanbury, Wyngaarden, J.B., and Fredrickson, D.S., editors. McGraw Hill Book Co., New York. 266-295.
- 152. Scriver, C.R., Kaufman, S., and Woo, S.L.C. 1989. The Hyperphenylalaninemias. In *The Metabolic Basis of Inherited Disease*. (6 ed.) Scriver, C.R., Beaudet, A.L., Sly, W.S., and Valle, D., editors. McGraw Hill Book Company, New York. 495-546.
- 153. Scriver, C.R. and Treacy, E.P. 1999. Is there treatment for "genetic" disease? Mol Genet Metab 68:93-103.
- 154. Bickel, H., Gerrard, J., and Hickmans, E.M. 1954. Influence of phenylalanine intake on the chemistry and behaviour of a phenylketonuric child. *Acta Paediat* 43:64.
- 155. Woolf, L.I., Griffiths, R., and Moncrieff, A. 1955. Treatment of phenylketonuria with a diet low in phenylalanine. *Brit Med J* 1:57-64.
- Armstrong, M.D. and Tyler, F.H. 1955. Studies on phenylketonuria. I. Restriction phenylalanine intake in phenylketonuria. J Clin Invest 34:565-580.
- 157. Woolf, L.I., Griffiths, R., and Moncrieff, A. 1955. Treatment of phenylketonuria with a diet low in phenylalanine. *Brit Med J* 1:57-64.
- 158. Gerrard, J.W. 1994. Phenylketonuria revisited. Clin Invest Med 17:510-513.
- 159. Bickel, H. 1996. The first treatment of phenylketonuria. Eur J Pediatr 155:S2-S3.

- 160. Guthrie, R. and Susi, A. 1963. A simple phenylalanine method for detecting phenylketonuria in large populations of newborn infants. *Pediatrics* 32:318-343.
- 161. MacDonald, A., Rylance, G.W., Asplin, D., Hall, S.K., and Booth, I.W. 1998. Does a single plasma phenylalanine predict quality of control in phenylketonuria? Arch Dis Child 78:122-126.
- 162. Cockburn, F. and Clark, B.J. 1996. Recommendations for protein and amino acid intake in phenylketonuric patients. *Eur J Pediatr* 155:S125-S129.
- 163. Endres, W. 1998. Diet in phenylketonuria: How long? Ann Nutr Metab 42:63-67.
- 164. Young, V.R. and Pellett, P.L. 1987. Protein intake and requirements with reference to diet and health. Amer J Clin Nutr 45:1323-1323.
- 165. American Academy of Pediatrics. 1976. Committee on Nutrition. Special diets for infants with inborn errors of metabolism. *Pediatrics* 57:783-783.
- 166. Medical Research Council Working Party on Phenylketonuria. 1993. Phenylketonuria due to phenylalanine hydroxylase deficiency: an unfolding story. BMJ 306:115-119.
- 167. Medical Research Council Working Party on Phenylketonuria. 1993. Recommendations on the dietary management of phenylketonuria. Arch Dis Child 68:426-427.
- 168. Tiefenthaler, M., Seidl, R., Scheibenreiter, S., Wandl-Vergesslich, K., and Stockler-Ipsiroglu, S. 1999. An adult patient with phenylketonuria before and one year after reinstitution of diet therapy. Wiener Klinische Wochenschrift 111:33-36.

- 169. Cockburn, F., Barwell, B.E., Brenton, D.P., Chapple, J., Clark, B., Curzon, G., Davidson, D.C., Heeley, A.J., Laing, S.C., Lister-Cheese, I.A.F. et al. 1993. Recommendations on the dietary management of phenylketonuria. Arch Dis Childh 68:426-427.
- 170. Griffiths, P., Campbell, R., and Robinson, P. 1998. Executive function in treated phenylketonuria as measured by the one-back and two-back versions of the continuous performance test. J Inherit Metab Dis 21:125-135.
- 171. Smith, I., Beasley, M.G., and Ades, A.E. 1990. Intelligence and quality of dietary treatment in phenylketonuria. Arch Dis Childh 65:472-478.
- 172. Koch, R., Moseley, K., Ning, J., Romstad, A., Guldberg, P., and Güttler, F. 1999. Long-term beneficial effects of the phenylalanine-restricted diet in late-diagnosed individuals with Phenylketonuria. *Mol Genet Metab* 67:148-155.
- 173. Imura, K. and Okada, A. 1998. Amino acid metabolism in pediatric patients. Nutrition 14:143-148.
- 174. Duran, G.P., Rohr, F.J., Solnim, A., Guttler, F., and Levy, H.L. 1999. Necessity of complete intake of phenylalanine-free amino acid mixture for metabolic control of phenylketonuria. J Am Diet Assoc 99:1559-1563.
- 175. de Freitas, O., Izumi, C., Lara, M.G., and Greene, L.J. 1999. New approaches to treatment of PKU. Nutr Rev 57:65-70.
- 176. Smith, I. 1994. Treatment of phenylalanine hydroxylase deficiency. Acta Paediat 407:60-65.
- 177. Cockburn, F., Clark, B.J., Caine, E.A., Harvie, A., Farquharson, J., Jamieson, E.C., Robinson, P., and Logan, R.W. 1996. Fatty acids in the

stability of neuronal membrane: Relevance to PKU. Internat Pediatr 11:56-60.

- 178. Riva, E., Agostoni, C., Biasucci, G., Trojan, S., Luotti, D., Fiori, L., and Giovannini, M. 1996. Early breastfeeding is linked to higher intelligence quotient scores in dietary treated phenylketonuric children. Acta Paediatr 85:56-58.
- 179. Gropper, S.S., Acosta, P.B., Clarke-Sheehan, N., Wenz, E., Cheng, M., and Koch, R. 1988. Trace element status of children with PKU and normal children. J Amer Dietet Assoc 88:459-465.
- 180. Giovannini, M., Agostoni, C., Biasucci, G., Rottoli, A., Luotti, D., Trojan, S., and Riva, E. 1966. Fatty acid metabolism in phenylketonuria. *Eur J Pediatr* 155:S132-S135.
- 181. Agostoni, C., Riva, E., Galli, C., Marangoni, F., Luotti, D., and Giovannini, M. 1998. Plasma arachidonic acid and serum thromboxane B2 concentrations in phenylketonuric children are correlated with dietary compliance. Z Emahrungswiss 37:122-124.
- 182. Wannemacher, R.W.Jr., Klainer, A.S., Dinterman, R.E., and Beisel, W.R. 1976. The significance and mechanism of an increased serum phenylalaninetyrosine ratio during infection. *Amer J Clin Nutr* 29:997-1006.
- 183. Nielson, K.B., Wamberg, E., and Weber, J. 1979. Successful outcome of pregnancy in a phenylketonuric woman after low-phenylalanine diet introduced before conception. *Lancet* 1 1245.
- 184. Buist, N.R.M., Prince, A.P., Huntington, K.L., Tuerck, J.M., and Waggoner, D.D. 1994. A new amino acid mixture permits new approaches to the treatment of phenylketonuria. Acta Paediatr Suppl 407:75-77.

- 185. Kecskemethy, H.H., Lobregt, D., and Levy, H.L. 1993. The use of gelatin capsules for ingestion of formula in dietary treatment of maternal phenylketonuria. *J Inher Metab Dis* 16:111-118.
- 186. Hainline, B. E. and Ems-McClung, S. C. Gamma zein: a new high protein phe-free diet supplement. National PKU News 10(3), 1. 1999.
- 187. Ayares, D. and D'Arcy, A. Alpha-lac: Another diet supplement on the horizon. National PKU News 10(3), 2. 1999.
- 188. Vajro, P., Strisciuglio, P., Houssin, D., Huault, G., Laurent, J., Alvarez, F., and Bernard, O. 1993. Correction of phenylketonuria after liver transplantation in a child with cirrhosis. N Engl J Med 329:363.
- 189. Liu, T.-J., Kay, M.A., Darlington, G.J., and Woo, S.L.C. 1992. Reconstitution of enzymatic activity in hepatocytes of phenylalanine hydroxylase-deficient mice. Som. Cell and Molec. Genet. 18:89-96.
- 190. Cristiano, R.J., Smith, L.C., and Woo, S.L.C. 1993. Hepatic gene therapy: adenovirus enhancement of receptor-mediated gene delivery and expression in primary hepatocytes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 90:2122-2126.
- 191. Fang, B., Eisensmith, R.C., Li, X.H.C., Finegold, M.J., Shedlovsky, A., Dove, W., and Woo, S.L.C. 1994. Gene therapy for phenylketonuria: phenotypic correction in a genetically deficiency mouse model by adenovirus-mediated hepatic gene transfer. *Gene Ther* 1:247-254.
- 192. Lin, C.M., Tan, Y., Lee, Y.M., Chang, C.C., and Hsiao, K.J. 1997. Expression of human phenylalanine hydroxylase activity in T lymphocytes of classical phenylketonuria children by retroviral-mediated gene transfer. J Inher Metab Dis 20:742-754.

- 193. Harding, C.O., Wild, K., Chang, D., Messing, A., and Wolff, J.A. 1998. Metabolic engineering as therapy for inborn errors of metabolism development of mice with phenylalanine hydroxylase expression in muscle. *Gene Ther* 5:677-683.
- 194. Kure, S., How, D.C., Obura, T., Iwamoto, H., Suzuki, S., Sugiyama, N., Sakamoto, O., Fujii, K., Matsubara, Y., and Narisawa, K. 1999. Tetrahydrobiopterin-responsive phenylalanine hydroxylase deficiency. J Pediatr 135:375-377.
- 195. Hodgins, D. 1971. Yeast phenylalanine ammonia lyase: purification, properties of the identification of catalytically essential dehydroalanine. J Biol Chem 246:2977-2985.
- 196. Hoskins, J.A., Holliday, S.B., and Greenway, A.M. 1984. The metabolism of cinnamic acid by healthy and phenylketonuric adults: A kinetic study. *Biomed Mass Spectrom* 11:296-300.
- 197. Hodgins, D. 1971. Yeast phenylalanine ammonia lyase. Purification, properties, and the identification of catalytically essential dehydroalanine. J Biol Chem 246:2977-2985.
- 198. Kane, J.F. and Fiske, M.J. 1985. Regulation of phenylalanine lyase in *Rhodotorula glutinis*. J Bacteriol 161:963-966.
- 199. Orum, H. and Rasmussen, O.F. 1992. Expression in *E. coli* of the gene encoding phenylalanine ammonia-lyase from *Rhodosporidium toruloides*. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol* 36:745-748.
- 200. Ogata, K., Uchiyama, K., Yamada, H., and Tochikura, T. 1967. Metabolism of aromatic amino acid in microorganisms. Part II. Properties of phenylalanine ammonia-lyase of *Rhodotorula*. Agr Biol Chem 31:600-606.

- 201. Anson, J.G., Gilbert, H.J., Oram, J.D., and Minton, N.P. 1987. Complete nucleotide sequence of the *Rhodosporidium toruloides* gene coding for phenylalanine ammonia-lyase. *Gene* 58:189-199.
- 202. Appert, C., Logemann, E., Hahlbrock, K., Schmid, J., and Amrhein, N. 1994. Structural and catalytic properties of the four phenylalanine ammonia-lyase isoenzymes for parsley (*Petroselinum crispum* Nym). *Eur J Biochem* 225:491-499.
- 203. Tanaka, Y., Matsuoka, M., Yamanoto, N., Ohashi, Y., Kano-Murakami, Y., and Ozeki, Y. 1989. Structure and characterization of a cDNA clone for phenylalanine ammonia-lyase from cut-injured roots of sweet potato. *Plant Physiol* 90:1403-1407.
- 204. Wanner, L.A., Li, G., Ware, D., Somssich, I.E., and Davis, K.R. 1995. The phenylalanine ammonia-lyase gene family in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. *Plant Mol Biol* 27:327-338.
- 205. Razal, R.A., Ellis, S., Singh, S., Louis, N.G., and Towers, G.H.N. 1996.
  Nitrogen recycling in phenylpropanoid metabolism. *Phytochemistry* 41:31-35.
- 206. Rasmussen, O.F. and Oerum, H. 1991. Analysis of the gene for phenylalanine ammonia-lyase from *Rhodosporidium toruloides*. DNA Seq 1:207-211.
- 207. Gilbert, H.J., Clarke, I.N., Gilbson, R.K., Stephenson, J.R., and Tully, M.
   1985. Molecular cloning of the phenylalanine ammonia lyase gene from *Rhodosporidium toruloides* in *Eschericia coli* K-12. *J Bacteriol* 161:314-320.
- 208. Hanson, K.R. and Havir, E.A. 1970. L-phenylalanine ammonia-lyase IV. Evidence that the prosthetic group contains a dehydroalanyl residue and mechanism of action. *Arch Biochem Biophys* 141:1-17.

- 209. Gilbert, H.J. and Jack, G.W. 1981. The effect of proteinases on phenylalanine ammonia-lyase from the yeast and *Rhodotorula glutinis*. *Biochem J* 199:715-723.
- 210. Lager, M., Reck, G., Reed, J., and Rétey, J. 1994. Identification of serine-143 as the most likely precursor of dehyroalanine in the active site of histidine ammonia-lyase. A study of the overexpressed enzyme by site-directed mutagenesis. *Biochemistry* 33:6462-6467.
- 211. Schuster, B. and Rétey, J. 1994. Serine-202 is the putative precursor of the active site dehydroalanine of phenylalanine ammonia lyase. Site-directed mutagenesis studies on the enzyme for parsley (*Petroselium crispum L.*). FEBS Lett 349:252-254.
- 212. Levy, H.L., Taylor, R.G., and McInnes, R.R. 1995. Disorders of Histidine Metabolism. In *The Metabolic and Molecular Basis of Inherited Disease*. (7 ed.) Scriver, C.R., Beaudet, A.L., Sly, W.S., and Valle, D., editors. McGraw Hill Book Co., New York.
- 213. Hoskins, J.A., Jack, G., Wade, H.E., Peiris, R.J.D., Wright, E.C., Starr, D.J.T., and Stern, J. 1980. Enzymatic control of phenylalanine intake in phenylketonuria. *Lancet* 1:392-394.
- 214. Hoskins, J.A. and Gray, J. 1982. Phenylalanine ammonia lyase in the management of phenylketonuria: the relationship between ingested cinnamate and urinary hippurate in humans. *Res Commun Chem Pathol Pharmacol* 35:275-282.
- 215. Snapper, J., Chiang, T.F., and Chiang, T.Y. 1940. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 44:30-34.

- 216. Christensen, H.N., Feldman, B.H., and Hastings, A.B. 1963. Concentrative and reversible character of intestinal amino acid transport. Am J Physiol 205:255-260.
- 217. Bourget, L. and Chang, T.M.S. 1986. Phenylalanine ammonia-lyase immobilized in microcapsules for the depletion of phenylalanine in plasma in phenylketonuric rat model. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 883:432-438.
- 218. Safos, S. and Chang, T.M. 1995. Enzyme replacement therapy in ENU2 phenylketonuric mice using oral microencapsulated phenylalanine ammonialyase: a preliminary report. *Artificial Cells, Blood Substitutes, & Immobilization Biotechnology*. 23:681-692.
- 219. Chang, T.M.S., Bourget, L., and Lister, C. 1995. A new theory of enterorecirculation of amino acids and its use for depleting unwanted amino acids using oral enzyme-artificial cells, as in removing phenylalanine in phenylketonuria. *Artif Cells Blood Substit Immobil Biotechnol* 23:1-21.
- 220. Fritz, R.R., Hodgins, D.S., and Abell, C.W. 1976. Phenylalanine ammonialyase. Induction and purification from yeast and clearance in mammals. J Biol Chem 251:4645-4650.
- 221. Wang, W. 1996. Oral protein drug delivery. J Drug Target 4:195-232.
- 222. Bourget, L. and Chang, T.M.S. 1985. Phenylalanine ammonia-lyase immobilized in semipermeable microcapsules for enzyme replacement in phenylketonuria. *FEBS Lett* 180:5-8.
- 223. Bourget, L. and Chang, T.M.S. 1986. Phenylalanine ammonia-lyase immobilized in microcapsules for the depletion of phenylalanine in plasma in phenylketonuric rat model. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 883:432-438.

- 224. Inoue, S., Matsunaga, Y., Iwane, H., Sotomura, M., and Nose, T. 1986. Entrapment of phenylalanine ammonia-lyase in silk fibroin for protection from proteolytic attack. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 141:165-170.
- 225. Hovgaard, L., Jorgensen, S.W., Eigtved, P., Frokjaer, S., and Brondsted, H. 1998. Drug delivery studies in Caco-2 monolayers. VI. Studies of enzyme substitution therapy for phenylketonuria - a new application of Caco-2 monolayers. Int J Pharm 161:109-114.
- 226. Ambrus, C.M., Anthone, S., Norvath, C., Kalghatgi, K., Lele, A.S., Eapen, G., Ambrus, J.L., Ryan, A.J., and Li, P. 1987. Extracorporeal enzyme reactors for depletion of phenylalanine in phenylketonuria. *Ann Intern Med* 106:531-537.

# **CONNECTING TEXT**

In this Chapter, I describe the breeding of ENU1/2 compound hybrid strain. These animals were developed for two reasons, first, because the majority of patients are heteroallelic and second because we needed a model that was more pliant to metabolic manipulation; as the already available ENU1 animals were very difficult to control metabolically while the ENU2 animals were very fragile during long-term manipulation. To address these objectives, animals (ENU1, ENU2, ENU1/2, ENU1/+, ENU2/+, and BTBR/Pas-wildtype counterparts) were characterised and compared. The animals were genotyped to verify strain. Measuring concentration of phe in plasma and brain, presence of immunoreactive Pah protein and the level of Pah enzyme activity assessed their metabolic phenotype. They were also manipulated with a phe challenge and characterised according to their rate of plasma phe clearance. Finally, the clinical phenotypes were evaluated according to the effect of parental phenotype on fetal survival and by measuring behavioural outcome in each strain.

# **CHAPTER 2**

# A heteroallelic mutant mouse model: A new orthologue for human hyperphenylalaninemia

Christineh N. Sarkissian, Danielle M. Boulais, J. David McDonald, Charles R. Scriver

Status: Published in <u>Molecular Genetics and Metabolism</u> (69) 188-194, 2000. (Copyright © 2000 by Academic Press) (http://www.apnet.com) Reprinted by permission of the publisher

## ABSTRACT

Hyperphenylalaninemias (HPA) are Mendelian disorders resulting from deficiencies in the conversion of phenylalanine to tyrosine. The vast majority are explained by a primary deficiency of phenylalanine hydroxylase (PAH) activity. The majority of untreated patients experience irreversible impairment of cognitive development. Although it is one of the best known hereditary metabolic disorders, mechanisms underlying the pathophysiology of the disease are still not fully understood; to this end, the availability of an orthologous animal model is relevant. Various mutant hyperphenylalaninemic mouse models with an HPA phenotype, generated by N-ethyl-N-nitrosourea (ENU) mutagenesis at the Pah locus, have become available. Here we report a new hybrid strain, ENU1/2, with primary enzyme deficiency, produced by cross breeding. The ENU1, ENU1/2, and ENU2 strains display mild, moderate and severe phenotypes, respectively, relative to the control strain (BTBR/Pas). The Pah enzyme activities of the various models correlate inversely with the corresponding phenylalanine levels in plasma and brain and the delay in plasma clearance response following a phenylalanine challenge. The maternal HPA effect on the fetus correlates directly with the degree of hyperphenylalaninemia; but only the ENU2 strain has impaired learning.

### INTRODUCTION

Phenylketonuria (PKU) and related forms of non-PKU hyperphenylalaninemia (HPA) (OMIM 261600) are human autosomal recessive traits, characterized by elevated levels of phenylalanine (phe) in body fluids. These Mendelian disorders result from deficiencies in phenylalanine hydroxylase enzyme (PAH) (EC 1.14.16.1), which catalyzes the conversion of phenylalanine to tyrosine. Untreated patients have elevated levels of phenylalanine in body fluids. Those with persistent HPA from birth are likely to have irreversible impairment of cognitive development. Furthermore, transplacental transport of excess phe from the maternal pool to the fetus, during intrauterine development, puts offspring at risk for microcephaly and birth defects. These disease-causing effects of PKU and maternal HPA are preventable by treatment that restores euphenylalaninemia (1).

Although PKU is one of the best known hereditary metabolic disorders, the mechanism underlying the pathophysiology is still not fully understood (2). Furthermore, the current dietary treatment of the human disease is not optimal for either compliance or fully normal cognitive outcome. To this end, the availability of an orthologous animal model is relevant (3;4).

Chemically induced HPA in the rat had long served as the animal "model" for "PKU", however, it had many imperfections (5). These were avoided when a mutant HPA mouse model generated by *N*-ethyl-*N*-nitrosourea mutagenesis (6;7) manifesting all forms of the harmful HPA phenotype, became available (1;8). The mice thus generated had autosomal recessive forms of HPA representing both locus and allelic heterogeneity; for example, the strain first identified (9), called *hph*-1, was mutated at the GTP-CH locus (10); GTP-CH catalyzes the first step in biosynthesis of tetrahydrobiopterin, a cofactor essential for hydroxylase activity. Subsequently, other strains all mutated at the *Pah* locus, but with varying degrees of phenotypic severity<sup>1</sup> (orthologues of human PKU and non-PKU HPA), became

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Pah<sup>enul/1</sup> mice with an HPA phenotype were initially named the Pah<sup>hph-5</sup> strain; Pah<sup>enu2/2</sup> mice are the PKU counterpart.

available (3;8). Here we report a hybrid strain ( $Pah^{enul/2}$ ), produced by crossing a homozygous female  $Pah^{enul/1}$  non-PKU HPA mouse with a heterozygous male  $Pah^{enu2/+}$  PKU carrier. We describe the organismal phenotypes of the control (BTBR/Pas) and mutant strains ( $Pah^{enul/1}$  and  $Pah^{enu2/2}$ , the heteroallelic  $Pah^{enul/2}$ strain, and their carrier counterparts), their corresponding metabolic parameters, hepatic Pah enzyme activity, blood and brain phe levels, behavioral parameters and corroborate prior evidence of maternal HPA effect on the fetus. We also discuss how this mouse model is being used to measure the response to an alternative therapy for PKU by enzyme substitution with phenylalanine ammonia lyase (EC 4.3.1.5) to degrade excess dietary and endogenous phenylalanine (11).

## **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

#### ENU Mice

Wildtype mice (BTBR/Pas background) were treated with alkylating agent (*N*-ethyl-*N*-nitrosourea) and mutations mapping to the mouse phenylalanine hydroxylase locus (*Pah*) were identified by hyperphenylalaninemia, a metrical metabolic trait (3;7). The original strains  $Pah^{enul/l}$  (phenotype name, ENU1) and  $Pah^{enul/2}$  (ENU2), kindly given to us by W. Dove and A. Shedlovsky, were bred in Madison, Wisconsin (3;7) and later genotyped (12). The hybrid heteroallelic strain (*Pah^{enul/2*}, ENU1/2) was bred in Montreal, Canada as described here.

The homozygous mutant ENU1 mouse is a counterpart of human non-PKU HPA (7;8); it expresses a missense mutation (c.364T  $\rightarrow$  C, V106A) in exon 3 of the *Pah* gene (12). The homozygous mutant ENU2 mouse is a counterpart of human PKU (3;8); it expresses a missense mutation (c.835T  $\rightarrow$  C, F263S) in exon 7 of the *Pah* gene (12). The ENU1/2 strain was developed by selective mating of ENU1? x *Pah<sup>emu2/+</sup>*(ENU2/+) $\sigma$ . Genotypes at the *Pah* locus of all breeders and offspring were verified by DNA analysis. All procedures described below were reviewed and approved by the Animal Care Committee at McGill University.

#### Metabolic Manipulation of Animal Models

Plasma and brain phe levels were measured in all mice when fed on breeder mouse chow (Teklad 8626) (Madison, WI). ENU2 mice were then made euphenylalaninemic by placing them, for 3 consecutive days, on solid diet devoid of phe (Teklad 97152) supplemented with water containing 30 mg/L L-phe; then injected with L-phe (1.1 mg/g body wt, subcutaneously) to produce a controlled predictable HPA state. ENU1 and ENU1/2 mice do not show the HPA state on normal diet; a predictable degree of HPA was produced in these strains by subcutaneous injection of L-phe (1.1 mg/g).

#### Metabolic characterization

Time-dependent plasma clearance of phe was measured after subcutaneous injection of the standard dose of L-phe in the ENU1, ENU1/2 and euphenylalaninemic ENU2 animals. Plasma phe was measured at baseline (zero hr) and 1, 2 and 3 hr post-challenge. We use this parameter as a measure of phe "runout".

#### Pah Enzyme Assay

Liver tissues were prepared and stored at -80°C until analysis. Protein concentration was measured using the Bio-Rad protein assay kit (Hercules, CA). The assay (13-15), measuring the conversion of  $[U^{-14}C]$ -L-phe to labeled tyrosine, was modified as follows. Homogenate (100 µg) and 0.4 mM 6methyltetrahydropterin (6-MPH4) (Schircks Labs, Jona, Switzerland) were added to the reaction mixture (0.1 M potassium phosphate buffer (pH 6.8), 1000 units catalase (Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, Ontario, Canada), 0.3 mM L-phe, 4 x 10<sup>5</sup> cpm  $[U^{-14}C]$ phe (DuPont NEN, Boston, MA) and 10 mM dithiothreitol (ICN, Costa Mesa, CA)) (final reaction volume = 250 µl ). The samples were incubated (with shaking) at 25° C for 1 hr, then boiled for 5 min, placed on ice, and analyzed according to Ledley *et al.* (15). Preliminary experiments established linearity of activity versus protein concentration and incubation time.

#### Western Blots

Liver was homogenized in buffer containing 50 mM Trizma (pH 8.0), 150 mM NaCl, 1% (v/v) NP-40, 0.3  $\mu$ M aprotinin (Roche Molecular Biochemicals, Laval Quebec, Canada), and 1 mM Pefabloc (Roche Molecular Biochemicals). Samples were electrophoresed on 10% SDS-polyacrylamide gel, transferred to Hybond-C extra nitrocellulose (Amersham, Little Chalfont, Buckinghamshire, England) and immunoblotted, to detect mouse Pah protein, with 1  $\mu$ g/ml anti-mouse PH8 primary antibody (PharMingen, Missisauga, Ontario, Canada) (16), detected with peroxidase-labeled anti-mouse antibody (1:1000 dilution) (Amersham) and developed with RPN 2109 ECL (Amersham). Human PAH was used as a positive control.

#### Effect of Parental Phenotype on Fetal Survival

Females were introduced to their breeding partners immediately following sexual maturity. The phenotypes for the following female homozygous and compound genotypes were studied: wildtype BTBR/Pas (Control), ENU1, ENU1/2, ENU2, and heterozygous ENU1/+, ENU2/+. Various male genotypes (and phenotypes) were also studied for possible paternal affect. The effect of maternal HPA on progeny was measured by counting the number of litters and number of progeny at birth and weaning. Blood phe was measured in the dam prior to breeding and at delivery and weaning.

#### Tests of Behavior

The T-maze alternation test was conducted as described by Nasir *et al.* (17). A Win-Stay eight-arm radial maze task was conducted 1 week following the completion of the T-maze tests. The latter task, modified as described by

Seamans and Phillips (18) and Nasir *et al.* (17), consists of a central octagonal platform with eight arms radiating from the middle ( $35 \times 9 \times 12$  cm); eight 6-W light bulbs mounted directly above food cups (-4cm from the base) were placed at the end of each arm. On the first 2 days the mice were acclimated to the maze for 10 minutes; no food was introduced. For the following three days, the animals were tested (two trials/day). On each trial day, four randomly selected arms were lit and baited with Kellogg's Froot Loops (Etobicoke, Ontario, Canada) cereal. Following food consumption, the light was turned off. After all four pellets had been retrieved (max. time allowed, 10 min) the animal was removed for a 5 min period and then placed back into the maze where the same four arms were lit and baited once again. The arm choices, the time latencies (s/min) to reach the food in the first arm chosen, and the total time required to complete the daily trial was recorded.

#### **DNA Analysis**

Animals were genotyped for wildtype and mutant alleles as described (11;12).

#### Brain and Blood Samples

The brain was removed within 5 s after death and homogenized (on ice) in 0.1 %(w/v) sodium dodecyl sulfate (19). Allo-isoleucine was added as an internal standard; homogenate was then incubated for 15 min at room temperature followed by the addition of 1.5 % (v/v) 5-sulfosalicylic acid dihydrate solution then vortexed and centrifuged at 14,000g for 15 min. The supernatant was extracted and frozen at -80°C until analysis. Blood was collected from tail into heparinized tubes and plasma was obtained by centrifugation.

#### Amino Acid Analysis

Amino acids were measured by HPLC on a Beckman 6300 automatic amino acid analyzer (Palo Alto, CA).

#### **Statistical Analysis**

We used single-factor analysis of variance (ANOVA) between the different genotypes (conducted for each factor measured). The Poisson heterogeneity test confirmed homogeneity within genotypes. All values reported on figures and text are expressed as mean  $\pm$  SEM.

#### RESULTS

#### Metabolic Manipulation and Catabolic Rates for Phe

ENU2 mice exhibit 10- to 20-fold elevated plasma phe levels and 10-fold increase in brain phe levels ( $P = 1.13 \times 10^{-11}$  and 4.7 x  $10^{-15}$ , respectively) when fed with breeder mouse chow (Fig. 1); the corresponding measurements for the ENU1/2, ENU1, ENU1/+, ENU2/+ and BTBR/Pas wildtype strains show near normal or normal values (ANOVA conducted between these genotypes showed P = 0.17 and 0.7 respectively). After the standardized injection to induce HPA in the ENU2 (initially made euphenylalaninemic, see materials and methods), ENU1, and ENU1/2 animals, the time-dependent plasma clearance rates (catabolic rates) (Fig. 2) show that ENU2 animals have the most severe metabolic phenotype, ENU1 animals the least severe, and ENU1/2 mice an intermediate phenotype.

#### Pah Enzyme Activity

We examined the relationship between hepatic Pah enzyme activity and plasma phe levels (Fig. 3). The ENU2 mice, with undetectable enzyme activity, have the most elevated plasma phe levels. ENU1 and ENU1/2 mice, with  $\sim 24$ and 5% normal enzyme activity, respectively, have near normal plasma phe levels under standard diet conditions. ENU2/+, ENU1/+ heterozygotes with  $\sim 49$  and

61% normal enzyme activity, have normal plasma phe levels as expected for a recessive trait.

#### **Enzyme Protein Levels**

Hepatic Pah protein levels, as visualized by immunoblotting of liver extracts, are different in the 3 ENU phenotypes (Fig. 4). These findings imply that enzyme stability may vary with genotype: The ENU1 mutation apparently affects stability (and therefore activity) of the protein, evident by the clearly reduced level of immunoreactive Pah. The ENU2 mutation, which impairs enzyme activity, may also affect stability; it produces somewhat diminished but easily detectable protein, evident by the substantial amounts of immunoreactivity. The ENU1/2 compound is intermediate in both protein stability and enzyme activity. These findings were consistent in 6 replicates.

#### Maternal Effect

The ENU2 dams with severe HPA conferred a severe maternal effect on offspring; the other strains did not, the effect being dependent on the degree of HPA (Table 1). ANOVA analyses showed a significant reduction in the number of litters and of progeny at birth and of those surviving to weaning only from the ENU2 mothers (P < 0.00014 and 0.0008, respectively).

#### Behavior

The T-maze alternation test assesses simple discrimination learning and short-term memory; we observed impaired behavior only in the ENU2 animals (Table 2). The Win-Stay eight-arm radial maze task measures reference memory, habit learning, and memory for a visual stimulus. Only the ENU2 model showed impaired behavior (Table 2).

#### DISCUSSION

Animal models assist the study of disease phenotypes and potential therapies (20). Mouse models offer the added advantage in that their genomes are highly homologous with the human genome (21). In addition the mouse and human phenylalanine hydroxylase genes have ~87% conservation of the nucleotide sequence, with ~10% of the changes silent; the corresponding proteins have 95% conserved amino acid sequences (15). Here we have described and compared phenotypes of control (BTBR/Pas) and mutant strains ( $Pah^{enu1/1}$ ,  $Pah^{enu2/2}$ ,  $Pah^{enu1/2}$ , and their heterozygous counterparts), the mutants being orthologues of human PKU and non-PKU HPA (Fig. 5).

The ENU1 mouse, which displays a mild phenotype (non-PKU HPA), carries a mutation in exon 3 (12) affecting the N-terminal region of the enzyme distant from the catalytic residues of PAH/Pah, recently identified by crystallographic analysis of the human enzyme (22;23). The ENU2 counterpart has a mutation in exon 7, which includes the catalytic region; the site is predicted to have  $\pi$ -stacking interactions with the substrate (24). The resulting phenotype is PKU-like (12). The ENU1/2 heteroallelic counterpart displays an intermediate phenotype.

Pah enzyme activities of the various models correlate inversely with the corresponding phe levels in plasma and brain and with plasma phe clearance time. ENU2 mice with undetectable enzyme activity have  $\sim 20$ -fold elevated plasma and brain phe levels, and the slowest clearance rate, while ENU1 and ENU1/2 mice with  $\sim 24$  and 5% normal enzyme activity, respectively, have near normal plasma and brain phe levels and more normal clearance rates. The carrier counterparts, having approximately half the normal enzyme activity, display normal plasma and brain phe levels. These metrical traits are those expected for an autosomal recessive phenotype (25).

Pah protein shows different states of stability in the different ENU phenotypes. The ENU1 mutation results in protein instability, whereas the ENU2

mutation has only a minor effect on this parameter. Stability in the ENU1/2 compound is intermediate in comparison.

The behavioral assessment of ENU2 mice shows impaired simple discrimination in short-term memory, reference memory, habit learning, and memory for a visual stimulus. The other genotypes were correspondingly unaffected in clinical measures. These observations concur with earlier findings (26).

The maternal effect on offspring correlates directly with the degree of HPA and is apparent only with the ENU2 mothers; the effect is completely independent of paternal genotype. These findings resemble human data where maternal plasma phe levels below the 400  $\mu$ M range are usually associated with normal fetal outcome (1).

The ENU1/2 mouse model has been particularly useful for measuring the response to an alternative therapy for PKU, namely oral administration of phenylalanine ammonia lyase in an effort to degrade excess phe from the accumulated pools (11). Our present studies demonstrate proof of principle, both pharmacological and physiological. The present report describes in detail the parameters available to measure the short- and long-term responses to this therapy and document the advantages of the ENU1/2 strain for this work.

#### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

This work was supported in part by the Medical Research Council (Canada), the Canadian Genetic Diseases Network (CGDN) (Networks of Centers of Excellence), and a contract for maintenance of the mice from IBEX via CGDN. Studentship awards were supported by the Garrod Association (Canada), McGill University-Montreal Children's Hospital Research Institute, and The Auxiliary (Montreal Children's Hospital).

TABLE 1 Maternal effect on number and size of litters and survival to weaning (Mean  $\pm$  SE, n = 5)

Maternal Genotype	Average No. of litters/mated female	Average No. of litters surviving to weaning/mated female	Average No. of progeny at birth/litter	Average No. of progeny surviving to weaning/litter
Control	1.9 ± 0.2	$1.6 \pm 0.1$	8.0 ± 0.7	7.1 ± 0.8
ENU1/+	$2.0\pm0.3$	$1.6 \pm 0.5$	8.1 ± 1.2	$7.6 \pm 1.4$
ENU2/+	3.1 ± 0.4	$1.9 \pm 0.3$	$6.6\pm0.6$	4.9 ± 0.7
ENU1	$2.7 \pm 0.2$	$1.9 \pm 0.2$	$6.2 \pm 0.5$	$5.0\pm0.5$
ENU1/2	3.1 ± 1.3	$2.1 \pm 0.4$	$6.0\pm0.8$	$5.3\pm0.8$
ENU2	$1.3\pm0.2$	$0 \pm 0^a$	1.3 ± 0.9	0 ± 0°

 $^{4}$ ANOVA, P < 0.00014.

 $^{b}$ ANOVA, P < 0.0008.

Test	ENU2	Remaining genotypes combined	Significance (P)
T-maze alternation test			
Increase in average time required to reach food (s)	20.7 ± 6.7	5.2-10.3 ± 0.4-2.1	< 0.005
The Win-Stay eight-arm radial maze task			
Reduction in the No. of entries into initially lit arms	$5.5 \pm 0.3$	6.2-7.5 ± 0.4-0.5	< 0.03
Increase in average time required to reach food (s)	58.3 ± 15.5	5.6-13.1 ± 1.3-1.9	< 4 x 10 <sup>9</sup>
Increase in average time to complete trials (s)	290.0 ± 36.0	71.8-138.6 ± 6.4-13.4	< 8 x 10 <sup>-12</sup>

TABLE 2Behavioral assessment (Mean  $\pm$  SE, n = 6)



FIG. 1. Plasma phe values ( $\mu$ M, mean  $\pm$  SE, n = 4): Control (BTBR/Pas) mice, 91.2  $\pm$  6  $\mu$ M; ENU1/+, 58.5  $\pm$  7; ENU2/+, 65.7  $\pm$  1; ENU1, 93.4  $\pm$  8; ENU1/2, 147.0  $\pm$  29; ENU2, 1697.4  $\pm$  175. The corresponding brain phe values ( $\mu$ M, mean  $\pm$  SE) are Control, 76.9  $\pm$  6; ENU1/+, 120.3  $\pm$  10; ENU2/+, 112.5  $\pm$  5; ENU1, 123.6  $\pm$  1; ENU1/2, 150.7  $\pm$  42; ENU2, 876.4  $\pm$ 30.



**FIG. 2.** Plasma phe clearance rates for  $\blacktriangle$ , ENU1;  $\blacklozenge$ , ENU1/2; and  $\blacksquare$ , ENU2 animals loaded with a standard dose of phe (mean  $\pm$  SE; n = 5).



FIG. 3. Pah enzyme activity vs plasma phe values in control and HPA phenotypes (mean  $\pm$  SEM; n = 4). Enzyme activity and plasma phe levels of the ENU1/2 animals are intermediate compared to those of ENU1 and ENU2 animals (P < 0.05).



FIG. 4. Western blot for Pah protein in liver extracts (representative of 6 replicates). The  $\sim$  52-kDa band (arrow) is the Pah monomer; other faint bands represent non-specific binding, confirmed by their absence with purified human PAH (lane 1) and their presence in the wildtype mouse strain (lane 7). Lane 1: purified human PAH (hPAH); Lane 2: ENU2, Lane 3: ENU1/2; Lane 4: ENU1; Lane 5: ENU1/+; Lane 6: ENU2/+; Lane 7: Wildtype BTBR/Pas. Rainbow Marker used for reference.


FIG. 5. Classic mouse models of PKU and non-PKU HPA, induced by N-ethyl-N-nitrosourea (ENU) mutagenesis: A, control BTBR/Pas; B, Pah<sup>enul/+</sup> heterozygous carrier/wildtype; C, Pah<sup>enul/1</sup> non-PKU HPA orthologue; D, Pah<sup>enul/+</sup> heterozygous carrier/wildtype; E, Pah<sup>enul/2</sup> PKU orthologue; F, Pah<sup>enul/2</sup> heteroallelic orthologue.

#### REFRENCES

- Scriver, C.R., Kaufman, S., Eisensmith, R., and Woo, S.L.C. 1995. The Hyperphenylalaninemias. In *The Metabolic and Molecular Bases of Inherited Disease*. (7 ed.) Scriver, C.R., Beaudet, A.L., Sly, W.S., and Valle, D., editors. McGraw Hill Book Co, New York. 1015-1075.
- 2. Scriver, C.R. and Waters, P.J. 1999. Monogenic traits are not simple. Lessons from phenylketonuria. TIG 15:267-272.
- Shedlovsky, A., McDonald, J.D., Symula, D., and Dove, W.F. 1993. Mouse models of human phenylketonuria. *Genetics* 134:1205-1210.
- McDonald, J.D. 1995. Using high-efficiency mouse germline mutagenesis to investigate complex biological phenomena: genetic diseases, behavior, and development. *Proc Soc Exp Biol Med* 209:303-308.
- Scriver, C.R., Kaufman, S., and Woo, S.L.C. 1989. The Hyperphenylalaninemias. In The Metabolic Basis of Inherited Disease. Scriver, C.R., Beaudet, A.L., Sly, W.S., and Valle, D., editors. McGraw Hill Book Company, New York. 495-546.
- Russell, W.L., Kelly, E.M., Hunsicker, P.R., Bangham, J.W., Maddux, S.C., and Phipps, E.L. 1979. Specific locus test shows ethylnitrosourea to be the most potent mutagen in the mouse. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 76:5818-5819.
- McDonald, J.D., Bode, V.C., Dove, E.F., and Sedlovsky, A. 1990. Pah<sup>hph-5</sup>: A mouse mutant deficient in phenylalanine hydroxylase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA 87:1965-1967.
- 8. McDonald, J.D. 1994. The PKU mouse project: its history, potential and implications. Acta Paediatr 407:122-1123.

- Bode, V.C., McDonald, J.C., Guenet, J.-L., and Simon, S. 1988. hph-1: A mouse mutant with hereditary hyperphenylalaninemia induced by ethylnitrosourea mutagenesis. *Genetics* 118:299-305.
- Montanez, C.S. and McDonald, J.D. 1999. Linkage analysis of the hph-1 mutation and the GTP cyclohydrolase 1 structural gene. *Molec Genet & Metab* 68:91-92.
- Sarkissian, C., Shao, Z., Blain, F., Peevres, R., Su, H., Heft, R., Chang, T.M.S., and Scriver, C.R. 1999. A different approach to treatment of phenylketonuria: Phenylalanine degradation with recombinant phenylalanine ammonia lyase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* 96:2339-2344.
- 12. McDonald, J.D. and Charlton, C.K. 1997. Characterization of mutations at the mouse phenylalanine hydroxylase locus. *Genomics* 39:402-405.
- 13. Ledley, F.D., Grenett, H.E., and Woo, S.L. 1987. Biochemical characterization of recombinant human phenylalanine hydroxylase produced in *Escherichia coli*. *J Biol Chem* 262:2228-2233.
- 14. Kaufman, S. 1987. Phenylalanine 4-monooxygenase from rat liver. Methods in Enzymology 142:1-17.
- Ledley, F.D., Grenett, H.E., Dunbar, B.S., and Woo, S.L.C. 1990. Mouse phenylalanine hydroxylase. Homology and divergence from human phenylalanine hydroxylase. *Biochem J* 267:399-406.
- Cotton, R.G.H., McAdam, W., Jennings, I., and Morgan, F.J. 1988. A monocolnal antibody to aromatic amino acid hydroxylases. *Biochem J* 255:193-196.
- 17. Nasir, J., Floresco, S.B., O'Kusky, J.R., Diewert, V.M., Richman, J.M., Zeisler, J., Borowski, A., Marth, J.D., Phillips, A.G., and Hayden, M.R.

1995. Targeted disruption of the Huntington's disease gene results in embryonic lethality and behavioral and morphological changes in heterozygotes. *Cell* 81:811-823.

- Seamans, J.K. and Phillips, A.G. 1994. Selective memory impairments produced by transient lidocaine-induced lesions of the nucleus accumbens in rats. *Behav Neurosci* 108:456-468.
- Diomede, L., Romano, G., Guiso, G., Caccia, S., Nava, S., and Salmona, M. 1991. Interspecies and interstrain studies on the increased susceptibility to metrozol-induced convulsions in animals given aspartame. Fd Chem Toxic 29:101-106.
- Scriver, C.R. and Kaufman, S. 2001. Hyperphenylalaninemia: Phenylalanine Hydroxylase Deficiency. In *The Metabolic and Molecular Bases of Inherited Disease*. (8 ed.) Scriver, C.R., Beaudet, A.L., Sly, W.S., Valle, D., Assoc.eds.Childs, B., Kinzler, K., and Vogelstein, B., editors. McGraw Hill., New York.
- 21. Nadeau, J.H. 1989. Maps of lineage and synteny homologies between mouse and man. TIG 5:82-86.
- Erlandsen, H., Fusetti, F., Martinez, A., Hough, E., Flatmark, T., and Stevens, R.C. 1997. Crystal structure of the catalytic domain of human phenylalanine hydroxylase reveals the structural basis of phenylketonuria. *Nat Struct Biol* 4:995-1000.
- Fusetti, F., Erlandsen, H., Flatmark, T., and Stevens, R.C. 1998. Structure of tetrameric human phenylalanine hydroxylase and its implications for phenylketonuria. J Biol Chem 273:16962-16967.

- 24. Erlandsen, H. and Stevens, R.C. 1999. The structural basis of Phenylketonuria. *Molec Genet Metab* 68:103-125.
- 25. Kacser, H. and Burns, J.A. 1981. The molecular basis of dominance. *Genetics* 97:639-666.
- Zagreda, L., Goodman, J., Druin, D.P., McDonald, D., and Diamond, A.
  1999. Cognitive deficits in a genetic mouse model of the most common biochemical cause of human mental retardation. *J Neurosci* 19:6175-6182.

## **CONNECTING TEXT**

In Chapter 3 I use the animal models to measure brain concentrations of phenylalanine derived metabolites, PPA, PAA and PLA. The pathogenic effect of these metabolites in PKU and non-PKU HPA have long been debated and the objective of this study was to understand better their possible contribution towards the phenotypic outcome. The availability of human surrogates allowing access to brain tissue sampling and a method sensitive enough to measure these metabolites were two prior problems that prevented the completion of this study. The first problem was overcome with the availability of non-PKU HPA, PKU and control mouse orthologues, as described in Chapter 2. The solution to the second obstacle is described here. A method has been developed based upon stable isotope dilution techniques, coupled with negative ion chemical ionization gas chromatography/mass spectrometry to measure PPA, PAA, PLA. I have used this method to measure these phe metabolites in the mouse brain tissue.

# **CHAPTER 3**

### Measurement of phenyllactate, phenylacetate and phenylpyruvate by negative ion chemical ionization – gas chromatography/mass spectrometry in brain of mouse genetic models of phenylketonuria and non-phenylketonuria hyperphenylalaninemia

Christineh N. Sarkissian, Charles R. Scriver, Orval A. Mamer

Status: Published in <u>Analytical Biochemistry</u> (280) 242-249, 2000. (Copyright © 2000 by Academic Press) (http://www.apnet.com) Reprinted by permission of the publisher

#### ABSTRACT

Phenylketonuria (PKU) (OMIM 261600) is the first Mendelian disease to have an identified chemical cause of impaired cognitive development. The disease is accompanied by hyperphenylalaninemia (HPA) and elevated levels of phenylalanine metabolites (phenylacetate (PAA), phenyllactate (PLA), and phenylpyruvate (PPA)) in body fluids. Here we describe a method to determine the concentrations of PAA, PPA, and PLA in the brain of normal and mutant orthologous mice, the latter being models of human PKU and non-PKU HPA. Stable isotope dilution techniques are employed with the use of  $[{}^{2}H_{3}]$ -phenylacetic acid and [2,3,3-<sup>2</sup>H<sub>3</sub>]-3-phenyllactic acid as internal standards. Negative ion chemical ionization NICI-GC/MS analyses are performed on the pentafluorobenzyl ester derivatives formed in situ in brain homogenates. Unstable PPA in the homogenate is reduced by  $NaB^{2}H_{4}$  to stable PLA, which is labelled with a single deuterium and discriminated from endogenous PLA in the mass spectrometer on that basis. The method demonstrates that these metabolites are easily measured in normal mouse brain and are elevated moderately in HPA mice and greatly in PKU mice. However, their concentrations are not sufficient in PKU to be "toxic"; phenylalanine itself remains the chemical candidate causing impaired cognitive development.

#### INTRODUCTION

Phenylketonuria (PKU) and related forms of non-PKU hyperphenylalaninemia (HPA) (1) are autosomal recessive disorders of amino acid metabolism, which result from primary dysfunction of phenylalanine hydroxylase (PAH), the hepatic enzyme responsible for catalysing the conversion of phenylalanine to tyrosine. PKU and HPA patients have elevated levels in body fluids of phenylalanine (phe) and of metabolites derived from phenylalanine (phenylpyruvate (PPA), phenylacetate (PAA), and phenyllactate (PLA)) (2;3). Untreated PKU probands usually have severe irreversible mental retardation; the risk of mental retardation is less in the conditions with a lower degree of HPA (non-PKU HPA).

The free phe pool in the normal subject is derived from two sources: intake of exogenous dietary protein and turnover of endogenous polypeptides. Approximately 25% of the free pool is normally incorporated into protein; most of the remaining 75% is hydroxylated to tyrosine and only a trivial fraction is transaminated to PPA under normal conditions (4). PAH enzyme catalyzes the hydroxylation reaction; when its activity is absent or reduced (as in PKU and to a lesser degree in non-PKU HPA), the free phe pool expands, if dietary phe input is not reduced. At this stage, the degradative transamination pathway, involving conversion of phe to PPA (the initial reaction in this pathway) becomes significant at a modal phe value of  $\sim 0.5$  mM (2-5). PPA is subsequently converted to PLA and PAA and phenylacetylglutamine (1). Whether these metabolites actually contribute to pathogenesis of cognitive impairment has long been debated (3;5).

Orthologous mouse models of PKU and non-PKU HPA exist (6-8) which allow us to measure phe and its metabolites in brain in various degrees of HPA. Here we describe a GC/MS method to measure phenylalanine metabolites based upon stable isotope dilution techniques, coupled with negative ion chemical ionization (NICI).

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

The method measures PAA as the pentafluorobenzyl (PFB) ester with  $[^{2}H_{5}]$ phenylacetic acid (PAAd<sub>5</sub>) as internal standard, and PLA as the PFB and trifluoroacetate (TFA) diester with  $[2,3,3-^{2}H_{3}]$ -phenyllactic acid (PLAd<sub>3</sub>) as internal standard. PPA is reduced to  $[2-^{2}H]$ -phenyllactic acid (PLAd<sub>1</sub>) by addition of sodium borodeuteride (NaB<sup>2</sup>H<sub>4</sub>) to the supernatant of the tissue homogenate, and is measured in the manner similar to that for PLA.

#### Mouse Models

The homozygous mutant strain  $Pah^{enu2/2}$  (phenotype name, ENU2) and  $Pah^{enu1/1}$  (ENU1) are orthologues of human PKU and non-PKU HPA, respectively (http://www.mcgill.ca/pahdb/mouse). They were developed by treating wildtype mice (BTBR/Pas background (used as controls)) with the alkylating agent *N*-ethyl-*N*-nitrosourea (6;7;9). Produced in Wisconsin, they were kindly given to us by W. Dove and A. Shedlovsky. They display a range of phenotypic characteristics comparable to those of affected human individuals (10).

#### Preparation of Internal Standard Solution

PAAds: A 0.071 mM PAAds stock solution was prepared by dissolution of 1.0 mg (CDN isotopes) in 100 ml deionized H<sub>2</sub>O.

*PLAd3:* PPA (17 mg, 0.1 mmol, Sigma Chemical Co.) was dissolved in deuterium oxide (25 ml, CDN Isotopes) and made basic (pH > 12) with 3 drops of 40% NaO<sup>2</sup>H in <sup>2</sup>H<sub>2</sub>O. The resulting solution was held at 60° C for 1 hr and then rotary evaporated to near-dryness. The residue was taken up in a 10 ml aliquot of <sup>2</sup>H<sub>2</sub>O and held at 60°C for 1 hr. This solution was cooled to room temperature and NaB<sup>2</sup>H<sub>4</sub> (approximately 5 mg, CDN Isotopes) was added. The resulting solution was warmed to 50°C for 10 min, cooled in an ice bath, and slowly acidified to pH < 2 with 2 N HCl (caution: vigorous evolution of hydrogen). The solution was saturated with NaCl and extracted with three 10 ml volumes of diethyl ether. The ether extracts were combined, made anhydrous by addition of solid anhydrous Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> (2 successive 1-g lots), and then evaporated to dryness in a dry nitrogen stream. The product, PLAd<sub>3</sub>, was obtained (14 mg, 83% crude yield) in oil form, free of residual PPA as determined by GC/MS analysis of the trimethylsilyl derivatives. Extensive experience with reductions of ketoacids with NaB<sup>2</sup>H<sub>4</sub> in this laboratory shows that these reductions are quantitative. The isotopic purity was determined to be 97% as the triply deuterium- labeled isotopomer. Approximately 14 mg of the crude product was dissolved in deionized water (100 ml) to be used as the internal standard for PLA and PLAd<sub>1</sub> determinations. The concentration of this internal standard was determined by a reverse stable isotope dilution assay, measuring relative ion intensities in a solution with unlabeled PLA of known concentration. The final concentration of the PLAd<sub>3</sub> internal standard solution was 0.787 mM.

#### **Brain Sample Preparation**

Brains were removed within 5 s following decapitation of ENU2, ENU1 and control animals fed with standard rodent diet (Teklad No. 8604) (n =6/genotype) and immediately homogenized in minimal 20°C deionized water (1:1. w/v) to which we added the labeled internal standards (100  $\mu$ l each of the PLAd<sub>3</sub> and PAAd solutions). The total volume was made up to 1 ml, adjusted to pH 10-12 with dilute KOH,  $NaB^{2}H_{4}$  (2 mg) added immediately, and the tubes placed in 50°C water for 10 min. PFB derivatives were prepared in the manner previously reported (11) with the following stock solutions: A, methylene chloride (20 ml) and pentafluorobenzyl bromide (0.4 ml, Aldrich Chemical Co.); B, potassium phosphate buffer (pH 7.4, 100 ml) and tetrabutylammonium hydrogen sulfate (3.4 g, Aldrich Chemical Co.) adjusted to pH 7.4 with 2 N KOH. Solutions A (0.25 ml) and B (0.25 ml) were combined in a separate tube, 0.25 ml of tissue homogenate supernatant was added, the mixture was vortexed for 2 min and then placed in an ultrasonic bath for 20 min at room temperature. Hexane (2 ml) was added, the mixture vortexed for 1 min, the hexane layer then removed and dried by addition of anhydrous sodium sulfate (10 mg) with vortexing for 1 min. The hexane layer was next decanted into a separate tube, N-methyl-bistrifluoroacetamide (MBTFA, 50  $\mu$ l, Pierce Chemical Co.) added then vortexed and placed into a 50°C water bath for 10 min. A 1 N sodium bicarbonate solution (2 ml) was added to the tube and the mixture vortexed for 1 min. The hexane layer was finally removed into a separate tube, anhydrous sodium sulfate was added and the mixture vortexed for 1 min. An aliquot of this final hexane solution was transferred to an autoinjector vial for GC/MS analysis.

#### **Blank Sample**

Blank samples were prepared with deionized water equal in volume to the brain tissue homogenate supernatants. These samples were processed and analyzed as described for the tissue samples.

#### **GC/MS** Analysis

Aliquots  $(1 \ \mu l)$  of the derivatized mixtures were analyzed in NICI mode with a Hewlett-Packard 5988A GC/MS fitted with a 30 m x 0.25 mm i.d. capillary column (J & W Scientific) coated with a 0.25  $\mu$ m DB-1 film. The helium flow rate was 2 ml/min; the injector and interface temperatures were 250° C. The column was temperature programmed from 100° C after a 1 min hold to 120°C at 40°C/min and then at 10°C/min to 280°C. The column was baked out at 280°C for 5 min at the completion of each sample analysis. Methane was used as the moderator gas at an indicated source pressure of 0.6 mbar and the ion source temperature was 120°C. Selected ion mode was used to measure the intensities of negative ion fragments m/z 135, 140, 261, 262, and 264 with dwell times of 50 ms each. These fragments arise by the loss of the pentafluorobenzyl radical from the molecular anions of the PFB derivatives of PAA and PAAds, and the PFB/TFA derivatives of PLA, PLAd<sub>1</sub>, and PLAd<sub>3</sub>, respectively.

#### Amino Acid Quantitation

Whole blood was collected from mouse tails into heparinized tubes, plasma was separated by centrifugation, and after deproteinization the amino acid content was analyzed by HPLC on a Beckman 6300 automatic amino acid analyzer.

Whole brain amino acids were analyzed according to the method described by Diomede *et al.* (12). Brain tissue was removed within 5 s after decapitation and homogenized (on ice) in 0.5% sodium dodecyl sulfate solution (1:4, w/v). Alloisoleucine was added as an internal standard and the homogenate was then incubated for 15 min at room temperature. A 4% solution of 5-sulfosalicylic acid dihydrate solution (1:0.6, v/v) was added, and the mixture was centrifuged at 14,000g for 15 min. The supernatant was decanted and frozen at -80°C until analyzed by HPLC as above.

#### **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

NICI mass spectra obtained for the PFB esters of authentic PAA and PAAds standards are shown in Fig. 1. The most intense ions correspond to the carboxylate anions (m/z 135 and 140, respectively) produced by the loss of the pentafluorobenzyl radical (181 Da) from the molecular anions (m/z 316 and 321, respectively, not detected). Loss of HF (20 Da) from the molecular anions, which is commonly observed in derivatives of this nature, is detectable, although not apparent in Fig. 1. The 140-Da fragment in the spectrum of PAAds confirms that all labelling is intact in the ion measured. SIM analysis of PAAds shows that the unlabeled content is 1.39% relative to the labelled. This is taken into account in the calculations of the endogenous concentrations of PAA.

NICI spectra for the PFB esters of the trifluoroacetyl esters of unlabelled and labelled PLA are shown in Fig. 2. The most intense ions (m/z 261, 262 and 264) represent the carboxyl anions produced by the loss of the pentafluorobenzyl radical from the molecular anions m/z 442, 443 and 445 (not detected) of unlabelled authentic PLA, PLAd<sub>1</sub> synthesized from PPA by reduction with NaB<sup>2</sup>H<sub>4</sub>, and synthesized PLAd<sub>2</sub> (internal standard), respectively. The PLAd<sub>1</sub> isotopomer

96

corresponds to PPA in the original homogenate. It is essential that the 2-hydroxyl group of the PLA isotopomers be derivatized because decomposition by dehydration at GC temperatures would lead to deuterium label loss. The PLAd<sub>3</sub> synthesized and used as internal standard was found by SIM analysis to be 97.17% PLAd<sub>3</sub>, 2.66% PLAd<sub>2</sub>, 0.001% PLAd<sub>1</sub>, and 0.16% PLAd<sub>0</sub>. Reduction of authentic PPA by NaB<sup>2</sup>H<sub>4</sub> yielded PLAd<sub>1</sub> that was 0.29% unlabelled, a measure of the isotopic purity of the lot of NaB<sup>2</sup>H<sub>4</sub> which was used for the entire study.

SIM chromatograms obtained for one of the calibrating mixtures containing PAA, PAAds, and unlabelled PLA are shown in Fig. 3. The PAA isotopomers are represented by the carboxylate anions (m/z 135 and 140) formed by the loss of the pentafluorobenzyl moiety from the molecular anions (not detectable). The PLA chromatograms (m/z 261, 262, and 264) would normally represent the carboxylate anions of unlabelled PLA, PLAd1 (formed by the reduction of PPA by NaB<sup>2</sup>D4), and the internal standard PLAd3, respectively formed by the loss of the pentafluorobenzyl moiety from the molecular anions of the PFB-TFA derivatives. In this instance, the measured relative intensities are for unlabelled PLA substituted with only natural abundance heavy isotopes. The intensities of m/z 262 and 264 measured in the ion cluster relative to m/z 261 are 12.47 and 0.13%, respectively, and compare well with the calculated values of 12.51 and 0.12%, respectively.

The calibration curves for all three metabolites, over the expected physiological ranges, are shown in Fig. 4. A linear response is demonstrated for each metabolite ( $R^2 > 0.98$  for each metabolite). The response for PPA (measured as PLAd<sub>1</sub>) is approximately 72% that of PLAd<sub>0</sub>. This is possibly due to lack of purity or homogeneity in the PPA originally weighed out. Analysis of the PPA as the TMS derivative shows the presence of small but significant quantities of PLA and PAA. The sensitivity of our method (for all three metabolites) is estimated to be 0.1 nmol/g brain tissue.

Typical chromatograms for normal (Fig. 5), ENU1 (Fig. 6) and ENU2 (Fig. 7) mouse brain are shown. In normal mouse brain PAA is detectable (m/z 135) at low levels, while PLA and PPA (m/z 261 and 262) are essentially absent (Fig. 5).

The apparently inverted peak (retention time, 9.02 min) in the responses for m/z 135 and 140 results from the elution of a large unidentified peak which temporarily depletes the thermal electron atmosphere in the ion source.

The ENU1 (non-PKU HPA) mouse brain (Fig. 6) contains elevated levels of PLA and PPA (m/z 261 and 262). The minor variation in the PAA levels between the ENU1 and normal mice demonstrates that at normal or near normal (physiological) phe levels the transamination pathway contributes insignificantly to the brain metabolic phenotype in the variant HPA state.

The ENU2 (PKU-like) mouse (Fig. 7) shows greatly increased concentrations of all three metabolites. The well-known tendency for deuterium-labeled analogs to elute slightly earlier than the corresponding unlabelled compounds is apparent.

The correlation between plasma phe and brain metabolites is shown in Table 1. BTBR/Pas-wildtype and ENU1 animals, displaying normal (<100  $\mu$ M) or low (150-400  $\mu$ M) plasma phe levels, respectively, have low phe metabolite levels in brain. This finding implies that the transamination pathway comes into play only at phe levels above 0.4 mM, as implied by the findings in the ENU2 animals, moreover correlating well with previous observations (see Fig. 15-1 in ref. (5)). When present, metabolite levels have a rank order PLA > PAA > PPA. The relationship between plasma and brain phenylalanine levels in the mouse models is given in Table 2.

Our data are among the first reporting direct measurements of brain phe metabolites in PKU and non-PKU HPA. A preliminary report by Evans (13) compared brain and body fluid metabolites in control and ENU2 mice. Here we present a formal analysis of PLA, PAA, and PPA in brains of orthologous mice with PKU and non-PKU HPA and compare them with control values. Our interest was to study phe metabolite concentrations in brain independent of their levels in blood or urine; the latter were the focus of most earlier studies. The data show that brain metabolite concentrations correlate positively with plasma phe levels. More important, the levels of the metabolite measured here do not reach levels of toxicity predicted for human subjects by Kaufman (3) and documented in earlier studies (14).

98

Taking into account assumptions about distributions of metabolites in the intracellular and extracellular space of brain, the levels of metabolites measured here are 10-fold lower than those associated with toxicity in brain (14). Nonetheless, our PKU (ENU2) mice exhibit the behavioural and cognitive impairment expected in PKU (10), and which we attribute primarily to the effect of phenylalanine itself. On the other hand, in certain untreated PKU patients with normal cognitive function, brain phe values are not elevated in the presence of high blood values, as measured by MRI (see ref. (15)); an independent impediment of blood/brain phe transport has been offered as an explanation. Our use of both the analytical method and the orthologous mouse model of the human is offered here as a contribution toward resolving a long standing controversy about pathogenesis of the cognitive phenotype in PKU.

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was supported in part by the Medical Research Council (Canada), the Canadian Genetic Diseases Network (CGDN) (Networks of Centers of Excellence) and a contract for maintenance of the mice from IBEX via CGDN. Studentship awards were supported by the McGill University - Montreal Children's Hospital Research Institute, the Garrod Association (Canada) and The Auxiliary (Montreal Children's Hospital).

# TABLE 1Relationship between brain phe metabolites and plasma phe levels in three<br/>phenotypes (normal, ENU1, and ENU2) $(n = 6/genotype, Mean \pm SE)$

Mouse Models	Plasma Phenylalanine Concentration (µM)	PPA (nmol/g brain)	PAA (nmol/g brain)	PLA (nmol/g brain)
Control	<100	$1.2 \pm 0.1$	$2.7 \pm 0.3$	$0.2 \pm 0.1$
ENU1	150-400	$1.2 \pm 0.1$	$2.2 \pm 0.5$	$0.9 \pm 0.3$
ENU2	1400-3000	2.2 + 0.3	7.4 + 1.6	59.3 + 21.8

TABLE 2 Relationships between plasma and brain phe values in three mouse models ( $\mu$ M, n=6, Mean ± SE)

Mouse Models	Plasma phenylalanine concentration (µM)	Brain phenylalanine concentration (µM)	
Control	74.4 ± 8.8	70.1 ± 6.5	
ENU1	$181.5 \pm 23.3$	$120.6 \pm 8.1$	
ENU2	$1882.7 \pm 156.5$	886.97 ± 26.6	



FIG. 1. NICI mass spectra obtained for the PFB derivatives of unlabelled PAA and PAAds. Intensities of ions with masses greater than 145 Da have been multiplied by 20, and appear not to be related to the sample. The intense ions at m/z 135 and 140 carry nearly the entirety of the ion current produced and correspond to the carboxylate anions formed by the loss of the pentafluorobenzyl radical from the molecular anions. While the molecular anions expected at m/z 316 and 321, respectively, are not detected, very weak ion currents attributable to loss of HF from the molecular anions (not shown) confirm the nature of the derivatives.



FIG. 2. NICI mass spectra obtained for the PFB derivatives of the TFA esters of unlabelled PLA, PLAd<sub>1</sub>, and PLAd<sub>3</sub>. Intensities of ions with masses greater than 270 have been multiplied by 50 to show that they appear not to be related to the sample, as the masses show no incrementing dependent upon labelling. The carboxylate anions at m/z 261, 262, and 264 formed by the loss of the pentafluorobenzyl radical from the molecular anions (m/z 442, 443, and 445, not detected) carry nearly all the ion current.



FIG. 3. SIM chromatograms for a calibrating mixture containing unlabelled PAA  $(m/z \ 135)$ , internal standard PAAds  $(m/z \ 140)$ , and unlabelled PLA  $(m/z \ 261)$ . Ion currents at  $m/z \ 262 \ (12.47\%$  relative to  $m/z \ 261$ ) and  $264 \ (0.13\%)$  are due to natural abundance heavy isotope inclusion in the carboxylate anion formed from the unlabelled PLA derivative.



FIG. 4. Calibration curves, showing linear responses for  $\blacklozenge$ , PLA;  $\blacksquare$ , PPA; and  $\blacktriangle$ , PAA; over physiological ranges. The abscissa represents weights of unlabeled metabolites added to calibrating aqueous solutions of 1 ml volume containing 1  $\mu$ g of PLAd<sub>3</sub> and 1  $\mu$ g of PAAd<sub>5</sub>. The ordinate represents the ratio of areas of unlabeled to labeled analogues obtained for these solutions.



FIG. 5. SIM chromatograms obtained for phe metabolites in the brain of a normal mouse. PAA (m/z 135) is clearly present, while PLA and PPA (m/z 261 and 262) are not detected in the present example. The ion current at m/z 264 is due to the PLAd<sub>3</sub> internal standard.



FIG. 6. SIM chromatograms obtained for phe metabolites in the brain of an ENU1 mouse. PAA is present at levels somewhat lower than in the normal mouse, and PLA and PPA are elevated slightly relative to the normal mouse. The retention times seen here are slightly different from Fig. 5 because in the interim the analytical column was replaced.



FIG. 7. SIM chromatograms obtained for phe metabolites in the brain of an ENU2 mouse. PAA, PLA, and PPA are all clearly elevated. The labelled internal standards (m/z 140 and 264) elute slightly earlier than their unlabelled analogues. The retention times seen here are again slightly different from Fig. 5 because in the interim the analytical column was replaced.

#### REFERENCES

- Scriver, C.R., Kaufman, S., Eisensmith, R., and Woo, S.L.C. 1995. The Hyperphenylalaninemias. In *The Metabolic and Molecular Bases of Inherited Disease*. (7 ed.) Scriver, C.R., Beaudet, A.L., Sly, W.S., and Valle, D., editors. McGraw Hill Book Co, New York. 1015-1075.
- Knox, W.E. 1972. Phenylketonuria. In The Metabolic Basis of Inherited Disease. (3 ed.) J.B.Stanbury, Wyngaarden, J.B., and Fredrickson, D.S., editors. McGraw Hill Book Co., New York. 266-295.
- 3. Kaufman, S. 1989. An evaluation of the possible neurotoxicity of metabolites of phenylalanine. *J Pediatr* 114:895-900.
- Kaufman,S. 1999. A model of human phenylalanine metabolism in normal subjects and in phenylketonuria patients. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 96:3160-3164.
- Scriver, C.R., Kaufman, S., and Woo, S.L.C. 1989. The Hyperphenylalaninemias. In The Metabolic Basis of Inherited Disease. (6 ed.) Scriver, C.R., Beaudet, A.L., Sly, W.S., and Valle, D., editors. McGraw Hill Book Company, New York. 495-546.
- 6. Shedlovsky, A., McDonald, J.D., Symula, D., and Dove, W.F. 1993. Mouse models of human phenylketonuria. *Genetics* 134:1205-1210.
- McDonald, J.D., Bode, V.C., Dove, E.F., and Sedlovsky, A. 1990. Pah<sup>hph-5</sup>: A mouse mutant deficient in phenylalanine hydroxylase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA 87:1965-1967.
- 8. Sarkissian, C. N., McDonald, J. D., and Scriver, C. R. Mouse Pah homologues. 1999. (http://data.mch.mcgill.ca/pahdb/mouse/sarkiss.html).

- 9. McDonald, J.D. and Charlton, C.K. 1997. Characterization of mutations at the mouse phenylalanine hydroxylase locus. *Genomics* 39:402-405.
- Sarkissian, C.N., Boulais, D.M., McDonald, J.D., and Scriver, C.R. 2000. A heteroallelic mutant mouse model: A new orthologue for human hyperphenylalaninemia. *Mol Genet Metab* 69:188-194.
- Hachey, D.L., Patterson, B.W., Reeds, P.J., and Elsas, L.J. 1991. Isotopic determination of organic keto acid pentafluorobenzyl esters in biological fluids by negative chemical ionization gas chromatography/mass spectrometry. *Anal Chem* 63:919-923.
- Diomede, L., Romano, G., Guiso, G., Caccia, S., Nava, S., and Salmona, M. 1991. Interspecies and interstrain studies on the increased susceptability to metrozol-induced convulsions in animals given aspartame. *Fd Chem Toxic* 29:101-106.
- Evans, J.E., Dyer, C.A., Levy, H.L., and Evans, B.A. 1994. Brain and body fluid metabolic profiling of phenylalanine hydroxylase deficient mice. Proceeding of the 42nd ASMS conference on mass spectrometry and allied topics, Chicago, III USA153, May 9 - June 3, p.153.
- 14. Silberberg, D.H. 1967. Phenylketonuria metabolites in cerebellum culture morphology. Arch Neurol 17:524-529.
- 15. Scriver, C.R. and Waters, P.J. 1999. Monogenic traits are not simple. Lessons from phenylketonuria. *TIG* 15:267-272.

# **CONNECTING TEXT**

In Chapter 4, I describe a different approach for the treatment of Phenylketonuria. The current dietary therapy is difficult to follow and although efforts to improve the organoleptic properties are ongoing, imperfections in the composition of the diet and compliance with it are a continuous concern. Therefore an alternative form of treatment using PAL enzyme substitution is suggested here. Access to human surrogates for pre-clinical drug administration testing and the availability of a commercial supply of PAL were two prior obstacles that needed to be resolved to make this work possible. Once again the first problem was overcome when mouse orthologues for PKU and non-PKU HPA became available. These animals were characterised and the protocol required for metabolic manipulation established in Chapters 2 and 3. A solution to the second obstacle is detailed here in Chapter 4, where an efficient recombinant approach to produce PAL enzyme is described and the product tested in orthologous ENU mutant mouse strains with HPA. Proofs of pharmacological and physiological principles for the efficacy of PAL therapy are established.

# **CHAPTER 4**

## A different approach to treatment of phenylketonuria: Phenylalanine degradation with recombinant phenylalanine ammonia lyase

Christineh N. Sarkissian, Zhongqi Shao, Françoise Blain, Rosalie Peevers, Hongsheng Su, Robert Heft, Thomas M. S. Chang, Charles R. Scriver

Status: published in Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences (USA) (96) 2339-2344 (1999) (Copyright <sup>©</sup> 1999 Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA) Reprinted with the permission of the publisher

#### ABSTRACT

Phenylketonuria (PKU), with its associated hyperphenylalaninemia (HPA) and mental retardation, is a classic genetic disease and the first to have an identified chemical cause of impaired cognitive development. Treatment from birth with low phenylalanine diet largely prevents the deviant cognitive phenotype by ameliorating HPA and is recognized as one of the first effective treatments of a genetic disease. However, compliance with dietary treatment is difficult and when it is for life, as now recommended by an internationally used set of guidelines, is probably unrealistic. Herein we describe experiments on a mouse model using another modality for treatment of PKU compatible with better compliance using ancillary phenylalanine ammonia lyase (PAL, EC 4.3.1.5) to degrade phenylalanine, the harmful nutrient in PKU; in this treatment, PAL acts as a substitute for the enzyme phenylalanine monooxygenase (PAH, EC 1.14.16.1) which is deficient in PKU. PAL, a robust enzyme without need for a cofactor, converts phenylalanine to transcinnamic acid, a harmless metabolite. We describe (i) an efficient recombinant approach to produce PAL enzyme, (ii) testing of PAL in orthologous N-ethyl-Nnitrosourea (ENU) mutant mouse strains with HPA, and (iii) proofs of principle (PAL reduces HPA) — both pharmacologic (with a clear dose-response effect vs. HPA after PAL injection) and physiologic (protected enteral PAL is significantly effective vs. HPA). These findings open a new way to facilitate treatment of this classic genetic disease.

#### INTRODUCTION

Phenylketonuria (PKU) (1) is the prototypical human Mendelian disease (OMIM 261600) demonstrating benefits from treatment (2). PKU and a related form of less harmful hyperphenylalaninemia (HPA, termed non-PKU HPA) result from impaired activity of phenylalanine hydroxylase (PAH; EC 1.14.16.1), the enzyme catalyzing conversion of the essential amino acid nutrient phenylalanine to tyrosine. The enzyme is responsible for disposal (by oxidative catabolism) of the majority of nutrient phenylalanine intake. The untreated PKU patient with persistent postnatal HPA is likely to experience irreversible impairment of cognitive development. Antenatal HPA, caused by transplacental transport of phenylalanine from the maternal pool to the fetus during a pregnancy in which there is maternal HPA, will harm the embryo and fetus. These disease-causing effects of PKU and maternal HPA are preventable by treatment to restore euphenylalaninemia (1).

Present treatment relies on the observation that a (semi-synthetic) diet low in phenylalanine (3-5) will prevent HPA and thus the disease. Because it involves a major alteration of lifestyle, dietary treatment is difficult. Moreover, dietary therapy can be associated with deficiencies of several nutrients (1), some of which may be detrimental to brain development (6;7). Moreover, most low phenylalanine treatment products have organoleptic properties sufficiently unsatisfactory that compliance with the treatment is compromised (8;9). Such concerns have greater relevance now that better and longer compliance with therapy of PKU and non-PKU HPA in all persons at risk has been recommended (10;11).

A combination of oral enzyme therapy with phenylalanine ammonia lyase (PAL; EC 4.3.1.5) and controlled low protein diet might replace dependence on the semisynthetic diet, for treatment of PKU after infancy (10;12). PAL is a robust, autocatalytic enzyme that, unlike PAH, does not require a cofactor (13). PAL converts phenylalanine to metabolically insignificant amounts of ammonia and *trans*-cinnamic acid, a harmless metabolite; the latter is converted to benzoic acid and rapidly excreted in urine as hippurate (14). A preliminary report indicates that HPA

is attenuated by oral administration of microencapsulated PAL in the rat with chemically induced HPA (15) and also, in preliminary studies, in naturally occurring HPA in a mouse model (16-18). Preliminary studies in human PKU patients showed analogous responses after the administration of PAL in enteric-coated gelatin capsules (19) or during use of an extracorporeal enzyme reactor (20). The human and even the animal studies were not continued because PAL was not available in sufficient amounts at reasonable cost.

(i) We used a construct of the PAL gene from Rhodosporidium toruloides (21) under the control of a high-expression promoter and expressed it in a strain of Escherichia coli to obtain large amounts of PAL (22). (ii) We used existing (23) (C.N.S.. J. and new strains D. McDonald. and **C.R.S**. at http://data.mch.mcgill.ca/pahdb/mouse/sarkiss.html) of the mutant N-ethyl-Nnitrosourea (ENU)-treated mouse as orthologous models of human PKU and HPA to study enzyme substitution therapy with PAL. (iii) We showed that i.p. PAL injection lowers plasma phenylalanine in the mouse model (proof of pharmacological principle), and oral gavage of these mice with PAL enzyme, protected from inactivation by digestive enzymes, lowers plasma phenylalanine (proof of physiological principle). These developments point to an alternative approach to treatment of PKU, compatible with current guidelines (10;11).

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Synthesis of Recombinant PAL

Amplification of the PAL Gene: R. toruloides [ATCC no. 10788] was purchased from the American Type Culture Collection . Cells were grown in minimal medium containing phenylalanine as the sole carbon source (24), total RNA was extracted with hot acidic phenol (25) from a mid-logarithmic-phase culture, and mRNA was isolated with the PolyATtract mRNA Isolation System (Promega). A cDNA pool was then synthesized using the RiboClone cDNA Synthesis System (Promega).

Oligonucleotides (RTJP, 5'-AAGAATTCATGGCACCCTCGCTCGACT CGATCTCG-3', and RT2, 5'-CCGAATTCTAAGCGATCTTGAGGAGGACGT-3'), synthesized on an Ecosyn D300 DNA synthesizer (Eppendorf) were designed to feature an EcoRI site at their 5' end and to be homologous to 5' and 3' ends of the published sequence of the R. toruloides PAL gene (refs. (26) and (27); GenBank accession no. X51513). PCR amplification (28) was performed in 100  $\mu$ l containing 100 pmol of each primer, 20 mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.0), 2 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 10 mM KCl, 6 mM (NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, 0.1% Triton<sup>A</sup>X-100, nuclease-free BSA at 10 mg/ml, all four dNPTs (each at 0.2 mM), 30 ng of cDNA as the template, and 5 units of Pfu DNA polymerase (Stratagene). Samples were incubated in a DNA thermal cycler (Barnstead/Thermolyne) at 95°C for 30 s, at 50°C for 1 min, and 72°C for 3 min; repeated for 35 cycles. The PCR product was analyzed on a 1% agarose gel containing 0.6 mg of ethidium bromide per ml and subsequently cloned in pBluescript KS+ (Stratagene). Identity of the PAL gene was verified by sequence analysis using an AutoRead sequencing kit and an automated A.L.F. DNA sequencer (Pharmacia).

E. coli Strains and Plasmids: E. coli XL-1Blue was the host used for general cloning and vector construction; E. coli Y1091 was the host for fermentation to produce PAL. E. coli IBX-4, used in the animal study, was isolated from a Sprague-Dawley rat and identified by using  $api20E^{\oplus}$  bacterial identification kit (BioMerieux, Charbonnier les Bains, France). Plasmid pBluescript was used for cloning PCR-amplified PAL fragments.

Construction of High-Expression PAL Plasmid pIBX-7: Plasmid pIBX-1 (29) was modified by site-directed mutagenesis, changing the unique BamHI site to an EcoRI site to allow cloning of the 2.2-kb PAL PCR fragment; the product was then further modified, which resulted in the deletion of the EcoRI sites. To increase expression, an additional *tac* promoter (*Ptac*) was synthesized by PCR and cloned downstream of the existing *Ptac*. The 5' Shine-Delgarno sequence (AGGAG) is separated from the ATG codon by a 9-nt sequence (ACAGAATTT). Kanamycin resistance for selection of *PAL*-containing cells was conferred by substituting the Kanamycin resistance gene for the ampicillin resistance gene of pIBX-1. The plasmid was transformed into *E. coli* (hosts Y1091 and IBX-4) and induced with isopropyl- $\beta$ -Dthiogalactoside (1 mM) for expression. The expression levels are similar in both hosts when cultured in shaken flasks (data not shown).

Purification of PAL Enzyme from Cell Extract: Frozen E. coli cells (Y1091; 500 g) expressing plasmid pIBX-7 were suspended in 2 L of Buffer A (30 mM Tris-HCL, pH 8.0/10 mM phenylalanine/2 mM cysteine) to which DNase I (5 mg/L) and 5 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub> were added. The cell suspension was homogenized three times in a Rannie MiniLab 8.30H high-pressure homogenizer (APV Canada, Montreal) at 700 bar (1 bar = 100 kPa); between passages, the suspension was cooled to  $12^{\circ}$ C. The homogenate was centrifuged (14,100 x g) for 1 hr at  $4^{\circ}$ C, the supernatant containing PAL protein diluted 2-3 fold in water and loaded on a column containing 1.25 L Q-Sepharose Big Beads (Pharmacia). Washes were performed at a linear flow rate of 153 ml/hr with three column volumes of Buffer A followed by 3 column volumes of Buffer B (30 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.0/10 mM phenylalanine/2 mM cysteine/1 M NaCl). PAL protein is eluted with Buffer B in a linear gradient (3% - 100%) in six column volumes; the fractions with PAL activity were pooled. Ammonium sulphate was added slowly to the eluates (final concentration, 50%), stirred (30 min) at room temperature and then centrifuged (14,700 x g for 30 min at 4°C). The final PAL protein pellet was dissolved in a minimal amount of Buffer C (50 mM sodium phosphate, ph7.5/5 mM phenylalanine/1 mM glutathione).

#### **ENU Mice**

The ENU mouse models, deficient in hepatic Pah enzyme activity, were created by treating wildtype mice (BTBR/Pas background) with the alkylating agent ENU. The original strains *Pahenul/1*(ENU1) and *Pahenu2/2*(ENU2), from W. Dove and A. Shedlovsky, (University of Wisconsin, Madison), were produced in Wisconsin (23;30) and genotyped by J. D. McDonald (31). We produced the hybrid heteroallelic strain *Pahenul/2*(ENU1/2) in our facilities (see http://www.mcgill.ca/pahdb/ Pah Mouse / Mouse Pah Homologues). (All procedures described below have been reviewed and approved by the Animal Care Committee, McGill University).

The homozygous mutant ENU1 mouse is a counterpart of human non-PKU HPA. It has a missense mutation in the Pah gene [c.  $364T \rightarrow C$  in exon 3 (V106A)] (30;31), and on breeder diet (product 8626, Teklad, Madison, WI), it has both a normal plasma phenylalanine level and normal behavior but can be made hyperphenylalaninemic under controlled conditions with a phenylalanine load [by s.c. injection or gavage of L-phenylalanine at 1.1 mg/g (body weight)]. The homozygous mutant ENU2 mouse is a counterpart of human PKU. It has a missense mutation [c.  $835T \rightarrow C$  in exon 7 (F263S)] (23;31). On breeder diet, it has 10- to 20-fold elevated plasma phenylalanine and phenylketones in urine; euphenylalaninemia in this strain was achieved for these studies by placing mice on a diet free of phenylalanine (product 2826, Teklad) with ad libitum water containing L-phenylalanine (30 mg/L), for 3 consecutive days. After establishing euphenvlalaninemia, ENU2 animals received standardized s.c. injections of Lphenylalanine [0.1mg/g (body weight)] to achieve reproducible HPA.

We developed the new ENU1/2 strain by crossing female ENU1 and male ENU2/+; all parents and offspring were typed by DNA analysis. The mutant heteroallelic animals have a normal plasma phenylalanine level on breeder diet but easily achieve a modest elevation, to levels between that of untreated ENU1 and ENU2, by s.c. injection or gavage of L-phenylalanine [1.1mg/g (body weight)]. The ENU strains are further described on our web site (see above).

#### Protocols to Study the Effect of PAL Enzyme on Phenotype

*i.p.* Administration of Recombinant PAL (for Proof of Pharmacological Principle): Studies were done on mice, younger than 1 year of age (all three strains). Each animal served as its own control; a sham (saline) injection was given in the first week, followed by the PAL injection 1 week later (same day of the week and time of day). Efficacy of i.p. PAL was measured by change in the plasma phenylalanine between the first and second week; animals (n = 5 per trial) received 2, 20, and 100 units of PAL. ENU1 and ENU1/2 animals were fasted overnight before to the experiment. Food was reintroduced after PAL administration. During the first week, 0.2ml of saline i.p. was followed directly by an L-phenylalanine challenge [1.1mg/g (body weight) by gavage] for the ENU1 and ENU1/2 mice; tail blood samples taken at zero min and 1, 2, 3, and 24 hr after the phenylalanine challenge. For the second-week protocol, PAL (replacing saline) was diluted to the dosage required with 0.1M Tris·HCl (pH 8.5).

Gavage of Recombinant PAL (for Proof of Physiological Principle): Studies were done in mice younger than 1 year of age. Each animal served as its own control and efficacy of PAL treatment was measured by change in plasma phenylalanine. We used two different PAL preparations: (i) recombinant PAL inside E. coli cells (IBX-4) and (ii) unprotected PAL (purified from Y1091 E. coli cells) in solution with aprotinin (protease inhibitor). Saline gavage was used as the control treatment. Plasma phenylalanine levels were adjusted in ENU2 animals (n = 4) to achieve euphenylalaninemia. In the first week, the animals received a phenylalanine load [0.1mg/g (body weight) by s.c. injection] on day 4, followed at 1hr and 2hr by gavage of saline bicarbonate (6 mg, to neutralize gastric acidity). Tail blood samples were taken before treatment (at time zero minus 5 min), and four times at hourly intervals after the phenylalanine challenge. In the second week, the gavage contained (i) 25 units of PAL (as induced recombinant E. coli cells, OD<sub>500</sub>) or (ii)
200 units of PAL, in combination with 10 mg of aprotinin in the sodium bicarbonate buffer.

In Vitro Assays of PAL Effect: We measured efficacy of the PAL preparation in vitro by analyzing its effect on a solution containing 4mM phenylalanine (initial concentration) at 37°C and pH 8.5. We compared (i) the individual effects of non-recombinant *E. coli* cells (OD<sub>600</sub> = 50), chymotrypsin (100 mg/ml), and mouse intestinal fluid (diluted 1:10 with Tris buffer at pH 8.5) with (*ii*) the effect of naked recombinant PAL either alone or in the presence of chymotrypsin (100 mg/ml) or of intestinal fluid (1:10 dilution with Tris buffer at pH 8.5) and (*iii*) the effect of *E. coli* cells (OD<sub>600</sub> = 50) expressing PAL (5 units) alone or in the presence of chymotrypsin (100 mg/ml) or discussion of the pH 8.5).

#### Analytical

*Plasma Phenylalanine Concentration:* We collected blood from tail into heparinized tubes, extracted plasma, and measured phenylalanine by HPLC (Beckman System Gold<sup>TM</sup>, DABS amino-acid analysis Kit).

DNA Analysis: Animals were genotyped, as described (31), for the  $Pah^{enu2}$  mutation. We developed a method to detect the  $Pah^{enul}$  mutation that eliminates a amplification created recognition site (ACRS) for the restriction enzyme TaqI. We used PCR, with primers 5'-GAGAATGAGATCAACCTGACA-3' and 5'-TTGTCTCGGGAAAGCTCATCG-3', to amplify a 169-bp segment of exon 3 (mouse *Pah*) from blood spots collected on Guthrie cards. The product subjected to TaqI digestion yields a distribution of fragments with a distinct banding pattern for each of three possible genotypes:  $Pah^{+/+}$  generates two fragments (148bp and 21bp) ,  $Pah^{enul/+}$  generates three (169bp, 148bp and 21bp) and  $Pah^{enul/1}$  generates one fragment (169bp).

# RESULTS

#### Synthesis and Purification of PAL

We obtained PAL by expressing the pIBX-7 construct (Fig. 1) in *E. coli*, followed by purification on a Q-Sepharose column. The product is a yeast (*R. toruloides*) PAL enzyme, at 80% purity (Fig. 2). The yield in our present system is 100-150 units/g *E. coli* cells, with a  $K_m$  of 250  $\mu$ M, at specific activity of 2.2-3.0 units/mg of PAL protein; 1 unit of PAL deaminates 1.0  $\mu$ mol L-phenylalanine to *trans*-cinnamate (and NH<sub>3</sub>) per minute at pH 8.5 and 30°C.

#### Effect of PAL in ENU Mice

We used the ENU mouse orthologues of human PKU and non-PKU HPA to obtain proof of pharmacologic and physiologic principles by demonstrating efficacy of PAL enzyme against the hyperphenylalaninemic phenotype.

## **Pilot Study**

PKU mice (ENU 2; n = 15) on regular diet were treated with PAL (2, 20 or 100 units) by i.p. injection without any additional manipulations. Within 3 hr, the postinjection value for blood phenylalanine had fallen (range, 0-984  $\mu$ M) from the pretreatment value (range, 389-2,012  $\mu$ M). These preliminary observations demonstrated both an apparent treatment response and troublesome inter- and intra-individual variation. Accordingly, we controlled for the latter by adopting the protocols described above.

**Proof of Pharmacological Principle:** A single i.p. injection of PAL enzyme significantly lowered plasma phenylalanine in PKU mice (ENU2; P < 0.05) and showed a dose-response (Fig. 3); at each point, data are normalized to the control (sham-treated) values for each animal to accommodate inter- and intra-individual variation. The non-PKU HPA mice (ENU1) and the heteroallelic HPA stain

(ENU1/2) also responded to PAL treatment (data not shown). The effect of a single i.p. PAL injection in ENU1 mouse model persisted for 24 hr (P < 0.02; Fig. 4); ENU1/2 and ENU2 mice both had similar 24 hr responses (data not shown).

**Proof of Physiological Principle:** To demonstrate the effect of orally administered PAL on plasma phenylalanine levels required protease-resistant PAL formulations. Recombinant PAL enzyme activity was protected against inactivation by gastric acidity and intestinal digestive enzymes by retaining and shielding it in the E. coli cells where it was synthesized. We used these cells in the absence of a different form of PAL protection.

Recombinant PAL enzyme protected by the cell wall and membrane of *E.* coli resists inactivation by proteolytic intestinal enzymes *in vitro*; otherwise activity of naked enzyme is abolished (data not shown). PAL enclosed in *E. coli* cells was shown to reduce phenylalanine content of the *in vitro* solution (Table 1). When given by oral gavage, recombinant PAL (25 units) expressed in an *E. coli* strain isolated from Sprague-Dawley rat lowered plasma phenylalanine in ENU2 mice by 31% in 1 hr (P < 0.04) and 44% in 2 hr (P < 0.0004) (Fig. 5).

Other experiments *in vivo*, conducted with aprotinin (protease inhibitor) and recombinant PAL enzyme purified from *E. coli* (Y1091), gave further proof of physiological principle. This formulation resists inactivation by chymotrypsin and mouse intestinal fluid *in vitro* (data not shown). Oral gavage of naked PAL (200 units) combined with aprotinin (protease inhibitor) lowered plasma phenylalanine in ENU2 mice: by 50% in 1 hr (P < 0.017) and 54% in 2 hr (P < 0.023) (Fig. 6).

#### DISCUSSION

We describe a method to produce recombinant PAL (Fig. 1) that may enable the use of this enzyme to degrade excess phenylalanine in PKU where the normal pathway for its disposal is impaired. Why would this alternative be useful if, as is generally assumed, early treatment of PKU by a semisynthetic low phenylalanine diet is one of the success stories of medical genetics (1;2)? The answers lie in the incidence of PKU, our expectations for its treatment, and the anticipated "prevalence" of patient treatment years.

The combined incidence of PKU and non-PKU HPA is on the order of  $10^4$  live births in populations of European descent. Current evidence reveals similar rates in Asian-Oriental and Arabic populations (1). New guidelines (10;11) for the treatment of HPA have appeared so that residual imperfections in outcome (1) can be overcome and expectations met; the guidelines advise treatment to restore blood phenylalanine levels as near normal as possible, as early as possible, for as long as possible, perhaps for a lifetime. In this context, the "prevalence" for patient treatment years takes on new meaning when it involves the difficult existing modes of treatment. The predicted "prevalence" in patient treatment years for a population of  $10^8$  persons, assuming 50 years of treatment per patient, would be 500,000 patient treatment years in half a century.

PKU is a multifactorial disease; mutation in the PAH gene and dietary exposure to the essential nutrient amino acid L-phenylalanine are equally necessary causes of the mutant phenotype (1). Treatment of HPA is feasible because the dietary experience can be purposefully modified, and the low phenylalanine diet has been its mainstay.

Untreated PKU is a disease at three phenotypic levels. At the proximal (enzyme) level, many different mutations in the *PAH* gene impair PAH integrity and function (32). Because PAH enzyme is the principle determinant of phenylalanine homeostasis *in vivo* (1), its impairment leads to HPA, which is the intermediate (metabolic) level of the variant phenotype. Impaired cognitive development and neurophysiological function is the distal (clinical phenotype); phenylalanine is the neurotoxic molecule (1), and hence the rationale to restore euphenylalaninemia.

Three modalities for treatment exist in theory or in practice: gene therapy, enzyme therapy, and diet therapy. The first has its appeal but is only at the experimental stage (33) (also C. Harding, personal communication) and unlikely to be put into practice unless the alternatives fail. The third method (low phenylalanine diet therapy) was inaugurated in the 1950s (3-5) and has achieved its primary goal: it has prevented mental retardation in the adequately treated patient (1;34). However, dietary treatment of PKU and HPA is difficult; it involves rigorous compliance, a major alteration in lifestyle, and use of treatment products that have unusual organoleptic qualities. Moreover, measurements of cognitive and neurophysiologic outcomes show subtle deficits (IQ scores are 0.5 SD below normal), and there are lacunae in neuropsychological and neuro-physiological performance. Accordingly, there is growing interest in the second form of treatment (enzyme therapy).

Enzyme therapy could be done by replacement (of PAH enzyme) or by substitution (with another enzyme to degrade excess phenylalanine). Replacement of PAH requires the intact multienzyme complex for catalytic hydroxylating activity (1); it could be done best perhaps only by hepatic transplantation and this approach has not been pursued. But if the PAL enzyme could be administered by mouth to the PKU patient, it would have a certain appeal; therapy with enzymes protected from inactivation is feasible for the treatment of metabolic conditions (35;36). We propose that PAL will "substitute" for deficient hepatic PAH activity and degrade phenylalanine in the PAH-deficient organism. To test this hypothesis, we used the induced mutant (ENU) mouse orthologues of human PKU and non-PKU HPA (23). We first demonstrated proof of pharmacologic principle: given by injection, PAL acts in vivo to lower ambient blood phenylalanine levels (Fig. 3). We then demonstrated proof of physiologic principle; PAL placed in the intestinal lumen acts in vivo to suppress HPA (Figs. 5 and 6). The latter is a significant finding that capitalizes on three prior concepts and observations: (i) amino acids are in equilibrium between various compartments of body fluids (37;38) and ultimately in equilibrium with the intestinal lumen (39), so that treatment of intestinal lumen phenylalanine will affect all body pools. (ii) PAL placed in the intestinal lumen will modify phenylalanine content of body fluids in the whole animal (15;18). (iii) PAL placed in the intestinal lumen will act on both the dietary phenylalanine and the endogenous runout of free phenylalanine from its bound pools (40). Accordingly, the appropriate dosage and schedule (to avoid under- or overtreatment) of oral PAL, perhaps in combination with a controlled and modestly low protein diet, should control the phenylalanine pool size without need of the drastic restriction of dietary phenylalanine as now practiced and requiring artificial diets. Ancillary treatment of PKU with PAL and prudent protein intake would become analogous to treatment of diabetes mellitus with insulin, with an additional feature — the enteral route would avoid problems with immune recognition of PAL.

Until now, the cost of PAL has prohibited any consideration of therapy; even animal studies were curtailed. The recombinant enzyme we describe here may avoid this constraint and has enabled our investigations. The relatively low specific activity of the recombinant PAL product and relative inefficiency at pH 7.0 (IBEX, unpublished data), may be offset by the long contact time between enzyme and substrate during passage through small and large intestine. The formulation currently under development is focused on completely protecting the PAL enzyme against a protease environment.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank Dr. Achim Recktenwald for preparation of the enzyme, Pamela Danagher and Dr. King Lee who gave invaluable assistance during the early stages of this project and Margaret Fuller and Beverly Akerman for technical help and guidance. We also acknowledge the advice of the perceptive reviewers of this manuscript. This work was supported in part by the Medical Research Council (Canada), the Canadian Genetic Diseases Network (CGDN) (Networks of Centers of Excellence), and a contract for maintenance of the mice from IBEX via CGDN. Studentship awards were supported by the McGill University-Montreal Children's Hospital Research Institute, the Garrod Association (Canada) and The Auxiliary (Montreal Children's Hospital).

Experimental Conditions	Treatment	Decrease in Phenylalanine (% control) <sup>©</sup>
Control	Non-recombinant E. coli cells	0
	Chymotrypsin	0
	intestinal fluid	0
PAL	In induced recombinant E. coli cells	76
	In induced recombinant E. coli cells + chymotrypsin in medium	72
	In induced recombinant E. coli cells + intestinal fluid in medium	66

TABLE 1 Change in phenylalanine content of in vitro solutions under various treatments

<sup>1</sup> Treatments were for 1hr followed by measurement of L-phenylalanine content. <sup>9</sup> Initial concentration, 4 mM L-phenylalanine.



FIG. 1. *PAL* gene from yeast *R. toruloides* was cloned in the expression vector pIBX-7 where transcription is controlled by the strong inducible *tac* promoter and terminated by the rRNA transcription terminator sequences rrnBT1 and rrnBT2. *LacF* represses the *tac* promoter, hence isopropyl  $\beta$ -D-thiogalactoside is required to release it from the promoter. The kanamycin resistance gene (Kan<sup>R</sup>) is included in the construct to allow selection of cells containing the plasmid.



FIG. 2. Purified PAL enzyme (5  $\mu$ g) separated on 4-15% gradient SDS/PAGE. Molecular mass markers in kDa are to the right. Lanes: 1, sample of PAL with ~20% impurities indicated by additional bands; 2, low-range molecular mass standards (Bio-Rad).



FIG. 3. Injection i.p. of recombinant PAL enzyme reduces plasma phenylalanine in the ENU2 mouse (y axis is logarithmic scale) over time (x axis) (P < 0.05). Reduction of plasma phenylalanine by PAL shows a dose-response relationship (z axis). Data are normalized to the control (sham-treated) values for each animal at each point. Data depicted are the average of 5 paired series. The range of control (100%) values was 390-2,013  $\mu$ M for animals receiving 2 units of PAL, 572-1,488  $\mu$ M for animals receiving 20 units, and 504-1,474  $\mu$ M for animals receiving 100 units.



FIG. 4. A single i.p. injection of recombinant PAL enzyme (100 units at zero time), reduces plasma phenylalanine level in ENU1 mice by 95% at 24 hr (P < 0.02) relative to sham-treated controls. Data for five paired series (means  $\pm 1$  SD) are normalized to paired control values to accommodate inter- and intra-individual variation, The range of control values (100% at zero time) was 41-528  $\mu$ M; every animal showed a response to PAL.



FIG. 5. Plasma phenylalanine levels in ENU2 mice after oral administration (25 units per mouse) of induced recombinant *E. coli* cells expressing PAL: 31% reduction within 1 hr (P < 0.04) and 44% reduction in 2 hr (P < 0.004). Data are normalized to control values (mean  $\pm 1$  SD).  $\blacksquare$ , sham;  $\bullet$ , PAL enclosed in *E. coli*. The range of control values (100%) was 425-800  $\mu$ M; every animal showed a response to PAL.



FIG. 6. Plasma phenylalanine levels in ENU2 mice after combined oral administration of naked PAL enzyme (200 units per mouse) and protease inhibitor (aprotinin): 50% reduction within 1 hr (P < 0.017) and 54% in 2 hr (P < 0.023). Data are normalized to control values (means  $\pm 1$  SD).  $\blacksquare$ , sham;  $\bullet$ , unprotected PAL plus aprotinin. The range of control values (100%) was 458-1,051 $\mu$ M; every animal showed a response to PAL.

# REFERENCES

- Scriver, C.R., Kaufman, S., Eisensmith, R., and Woo, S.L.C. 1995. The Hyperphenylalaninemias. In *The Metabolic and Molecular Bases of Inherited Disease*. (7 ed.) Scriver, C.R., Beaudet, A.L., Sly, W.S., and Valle, D., editors. McGraw Hill Book Co, New York. 1015-1075.
- Scriver, C.R. 1967. Treatment in Medical Genetics. In Proceedings of the Third International Congress of Human Genetics. J.F.Crow and Neel, J.V., editors. The Johns Hopkins Press, Baltimore. 45-56.
- 3. Bickel, H., Gerrard, J., and Hickmans, E.M. 1953. Influence of phenylalanine intake on phenylketonuria. *Lancet* II:812-813.
- 4. Woolf, L.I., Griffiths, R., and Moncrieff, A. 1955. Treatment of phenylketonuria with a diet low in phenylalanine. *Brit Med J* 1:57-64.
- 5. Armstrong, M.D. and Tyler, F.H. 1955. Studies on phenylketonuria. I. Restriction phenylalanine intake in phenylketonuria. J Clin Invest 34:565-580.
- Cockburn, F., Clark, B.J., Caine, E.A., Harvie, A., Farquharson, J., Jamieson, E.C., Robinson, P., and Logan, R.W. 1996. Fatty acids in the stability of neuronal membrane: Relevance to PKU. *Internat Pediatr* 11:56-60.
- Riva, E., Agostoni, C., Biasucci, G., Trojan, S., Luotti, D., Fiori, L., and Giovannini, M. 1996. Early breastfeeding is linked to higher intelligence quotient scores in dietary treated phenylketonuric children. Acta Paediatr 85:56-58.
- Scriver, C.R. 1971. Mutants: Consumers with special needs. Nutr Rev 29:155-158.

- Buist, N.R.M., Prince, A.P., Huntington, K.L., Tuerck, J.M., and Waggoner, D.D. 1994. A new amino acid mixture permits new approaches to the treatment of phenylketonuria. *Acta Paediatr Suppl* 407:75-77.
- Medical Research Council Working Party on Phenylketonuria. 1993. Phenylketonuria due to phenylalanine hydroxylase deficiency: an unfolding story. BMJ 306:115-119.
- Medical Research Council Working Party on Phenylketonuria. 1993. Recommendations on the dietary management of phenylketonuria. Arch Dis Child 68:426-427.
- Scriver, C.R., Kaufman, S., and Woo, S.L.C. 1989. The Hyperphenylalaninemias. In *The Metabolic Basis of Inherited Disease*. (6 ed.) Scriver, C.R., Beaudet, A.L., Sly, W.S., and Valle, D., editors. McGraw Hill Book Company, New York. 495-546.
- Hodgins, D. 1971. Yeast phenylalanine ammonia lyase: purification, properties of the identification of catalytically essential dehydroalanine. J Biol Chem 246:2977-2985.
- Hoskins, J.A., Holliday, S.B., and Greenway, A.M. 1984. The metabolism of cinnamic acid by healthy and phenylketonuric adults: A kinetic study. *Biomed Mass Spectrom* 11:296-300.
- 15. Bourget, L. and Chang, T.M.S. 1986. Phenylalanine ammonia-lyase immobilized in microcapsules for the depletion of phenylalanine in plasma in phenylketonuric rat model. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 883:432-438.

- 16. Sarkissian, C., Lee, K.C., Danagher, P., Leung, R., Fuller, M.A., and Scriver, C.R. 1996. Enzyme substitution therapy with phenylalanine ammonia lyase for the treatment of phenylalanine hydroxylase-deficient hyperphenylalaninemia (HPA). Amer J Hum Genet 59:A207(1183) (Abstr.)
- Sarkissian, C.N., Shao, Z., Blain, F., Peevers, R., Su, H., Fuller, M.A., and Scriver, C.R. 1997. Effect of oral phenylalanine ammonia lyase (PAL) on plasma phenylalanine levels in a genetic mouse orthologue of PKU. Am J Hum Genet 61:A35 (182) (Abstr.)
- Safos, S. and Chang, T.M. 1995. Enzyme replacement therapy in ENU2 phenylketonuric mice using oral microencapsulated phenylalanine ammonialyase: a preliminary report. Artificial Cells, Blood Substitutes, & Immobilization Biotechnology. 23:681-692.
- Hoskins, J.A., Jack, G., Wade, H.E., Peiris, R.J.D., Wright, E.C., Starr, D.J.T., and Stern, J. 1980. Enzymatic control of phenylalanine intake in phenylketonuria. *Lancet* 1:392-394.
- Ambrus, C.M., Anthone, S., Norvath, C., Kalghatgi, K., Lele, A.S., Eapen, G., Ambrus, J.L., Ryan, A.J., and Li, P. 1987. Extracorporeal enzyme reactors for depletion of phenylalanine in phenylketonuria. *Ann Intern Med* 106:531-537.
- Gilbert, H.J., Clarke, I.N., Gilbson, R.K., Stephenson, J.R., and Tully, M. 1985. Molecular cloning of the phenylalanine ammonia lyase gene from *Rhodosporidium toruloides* in *Eschericia coli* K-12. *J Bacteriol* 161:314-320.
- Orum, H. and Rasmussen, O.F. 1992. Expression in E. coli of the gene encoding phenylalanine ammonia-lyase from Rhodosporidium toruloides. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 36:745-748.

- 23. Shedlovsky, A., McDonald, J.D., Symula, D., and Dove, W.F. 1993. Mouse models of human phenylketonuria. *Genetics* 134:1205-1210.
- 24. Gilbert, H.J. and Tully, M. 1982. Synthesis and degradation of phenylalanine ammonia-lyase of *Rhodosporidium toruloides*. J Bacteriol 150:498-505.
- Ausubel, F.M., Brent, R., Kingston, E., Moore, D.D., Seidman, J.G., Smith, J.A., and Struhl, K. 1997. Saccharomyces cerevisiae. In Current Protocols in Molecular Biology. John Wiley & Sons Inc., New York.
- Fukuhara, N., Yoshino, S., Yamamoto, K., Se, T., Sone, S., Nakajima, Y., Suzuki, M., and Makiguchi, N. L-Phenylalanine Ammonia Lyase. European Patent Application(0 260 919). 1988.
- 27. Rasmussen, O.F. and Oerum, H. 1991. Analysis of the gene for phenylalanine ammonia-lyase from *Rhodosporidium toruloides*. DNA Seq 1:207-211.
- Mullis, K., Faloona, F., Scharf, S., Saiki, R., Horn, G., and Erlich, H. 1986. Specific enzymatic amplification of DNA in vitro: the polymerase chain reaction. *Cold Spring Harbour - Symp Quant Biol* 51:263-269.
- Su,H., Blain,F., Musil,R.A., Zimmermann,J.J.F., Gu,K., and Bennette,O.C. 1996. Isolation and expression in *Escherichia coli* of hepB and hepC, genes coding for the glycosaminoglycan - degrading enzymes heparinase II and heparinase III, respectively, from Flavobacterium heparinum. *Appl Environ Microbiol* 62:2723-2734.
- McDonald, J.D., Bode, V.C., Dove, E.F., and Sedlovsky, A. 1990. Pah<sup>hph-5</sup>: A mouse mutant deficient in phenylalanine hydroxylase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 87:1965-1967.
- 31. McDonald, J.D. and Charlton, C.K. 1997. Characterization of mutations at the mouse phenylalanine hydroxylase locus. *Genomics* 39:402-405.

- 32. Waters, P.J., Parniak, M.A., Nowacki, P., and Scriver, C.R. 1998. *In vitro* expression analysis of mutations in phenylalanine hydroxylase: Linking genotype to phenotype and structure to function. *Hum Mutat* 11:14-17.
- 33. Fang,B., Eisensmith,R.C., Li,X.H.C., Finegold,M.J., Shedlovsky,A., Dove,W., and Woo,S.L.C. 1994. Gene therapy for phenylketonuria: phenotypic correction in a genetically deficiency mouse model by adenovirusmediated hepatic gene transfer. *Gene Ther* 1:247-254.
- MacCready, R.A. 1974. Admissions of phenylketonuric patients to residential institutions before and after screening programs of the newborn infant. J Pediatr 85:383-385.
- Chang, T.M.S. and Poznanzsky, M.J. 1968. Semipermeable microcapsules containing catalase for enzyme replacement in acatalasaemic mice. *Nature* 218:243-245.
- 36. Prakash,S. and Chang,T.M.S. 1996. Microencapsulated genetically engineered live E. coli DH5 cells administered orally to maintain normal plasma urea level in uremic rats. *Nat Med* 2:883-887.
- Cohn,R.M., Palmieri,M.J., and McNamara,P.D. 1980. Non equilibrium thermodynamics, non covalent forces, and water. In Principles of Metabolic Control in Mammalian Species. R.H.Herman, Cohn,R.M., and McNamara,P.D., editors. Plenum Press, New York. 63-63.
- Christensen, H.N. 1982. Interorgan amino acid nutrition. *Physiol Rev* 62:1193-1233.
- Christensen, H.N., Feldman, B.H., and Hastings, A.B. 1963. Concentrative and reversible character of intestinal amino acid transport. *Am J Physiol* 205:255-260.

40. Chang, T.M.S., Bourget, L., and Lister, C. 1995. A new theory of enterorecirculation of amino acids and its use for depleting unwanted amino acids using oral enzyme-artificial cells, as in removing phenylalanine in phenylketonuria. *Artif Cells Blood Substit Immobil Biotechnol* 23:1-21.

# **CHAPTER 5**

Discussion

\_\_\_\_

\_

In the history of life sciences, mutants have been important resources for gaining insight into the biological function of genes (1). Orthologous animal models have served science by providing surrogates for human subjects in the study of disease phenotypes and their potential therapies (2). The particular advantages in mice as the orthologue are (*i*) highly homologous genome segments between mouse and man (3), (*ii*) the short mouse generation time, (*iii*) large litter size, (*iv*) their relatively small cost in care and maintenance and (*v*) the possibility of producing a model (transgenic) if a 'natural' one is not available (1;4). Access to mouse models has been a great help towards the understanding of underlying disease mechanisms (1).

The initial development of mouse models of human disease entails either a genotype-driven approach which required lengthy process of gene mutagenesis followed by isolation of the mutant strain and further inbreeding, or a phenotype-driven approach (i.e. by ENU treatment) which focuses on the recovery of novel or sought after phenotypes without focusing on the underlying gene. Identification of the associated gene is secondary. Either method results in models that only have the potential to measure the metrical traits of a specific mutant allele, and since conclusions about the role of a gene product drawn from a single mutation may be misleading (especially with the genotype-driven approach where the mutation may produce an atypical phenotype), it is important, if at all possible, to try and look at more than one mutant allele at a particular locus (5;6).

# The Heteroallelic Mouse

In the presence of formerly established mutant lines, the potential development of heteroallelic animal models becomes an added advantage. Generation of heteroallelic mouse models provide the opportunity to produce additional variants of disease phenotypes, in some instances, also allowing the expression of mutant genes that would otherwise not be viable in the homoallelic form. In addition, when various alleles are available, series of heteroallelic models can be developed

providing a spectrum of phenotypic characteristics associated with the disease in question. For HPA, heteroallelism at the (human) *PAH* locus is representative of  $\sim$ 75% of probands in the population (7), therefore the corresponding mouse models can provide a better understanding of phenotypes associated with this disorder. To this end, the heteroallelic mouse model developed here contributes to a more complete understanding of the human condition.

In Chapter 2 and in the mouse genetic Pah homologues web page presented in Appendix D, we report on a new heteroallelic ENU1/2 mouse model and describe and compare phenotypes of control (BTBR/Pas) and mutant orthologues of human PKU and non-PKU HPA strains (ENU2, ENU1 and ENU1/2) and their heterozygous counterparts. The mutations associated with each of the homoallelic models were described in Chapters 1 and 2. The ENU1 mouse displays a mild phenotype (non-PKU HPA) and carries a mutation that affects amino acid residue 106 (V106A). Val 106 is conserved among mammalian species but is divergent in others; it is in a region that carries the majority of divergence (8). To date, no human PAH mutation has been identified affecting this amino acid residue. The nearest affected human amino acid changes occur at alanine 104 (A104D) associated with variant PKU (7;9) or at serine 110 (S110L) (9); both mutants appear to affect secondary structure and protein stability (10). They are both located in N-terminal regulatory domain of the PAH enzyme (10). The ENU2 mouse has a severe PKU-like phenotype and carries a mutation affecting amino acid residue 263 (F263S). One human PAH mutation has been reported at this residue (F263L) (9). Position 263 is located 4.9 Å away from the Fe atom in the active site; substitution with leucine in the human protein is suspected to interfere with the protein's  $\pi$ -stacking interactions with the substrate (10). The substitution occurs at a position directly adjacent to amino acids involved in the pterin binding (10-15). In the ENU2 allele (F263S), a similar relationship may exist. The majority of amino acid changes in this region are associated with variant to severe PKU phenotypes (7;16). As shown here, the heteroallelic (V106A/F263S) ENU1/2 mouse counterpart displays an intermediate HPA phenotype.

#### **Metabolic Manipulation**

Like human subjects, the mice are pliant to metabolic manipulation. (See Chapter 2, Fig. 2). An extended HPA can be induced in the ENU1 and ENU1/2 mice by injection or oral gavage with phe-containing solutions. For the ENU2 animals, euphenylalaninemia can be established after a three-day dietary control of phe intake. An oral dose or injection of phe can quickly reestablish PKU phenotype in the ENU2 animal. Although HPA can be easily induced in the ENU1 strain, the plasma phe clearance rate is fast and therefore levels do not remain high for an extended period of time; in contrast, the plasma phe clearance rate is slowest in the ENU2 animal making controlled HPA difficult to establish and maintain. The ENU1/2 model, with its attenuated clearance rate, displays HPA, suitable for experiments requiring highly monitored plasma phe regulation.

# Pah Enzyme Activity

Hepatic Pah enzyme activities of the various models correlate inversely with the corresponding plasma and brain phe levels (See Chapter 2, Fig. 1 and 3). The ENU2 mice on normal diet with highly elevated plasma and brain phe levels have no detectable Pah activity, while ENU1 and ENU1/2 mice with  $\sim 24 \%$  and 5% normal enzyme activity respectively have near normal plasma and brain phe levels. Enzyme activity in the kidney (as measured in humans by Lichter-Konecki et al. 1988 (17)), may also have an affect on the overall phenotype of the mice. This was not measured in our studies, however one would expect these mutations to have similarly deleterious effects. The ENU1/2 animals could be considered functionally hemizygous for their ENU1 alleles since they carry the ENU2 allele that apparently abolishes PAH activity (18). However, the fact that the activity of the enzyme in the heteroallelic mouse is lower than the average of the ENU1 and

ENU2 hints at a possible negative complementation between the alleles. The carrier counterparts with approximately 50% normal enzyme activity, display normal plasma and brain phe levels, an expected result for autosomal recessive phenotypes. These observations agree with the suggestion by Kacser and Burns that "enzymes do not act in isolation" (19). All systems function in response to a series of enzymes that are kinetically linked to other enzymes via their substrates. Fluxes through such systems are therefore a product of the systemic properties, and so variation at one locus must be measured as part of the whole system (sensitivity coefficient). There are as many coefficients for a given flux as there are enzymes in the system; the sum of these coefficients is equal to 1, with each coefficient being small. Therefore any large change in a specific enzyme's activity (a single coefficient) results in a negligible change in the flux. Fifty percent activity loss, as is the case with our heterozygote, results in a minimal change in phenotype (19).

#### Pah Enzyme Stability

Variation in Pah protein stability is observed in the different ENU treated HPA mouse models. Premature degradation of mutant protein can be triggered by structural abnormalities that are generally associated with altered oligomerization and increased aggregation of the protein (20). This may explain the results observed from the western blots for the ENU1 mutant protein, which displayed apparent protein instability. The ENU1 mutation does not lie in close vicinity to the PAH epitope (amino acids 139-155) recognised by the PH8 monoclonal antibody (13). Therefore loss of the epitope does not explain the lack of detectable PAH on the western blots. On the other hand, some missense mutations have minimal or no effect on the stability of the enzyme but result in loss of activity, as the affected residue is critical for proper enzyme function. This is the suspected cause of the phenotype observed in the ENU2 mouse where the protein is stable but does not have any detectable activity. In the ENU1/2 model the oligomer assembly, with interaction between the two different mutant subunits, results in a compound

with an intermediate stability in comparison to the ENU1 and ENU2 mutant proteins.

#### Measuring Behavior

Behavior measurement is difficult in the animal model. However mazetests have been developed that measure 'executive function' in animals (21-23). The T-maze alternation test and the Win-Stay eight-arm radial maze task, which were used here, measure simple discrimination learning, short-term memory on spatial-reversal and reference memory, habit learning and memory for visual stimulus, respectively. In studying and comparing the various mouse models, the ENU2 mice (on normal diet) were the only ones showing impaired behaviour. No significant difference was observed between wildtype, ENU1, ENU1/2 and their heterozygous counterparts (none of these mutant animals was dietarily manipulated).

#### **Reproductive Problems**

Reproductive problems associated with maternal HPA in humans are also observed with the PKU mouse. These are again independent of either paternal or fetal genotype, depending solely on the maternal genotype and dietary phe intake (24). The maternal effect on offspring correlates directly with the degree of HPA, with loss of progeny only observed with ENU2 mothers. The level of HPA has also been effectively manipulated in the ENU2 mouse model allowing a measure of the dose-response relationship between maternal HPA and pregnancy outcome (25). A number of investigators have looked at the possible cause of these problems. It is apparent that mice, like humans, have a transplacental gradient for phe, favoring the fetus (25). This elevated HPA is the cause of cardiovascular developmental defects, different from those observed with humans. They were vascular (26), in comparison to those most reported in humans, which were cardiac (2). Once again, no significant differences were observed between wildtype, ENU1, ENU1/2 and their heterozygous counterparts (again, none of the

animals were manipulated dietarily). The natural HPA experienced by the ENU1 and ENU1/2 animals was not high enough to significantly affect reproductive status. These findings do resemble human data since maternal plasma phe levels below 400  $\mu$ M range are usually associated with normal fetal outcome (2;27).

## **Phenylalanine Metabolites**

The steady state level of plasma phenylalanine is determined by those processes that lead to the net disposal of phe and those that replenish the plasma pool (28). For the normal population, the disposal pathway mainly involves hydroxylation of phenylalanine to tyrosine with a partial fraction of phe used for net increase in body protein in growing children. However in the absence or reduced function of PAH, a secondary route, the transamination pathway, becomes significant. This pathway converts phe to PPA, which is subsequently converted to PLA and PAA and phenylacetylglutamine. Whether these products are the ones responsible for the brain abnormalities associated with PKU has long been debated. In the past, only analyses of urine, plasma and CSF samples were possible. These studies strongly suggested that the levels of transamination products achieved *in* vivo would not be toxic to brain (29). However, their potential toxicities in the brain could not be fully ruled out as no method was available that directly measured brain metabolite levels.

In Chapter 3 we described a novel method for measuring the concentrations of PPA, PLA and PAA in mouse brain tissue. To achieve this, we used NICI-GC/MS. This method requires the reduction of the PPA metabolite to a singly deuterium-labeled PLA (PLAd<sub>1</sub>) as PPA is very unstable and decomposes in basic environments necessary for sample extraction. In addition, as PLAd<sub>1</sub>, it can be measured in a standard stable isotope dilution assay, using PLAd<sub>3</sub> as internal standard, which is also used to measure the natural PLA metabolite. PLA, PLAd<sub>1</sub> and PLAd<sub>3</sub> are then derivatized with PFB and TFA, and PAA and PAAd<sub>5</sub> (internal standard) with PFB. The extra derivatization of PLA isotopomers with TFA is

necessary, as the 2-hydroxyl group of the phenyllactic acid would otherwise decompose by dehydration when passing through the gas chromatograph. Derivatization transforms the acids into thermally stable, chemically inert compounds that are volatile at temperatures below 300°C. The gas chromatography column separates the compounds based on volatility.

As the molecules elute from the column and pass through the ionization chamber, they acquire an electron and become negatively charged. This ionization destabilises the molecular structure, which results in the loss of the pentafluorobenzyl radical for each of the PAA and PLA molecules and their isotopomers. The ions are then passed through a quadrupole mass analyzer, which sorts the ions according to their mass/charge ratio.

The ions produced by PAA and PLA were initially identified by a complete scan of their NICI mass spectra to identify the most intense ions. SIM was then applied, which measures the intensities of only the intense-significant ions identified in the full scans of the PFB esters of authentic PAA and PAAds internal standard and the PFB and trifluoroacetyl esters of unlabelled and labelled PLA. SIM enhances the measured intensities by a few orders of magnitude.

To calculate the final endogenous concentrations of the compounds, the isotopic impurities of the internal standards and the natural abundances of heavy isotopes in the constituent atoms were measured and taken into account in the subsequent calculations. Calibration curves for all three metabolites, over the expected physiological ranges, demonstrated a linear response. The sensitivity of this method is estimated to be  $\sim 0.1$  nmol/g brain tissue.

The use of deuterium-labelled analogues as internal standards contributes greatly to the accuracy of this method, as endogenous PPA (as reduced to PLAd<sub>1</sub>), PLA and PAA are compared with virtually the same molecules, affected in the same manner during each step of sample preparation and analysis.

This NICI-GC/MS method was used to measure the concentration of PPA, PLA, and PAA in the brain tissue of wildtype, ENU1 and ENU2 mice. Metabolite

levels correlated directly with the corresponding plasma and brain phe levels indicating that at normal or near normal phe levels, the transamination pathway contributes insignificantly to the brain metabolic profile. The ENU2 mouse levels of metabolites measured in brain tissue did not reach levels of toxicity necessary for pathogenesis, as documented in earlier studies (29;30); levels were in fact 10-fold lower than those associated with toxicity, yet the ENU2 mice exhibit behavioural and cognitive impairment. We attribute this effect to phe itself until evidence indicates otherwise, and therefore agree that "there are no abnormal metabolites in PKU, only normal metabolites in abnormal amounts" (31). In this way the combined use of both the analytical method and the orthologous mouse models has made a contribution toward resolving a long-standing controversy about PKU associated pathologies.

# Logic and Role of Low Phenylalanine Diet

With phenylalanine once again verified as 'the villain' associated with the natural course of the mutant phenotype, it is reassuring that the mode of therapy applied for the past four and a half decades has been functioning to eliminate the problem directly at the source. Low-phe dietary therapy was inaugurated in the 1950's (32-34) and has since been the mainstay of treatment. It is effective because the dietary experience can be purposefully modified affecting the internal milieu (2;35). It lowers and normalizes the steady-state value of phe concentration, reestablishing euphenylalaninemia. This treatment modality achieved its primary goal by preventing mental retardation and providing a positive pregnancy outcome (27;36;37). Yet the process is anything but simple, requiring rigorous compliance and a major alteration in lifestyle. Difficulties stem in part from the restrictions associated with constant dietary constraints and in part from the poor organoleptic qualities of the treatment itself (2;38). In addition, outcomes (whether a product of imperfect overall compliance or deficits in diet composition) remain less than

optimal, displaying subtle deficits in IQ scores and neuropsychological and physiological performance (2).

The problems associated with the diet-based treatment are even more cogent with recent recommendations for 'life long treatment' (37). There is now a growing interest in other forms of treatment that may be less rigorous and far less socially imposing.

Various alternative treatments of PKU and their apparent feasabilities were described in Chapter 1. Enzyme substitution therapy with phenylalanine ammonia lyase (Chapter 4) in this context is relevant.

Prior attempts (39-43) at PAL treatment did not progress beyond the occasional experiment, as the limited supply and costly acquisition of the purified form of the PAL enzyme prohibited any consideration of human therapy. Treatment with PAL, purified from natural sources, has a predicted daily cost of 10 to 10,000 times the yearly-approximated \$5000 (CDN) cost/patient of the diet therapy (IBEX Technologies, personal communication). For the PAL modality of treatment to be economically feasible, the cost had to be lower or equal to that of dietary treatment.

#### PAL Protection and Use as an Alternative to Diet Therapy

Cloning technology offers the opportunity for an economical supply of PAL to enable enzyme substitution as an alternative treatment for PKU. The PAL gene from yeast R. toruloides has been inserted into a plasmid under the control of a high expression modified double *Ptac* promoter and expressed in non-invasive strains of E. coli. Active enzyme is easily isolated and purified from the bacteria. The recombinant enzyme described here provides a virtually limitless supply of PAL at sustainable cost.

Stabilized (protected) PAL, taken orally, could 'substitute' for the native mutant PAH protein; the hypothesis is as follows: PAL would function by depleting both dietary phe and the endogenous runout of free phe from its bound

pools (44) as all systemic phe pools are in flux equilibrium with the intestinal lumen (41:45-47). Recent profiles of the amino acids in the duodenum, jejunum and ileum have indicated extremely high (10-100 fold) concentration of intestinal free amino acids as compared to the plasma (44;48). Chang et al. proposed that the major sources of intestinal amino acids are from gastric, pancreatic and intestinal and other secretions and not from the dietary source, thus this phe pool would be endogenous in origin (44;48). The secretions are highly concentrated with peptides, polypeptides, proteins and enzymes, which are broken down into amino acids by tryptic digestion in the intestine. These amino acids are reabsorbed as they pass down the intestine (indicated by the steady decrease in amino acid concentrations down the intestine), constituting the large recirculation of amino acids between the body and the intestine (44;48). Oral ingestion of stabilized PAL would metabolize phe from ingested foods as well as the gastric, pancreatic and intestinal secretions, preventing the undesirable amino acid from reabsorption back into the body (44). The enzyme is protected (stabilized) to avoid degradation and digestion in the gastro-intestinal tract. In addition, the enzyme will pass through the intestine, metabolize phe and then be excreted in the stool, bypassing problems with immune response associated with accumulation of synthetic injectable drugs (39;41;49-51).

PAL, not requiring a cofactor, converts phenylalanine to the metabolites *trans*-cinnamic acid and trivial amounts of ammonia (52). The *trans*-cinnamate metabolized by the liver to benzoic acid, is then excreted in the urine as hippurate (53); it has no toxic properties (52;54;55).

To test the efficacy of recombinant PAL, we used mutant ENU mouse orthologues of non-PKU HPA and PKU and demonstrated both proof of pharmacological and physiological principles. The first objective was necessary to verify the efficacy of the recombinant PAL in depleting systemic phe levels. Intra-peritoneal injection of PAL acted *in vivo* to lower ambient blood phe levels. The effect persisted over 24 hours following PAL treatment, with plasma phe

levels markedly lower than those measured at zero time prior to PAL administration.

The second objective was to show that PAL can be administered orally and protected from degradation by intestinal digestion while actively depleting phenylalanine. This was effectively demonstrated using two different systems. First, recombinant PAL was expressed in a non-pathogenic *E. coli* organism that provided an environment for PAL, protecting it from the action of digestive enzymes, which were unable to penetrate the cells. The free phe, in the intestinal lumen, was transported through the bacterial membrane and converted by PAL to *trans*-cinnamic acid.

Preliminary experiments were carried out in two stages to measure the efficacy of the *E. coli* system. *In vitro* phe conversion was measured. Control cells (empty of PAL), chymotrypsin solution and intestinal fluid were compared to cells filled with active PAL, in protease free environment and exposed to chymotrypsin solution and intestinal fluid. The first three had no effect on phe levels in solution, whereas the cells filled with active PAL rapidly reduced phe levels by an average of  $\sim 71\%$ , with a minimal impairment of the PAL effect on phe by chymotrypsin or intestinal enzymes in the media. In addition, naked PAL, unprotected by cellular membrane, lost all activity within minutes upon exposure to chymotrypsin and intestinal fluid. Our second approach was to observe the *in vivo* effect of PAL protected from degradation inside the *E. coli* vehicle. Gavage of ENU mice with this system acted to offset hyperphenylalaninemia in the mouse model.

We then studied a second system. PAL was delivered in solution with aprotinin protease inhibitor. This mixture, placed in the intestinal lumen, again acted *in vivo* effectively depleting the systemic phenylalanine levels.

The long contact time between enzyme and substrate during passage through small and large intestine can offset, in part, the relatively low specific activity of recombinant PAL (2.2-3.0IU/mg). In addition, systems adopted here

were interim experimental approaches used purely for proof-of-physiological principle. The application of this form of therapy in humans would ideally require a PAL enzyme of higher specific activity and require a formulation that will (a) effectively protect the protein against protease attack, and (b) not disturb the intestinal environment, allowing for normal digestion. With such a formulation, a more appropriate prediction of the dosage and treatment regiment for the various forms of HPA will be possible. The assumption stands that as with dietary therapy, PAL treatment will be adjusted on an individual basis. However, unlike dietary treatment, PAL should control the phenylalanine pool size without drastic life style restriction, making it far more user friendly. What would be considered an awesome feat with the current treatment could be more easily achieved with PAL; far better compliance on a day to day basis and potentially for a lifetime. It will also eliminate the worries associated with diet related nutrient imbalance and deficiency (56-58) as no major dietary adjustments (from the norm) will be required with the PAL treatment modality.

In The Metabolic and Molecular Bases of Inherited Disease, Scriver et al. recognized the major milestones in the PKU journey since its discovery in 1934. Among them were the discoveries in the 1950's of deficient PAH enzyme as the major cause of PKU and the restriction of dietary phe intake, a functional treatment for this disease; in 1963, the Guthrie test was introduced which allowed for population screening and in the 1980's, the PAH gene was mapped and cloned (2). Here we recognized the 1990's development of mouse models which opened the door to investigations that would have otherwise been impossible with human subjects. For the future decade, we hope to go a step further by introducing a new oral drug therapy for HPA. The work we have done here could transform the treatment of PKU to a more compatible approach (adding a positive effect with a mechanism vs. removing a negative influence by drastically changing life style and culture) and more importantly, improve the lives of the affected patients.

## **Future Aims**

The findings in this thesis may have implications on a number of levels. The heteroallelic ENU1/2 mouse model, displaying HPA through metabolic manipulation, is suitable for experiments requiring a model with plasma phe levels that don't fluctuate constantly. Different severities of HPA, easily induced and maintained in this animal model, would be helpful in measuring clinical parameters such as maternal effect (viz McDonald, 2000) (25) and behavior.

We see three ongoing initiatives with PAL: 1. The goal here is to produce a PAL formulation that will have long-term efficacy. Various oral protein drug strategies have been attempted at IBEX with the aim of improving PAL protection, bioavailability and producing a formulation that is fit for repeated administration. Cross-Linked Enzyme Crystal (CLEC) formulation, involving batch crystallization of PAL and chemical cross-linking, has been suggested as a better option for PAL delivery; both steps are equally critical in producing a stable protein with good mechanical properties (IBEX unpublished data). CLEC technology has been used with other proteins to produce catalysts that have increased stability against denaturation by heat, organic solvents and exogenous proteases (59). This stability may be explained by the exclusion of proteases, owing to the size of the solvent channels (60). With PAL, the small substrate (phe) will easily penetrate the body of the crystal to react with the active sites.

2. Animals continue to be a tool for ongoing studies with PAL therapy as we have now developed a protocol for long-term PAL administration, using a route that provides direct access to the duodenum (See Appendix E). This route will serve at the interim experimental stage while enteric coating, which protects against the acid environment of the stomach (a possible contributor to enzyme inactivation), is not applied.

3. Long-term efficacy of oral formulated PAL will be demonstrated by extended (week-long) stable plasma and brain euphenylalaninemia and normal phe metabolite (PAA, PPA and PLA) levels (measured by NICI-GC/MS) in the mouse.

First-in-man studies will follow proof of long-term efficacy established in the mouse model. Like in animals, the end point here will be to establish long-term euphenylalaninemia in patients, following routine oral dosing of PAL. This form of treatment will ultimately replace the current dietary treatment of PKU.

# **REFERENCES**

- 1. Hrabé de Angelis, M. and Balling, R. 1998. Large scale ENU screens in mouse: genetics meets genomics. *Mutat Res* 400:25-32.
- Scriver, C.R. and Kaufman, S. 2001. Hyperphenylalaninemia: Phenylalanine Hydroxylase Deficiency. In *The Metabolic and Molecular Bases of Inherited Disease*. (8 ed.) Scriver, C.R., Beaudet, A.L., Sly, W.S., Valle, D., Assoc.eds.Childs, B., Kinzler, K., and Vogelstein, B., editors. McGraw Hill., New York.
- 3. Nadeau, J.H. 1989. Maps of lineage and synteny homologies between mouse and man. TIG 5:82-86.
- 4. McDonald, J.D. 1994. The PKU mouse project: its history, potential and implications. Acta Paediatr 407:122-1123.
- 5. Brown, S.D.M. 1998. Mouse models of genetic disease: New approaches, new paradigms. J Inher Metab Dis 21:532-539.
- 6. Brown, S.D.M. and Nolan, P.M. 1998. Mouse mutagenesis systematic studies of mammalian gene function. *Hum Molec Genet* 7:1627-1633.
- Kayaalp, E., Treacy, E., Waters, P.J., Byck, S., Nowacki, P., and Scriver, C.R. 1997. Human Phenylalanine Hydroxylase Mutations and Hyperphenylalaninemia Phenotypes: A Metanalysis of Genotype-Phenotype Correlations. Am J Hum Genet 61:1309-1317.
- 8. McDonald, J.D. and Charlton, C.K. 1997. Characterization of mutations at the mouse phenylalanine hydroxylase locus. *Genomics* 39:402-405.
- Mutation List. 2000. (http://data.mcgill.ca/cgi-bin/pahdb\_new/list\_mut.pre).

- Erlandsen, H. and Stevens, R.C. 1999. The structural basis of Phenyketonuria. *Molec Genet Metab* 68:103-125.
- 11. Erlandsen, H., Bjorgo, E., Flatmark, T., and Stevens, R.C. 2000. Crystal structure and site-specific mutagenesis of pterin-bound human phenylalanine hydroxylase. *Bioch* 39:2208-2217.
- Teigen, K., Froystein, N.A., and Martinez, A. 1999. The structural basis of the recognition of phenylalanine and pterin cofactors by phenylalanine hydrxylase: Implications for the catalytic mechanism. J Mol Biol 294:807-823.
- Jennings, I.G., Kemp, B.E., and Cotton, R.G.H. 1991. Localization of cofactor binding sites with monoclonal anti-idiotype antibodies: Phenylalanine hydroxylase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 88:5734-5738.
- Cotton, R.G.H., Howells, D.W., Saleeba, J.A., Dianzani, I., Smooker, P.M., and Jennings, I.G. 1993. Structure function studies of the phenylalanine hydroxylase active site and a summary of structural features. In Chemistry and Biology of Pteridines and Folates. J.E.Ayling, editor. Plenum Press, New York. 55-57.
- 15. Bjorgo, E., Knappskog, P.M., Martinez, A., Stevens, R.C., and Flatmark, T. 1998. Partial characterization and three-dimensional-structural localization of eight mutations in exon 7 of the human phenylalanine hydroxylase gene associated with phenylketonuria. *Eur J Biochem* 257:1-10.
- Genotype/Phenotype. 2000. (http://data.mch.mcgill.ca/pahdb\_new/search\_phen.html).
- 17. Lichter-Konecki, U., Hipke, C.M., and Konecki, D.S. 1998. PAH expression in human kidney. Am J Hum Genet 63:A269 (Abstr.)
- Guldberg, P., Mikkelsen, I., Henriksen, K.F., Lou, H.C., and Guttler, F. 1995. In vivo assessment of mutations in the phenylalanine hydroxylase gene by phenylalanine loading: characterization of seven common mutations. *Eur J Pediatr* 154:551-556.
- 19. Kacser, H. and Burns, J.A. 1981. The molecular basis of dominance. Genetics 97:639-666.
- 20. Scriver, C.R. and Waters, P.J. 1999. Monogenic traits are not simple. Lessons from phenylketonuria. TIG 15:267-272.
- 21. Seamans, J.K. and Phillips, A.G. 1994. Selective memory impairments produced by transient lidocaine-induced lesions of the nucleus accumbens in rats. *Behav Neurosci* 108:456-468.
- Seamans, J.K., Floresco, S.B., and Phillips, A.G. 1995. Functional differences between the prelimbic and anterior cingulate regions of the rat prefrontal cortex. *Behav Neurosci* 109:1063-1073.
- Nasir, J., Floresco, S.B., O'Kusky, J.R., Diewert, V.M., Richman, J.M., Zeisler, J., Borowski, A., Marth, J.D., Phillips, A.G., and Hayden, M.R. 1995. Targeted disruption of the Huntington's disease gene results in embryonic lethality and behavioral and morphological changes in heterozygotes. *Cell* 81:811-823.
- 24. Shedlovsky, A., McDonald, J.D., Symula, D., and Dove, W.F. 1993. Mouse models of human phenylketonuria. *Genetics* 134:1205-1210.
- 25. McDonald, D. and Cho, S. 2000. The effect of maternal hyperphenylalaninemia on the offspring of the BTBR- Pah<sup>enu2</sup> mouse model for phenylketonuria: A maternal phenylketonuria model. Amer J Hum Genet 67:276 (Abstr.)

- McDonald, J.D., Dyer, C.A., Gailis, L., and Kirby, M.L. 1997. Cardiovascular defects among the progeny of mouse phenylketonuria females. *Pediat Res* 42:103-107.
- Scriver, C.R., Kaufman, S., Eisensmith, R., and Woo, S.L.C. 1995. The Hyperphenylalaninemias. In *The Metabolic and Molecular Bases of Inherited Disease*. (7 ed.) Scriver, C.R., Beaudet, A.L., Sly, W.S., and Valle, D., editors. McGraw Hill Book Co, New York. 1015-1075.
- Kaufman,S. 1999. A model of human phenylalanine metabolism in normal subjects and in phenylketonuria patients. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 96:3160-3164.
- 29. Kaufman, S. 1989. An evaluation of the possible neurotoxicity of metabolites of phenylalanine. *J Pediatr* 114:895-900.
- Silberberg, D.H. 1967. Phenylketonuria metabolites in cerebellum culture morphology. Arch Neurol 17:524-529.
- Knox, W.E. 1972. Phenylketonuria. In The Metabolic Basis of Inherited Disease. (3 ed.) J.B.Stanbury, Wyngaarden, J.B., and Fredrickson, D.S., editors. McGraw Hill Book Co., New York. 266-295.
- Bickel, H., Gerrard, J., and Hickmans, E.M. 1953. Influence of phenylalanine intake on phenylketonuria. *Lancet* II:812-813.
- 33. Woolf, L.I., Griffiths, R., and Moncrieff, A. 1955. Treatment of phenylketonuria with a diet low in phenylalanine. *Brit Med J* 1:57-64.
- 34. Armstrong, M.D. and Tyler, F.H. 1955. Studies on phenylketonuria. I. Restriction phenylalanine intake in phenylketonuria. J Clin Invest 34:565.

- Bernard, C. 1878. Les Phénomènes de la Vie. Libraire J-B Bailliere et Fils., Paris. 879-879 pp.
- 36. Waisbren, S.E., Chang, P., Levy, H.L., Shifrin, H., Allred, E., Azen, C., De La Cruz, F., Hanley, W., Koch, R., Matalon, R. et al. 1998. Neonatal neurological assessment of offspring in maternal phenylketonuria. J Inher Metab Dis 21:39-48.
- Cockburn, F., Barwell, B.E., Brenton, D.P., Chapple, J., Clark, B., Curzon, G., Davidson, D.C., Heeley, A.J., Laing, S.C., Lister-Cheese, I.A.F. et al. 1993. Recommendations on the dietary management of phenylketonuria. Arch Dis Childh 68:426-427.
- Ryan, S. R. and Scriver, C. R. Phenylalanine Hydroxylase Deficiency. GeneClinics Nov. 24. 1999. NIH. (http://www/geneclinics.org/profiles/pku/details.html).
- Bourget, L. and Chang, T.M.S. 1985. Phenylalanine ammonia-lyase immobilized in semipermeable microcapsules for enzyme replacement in phenylketonuria. FEBS Lett 180:5-8.
- 40. Inoue, S., Matsunaga, Y., Iwane, H., Sotomura, M., and Nose, T. 1986. Entrapment of phenylalanine ammonia-lyase in silk fibroin for protection from proteolytic attack. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 141:165-170.
- 41. Bourget, L. and Chang, T.M.S. 1986. Phenylalanine ammonia-lyase immobilized in microcapsules for the depletion of phenylalanine in plasma in phenylketonuric rat model. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 883:432-438.
- 42. Ambrus, C.M., Anthone, S., Norvath, C., Kalghatgi, K., Lele, A.S., Eapen, G., Ambrus, J.L., Ryan, A.J., and Li, P. 1987. Extracorporeal enzyme

reactors for depletion of phenylalanine in phenylketonuria. Ann Intern Med 106:531-537.

- 43. Safos, S. and Chang, T.M. 1995. Enzyme replacement therapy in ENU2 phenylketonuric mice using oral microencapsulated phenylalanine ammonialyase: a preliminary report. Artificial Cells, Blood Substitutes, & Immobilization Biotechnology. 23:681-692.
- 44. Chang, T.M.S., Bourget, L., and Lister, C. 1995. A new theory of enterorecirculation of amino acids and its use for depleting unwanted amino acids using oral enzyme-artificial cells, as in removing phenylalanine in phenylketonuria. *Artif Cells Blood Substit Immobil Biotechnol* 23:1-21.
- 45. Cohn,R.M., Palmieri,M.J., and McNamara,P.D. 1980. Non equilibrium thermodynamics, non covalent forces, and water. In Principles of Metabolic Control in Mammalian Species. R.H.Herman, Cohn,R.M., and McNamara,P.D., editors. Plenum Press, New York. 63-63.
- 46. Christensen, H.N. 1982. Interorgan amino acid nutrition. *Physiol Rev* 62:1193-1233.
- 47. Christensen, H.N., Feldman, B.H., and Hastings, A.B. 1963. Concentrative and reversible character of intestinal amino acid transport. *Am J Physiol* 205:255-260.
- 48. Chang, T.M.S. and Lister, C. 1988. Plasma/intestinal concentration patterns suggestive of entero-portal recirculation of amino acids: Effects of oral administration of asparaginase, glutaminase and tyrosinase immobilized by microencapsulation in artificial cells. *Biomat.Art. Cells Art.Org.* 16:915-926.

- 49. Chang, T. M. S. and Prakash, S. Therapeutic uses of microencapsulated genetically engineered cells. Molecular Medicine Today, Elsevier Science Ltd., 221-227. 1998.
- 50. Chang, T.M.S. 1995. Artificial cells with emphasis on bioencapsulation in biotechnology. *Biotechnol Annu Rev* 1:267-295.
- 51. Wang, W. 1996. Oral protein drug delivery. J Drug Target 4:195-232.
- Hoskins, J.A., Holliday, S.B., and Greenway, A.M. 1984. The metabolism of cinnamic acid by healthy and phenylketonuric adults: A kinetic study. Biomed Mass Spectrom 11:296-300.
- 53. Snapper, J., Chiang, T.F., and Chiang, T.Y. 1940. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 44:30-34.
- Hoskins, J.A., Jack, G., Wade, H.E., Peiris, R.J.D., Wright, E.C., Starr, D.J.T., and Stern, J. 1980. Enzymatic control of phenylalanine intake in phenylketonuria. *Lancet* 1:392-394.
- 55. Hoskins, J.A. and Gray, J. 1982. Phenylalanine ammonia lyase in the management of phenylketonuria: the relationship between ingested cinnamate and urinary hippurate in humans. *Res Commun Chem Pathol Pharmacol* 35:275-282.
- 56. Smith, I. 1994. Treatment of phenylalanine hydroxylase deficiency. Acta Paediat 407:60-65.
- Cockburn, F., Clark, B.J., Caine, E.A., Harvie, A., Farquharson, J., Jamieson, E.C., Robinson, P., and Logan, R.W. 1996. Fatty acids in the stability of neuronal membrane: Relevance to PKU. *Internat Pediatr* 11:56-60.

- 58. Riva, E., Agostoni, C., Biasucci, G., Trojan, S., Luotti, D., Fiori, L., and Giovannini, M. 1996. Early breastfeeding is linked to higher intelligence quotient scores in dietary treated phenylketonuric children. Acta Paediatr 85:56-58.
- 59. St.Clair, N.L. and Navia, M.A. 1992. Cross-linked enzyme crystals as robust enzyme catalysts. *J Am Chem Soc* 114:7314-7316.
- 60. Margolin, A.L. 1996. Novel crystalline catalysts. TIB Tech 14:223-230.

### **CLAIMS TO ORIGINALITY**

- 1. Creation of a hybrid heteroallelic ENU1/2 (non-PKU HPA like) mouse strain, with descriptions and comparisons of control (BTBR/Pas), mutant orthologues of human PKU and non-PKU HPA strains (ENU2, ENU1 and ENU1/2) and the heterozygous counterparts.
- 2. Development of an amplification-created recognition site (ACRS) method for fast detection of the ENU1 mutation.
- 3. Metabolic manipulation and measures of the rate of plasma phe clearance for the HPA mouse strains. Demonstration of an intermediate phenotype for the ENU1/2 animals, lying between severe ENU2 and mild ENU1 phenotypes. The ENU1/2 mouse, more pliant to metabolic manipulation, displays an HPA phenotype that is suitable for experiments requiring highly monitored plasma phe regulation.
- 4. Comparison of measured hepatic Pah enzyme activities of the various mouse strains, showing inverse correlation between activity and the corresponding phe levels in plasma and brain and plasma phe clearance time. ENU1/2 animals display levels intermediate to those of the ENU2 and ENU1 mice.
- Variation in Pah protein stability is shown for the different HPA mouse models. Stability of the ENU1/2 mutant protein is intermediate to the ENU1 (unstable mutant) and the ENU2 proteins.
- 6. Measures of the maternal HPA effect on offspring correlate directly with the degree of maternal HPA; abnormal phenotype observed only with the ENU2

mouse model. Measures of behaviour demonstrate an abnormal phenotype, again observed only with the ENU2 mouse (resembling human data where low levels of HPA are associated with normal CNS function).

- 7. A NICI GC/MS method was developed for analyses of PFB ester derivatives of PAA, PPA and PLA, when formed *in situ* in brain homogenates. A stable isotope dilution technique was used with PAAds and PLAd<sub>3</sub> as internal standards.
- Unstable PPA in the homogenate was reduced by NaB<sup>2</sup>H<sub>4</sub> to stable PLAd<sub>1</sub>, labeled with a single deuterium and discriminated from endogenous PLA in the mass spectrometer on this basis.
- 9. NICI mass spectra were obtained for the PFB esters of authentic PAA and PAAds and for the PFB esters of the trifluoroacetyl esters of unlabelled and labelled PLA and their associated ions were identified.
- 10. Concentrations of PLA, PAA and PPA in the brain tissue of wildtype, ENU1 and ENU2 mice correlated directly with the corresponding plasma and brain levels of phe. The highest levels of the metabolites measured in the ENU2 brain tissue were 10-fold lower than those linked with toxicity (as described in literature reports). PKU-related CNS dysfunction is thus associated with elevated levels of phe itself.
- 11. Use of the ENU mouse orthologues to obtain proof of <u>pharmacological</u> <u>principle</u>: Intraperitoneal injection of recombinant PAL acted *in vivo* to lower ambient blood phe levels. The effect persisted for over 24 hours.

- 12. Use of the ENU mouse orthologues to obtain proof of <u>physiological</u> <u>principle</u>: Two recombinant PAL formulations (protected against degradation by intestinal digestion) were delivered into the intestinal lumen. Depletion of the endogenous pool (plasma phe) was demonstrated.
- 13. Development of a protocol for long-term PAL administration, using a route that provides direct access to the duodenum.

## **APPENDIX A**

(Copyright © 2000 by Academic Press) (http://www.apnet.com) Reprinted with the permission of the publisher

### A Heteroallelic Mutant Mouse Model: A New Orthologue for Human Hyperphenylalaninemia

Christineh N. Sarkissian,\* Danielle M. Boulais,\* J. David McDonald,† and Charles R. Scriver\*.1

\*Department of Biology, Department of Human Genetics, and Department of Paediatrics, McGill University and Debelle Laboratory, McGill University-Montreal Children's Hospital Research Institute, 2300 Tupper Street, A-717, Montreal, Quebec, H3H 1P3, Canada; and †Department of Biological Sciences, Wichsta State University, 1845 Fairmount, Wichita, Kansas 67260-0026

**Received December 7, 1999** 

Hyperphenylalaninemias (HPA) are Mendelian disorders resulting from deficiencies in the conversion of phenylalanine to tyrosine. The vast majority are explained by a primary deficiency of phenylalanine hydroxylase (PAH) activity. The majority of untreated patients experience irreversible impairment of cognitive development. Although it is one of the best known hereditary metabolic disorders, mechanisms underlying the pathophysiology of the disease are still not fully understood; to this end, the availability of an orthologous animal model is relevant. Various mutant hyperphenylalaninemic mouse models with an HPA phenotype, generated by N-ethyl-N'-nitrosourea (ENU) mutagenesis at the Pah locus, have become available. Here we report a new hybrid strain, ENU1/2, with primary ensyme deficiency, produced by cross breeding. The ENUI, ENU1/2, and ENU2 strains display mild, moderate, and severe phenotypes, respectively, relative to the control strain (BTBR/Pas). The Pah enzyme activities of the various models correlate inversely with the corresponding phenylalanine levels in plasma and brain and the delay in plasma clearance response following a phenylalanine challenge. The maternal HPA effect on the fetus correlates directly with the degree of hyperphenylalaninemia, but only the ENU2 strain has impaired learning. o su des Pre

Key Words: phenyiketonuris; hyperphenylalaninemis; new orthologous mouse model; Pak gene; heteroallelic.

<sup>1</sup> To whom correspondence should be addressed. Fax: (514)934-4329. E-mail: mc77@musica.mcgill.ca.

1096-7192/00 \$35.00 Copyright © 2000 by Academic Press All rights of reproduction in any form reserved.

Phenyiketonuria (PKU) and related forms of non-PKIJ hyperphenylalaninemia (HPA) (OMIM 261600) are human autosomal recessive traits, characterized by elevated levels of phenylalanine (phe) in body fluids. These Mendelian disorders result from deficiencies in phenylalanine hydroxylase enzyme (PAH) (EC 1.14.16.1), which catalyzes the conversion of phenylalanine to tyrosine. Untreated patients have elevated levels of phenylalanine in body fluids. Those with persistent HPA from birth are likely to have irreversible impairment of cognitive development. Furthermore, transplacental transport of excess phe from the maternal pool to the fetus, during intrauterine development, puts offspring at risk for microcephaly and birth defects. These disease-causing effects of PKU and maternal HPA are preventable by treatment that restores euphenylalaninemia (1).

Although PKU is one of the best known hereditary metabolic disorders, the mechanism underlying its pathophysiology is still not fully understood (2). Furthermore, the current dietary treatment of the human disease is not optimal for either compliance or fully normal cognitive outcome. To this end, the availability of an orthologous animal model is relevant (3,4).

Chemically induced HPA in the rat had long served as the animal "model" for "PKU"; however, it had many imperfections (5). These were avoided when a mutant HPA mouse model generated by *N*-ethyl-*N'*-nitrosourea mutagenesis (6,7), manifesting all forms of the harmful HPA phenotype, became available (1,8). The mice thus generated had autosomal recessive forms of HPA representing both

188



locus and allelic heterogeneity; for example, the strain first identified (9), called hph-1, was mutated at the GTP-CH locus (10); GTP-CH catalyzes the first step in biosynthesis of tetrahydrobiopterin, a cofactor essential for hydroxylase activity. Subsequently, other strains all mutated at the Pah locus, but with varying degrees of phenotypic severity<sup>2</sup> (orthologues of human PKU and non-PKU HPA), became available (3.8). Here we report a hybrid strain (Pah<sup>mu1/2</sup>), produced by crossing a homozygous female Pah<sup>mul/1</sup> non-PKU HPA mouse with a heterozygous male Pah<sup>mu2/+</sup> PKU carrier. We describe the organismal phenotypes of the control (BTBR/Pas) and mutant strains (Pah<sup>mull1</sup> and Pah<sup>ans/2</sup>, the heteroallelic Pah<sup>ans//2</sup> strain, and their carrier counterparts), their corresponding metabolic parameters, hepatic Pah enzyme activity, blood and brain phe levels, behavioral parameters and corroborate prior evidence of maternal HPA effect on the fetus. We also discuss how this mouse model is being used to measure the response to an alternative therapy for PKU by enzyme substitution with phenylalanine ammonia lyase (EC 4.3.1.5) to degrade excess dietary and endogenous phenylalanine (18).

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

ENU mice. Wild-type mice (BTBR/Pas background) were treated with alkylating agent (Nethyl-N'-nitrosourea) and mutations mapping to the mouse phenylalanine hydroxylase locus (Pah) were identified by hyperphenylalaninemia, a metrical metabolic trait (3,7). The original strains Pah<sup>ema1/2</sup> (phenotype name, ENU1) and Pah<sup>ema2/2</sup> (ENU2), kindly given to us by W. Dove and A. Shedlovsky, were bred in Madison, Wisconsin (3,7) and later genotyped (11). The hybrid heteroallelic strain (Pah<sup>ema1/2</sup>, ENU1/2) was bred in Montreal, Canada, as described here.

The homozygous mutant ENU1 mouse is a counterpart of human non-PKU HPA (7,8); it expresses a missense mutation (c.364T  $\rightarrow$  C, V106A) in exon 3 of the *Pah* gene (11). The homozygous mutant ENU2 mouse is a counterpart of human PKU (3,8); it expresses a missense mutation (c.835T  $\rightarrow$  C, F263S) in exon 7 of the *Pah* gene (11). The ENU1/2 strain was developed by selective mating of ENU1? × *Pah*<sup>su2/\*</sup> (ENU2/+) $\beta$ . Genotypes at the *Pah* locus of all breeders and offspring were verified by DNA analysis. All procedures described below were reviewed and approved by the Animal Care Committee at McGill University.

Metabolic manipulation of animal models. Plasma and brain phe levels were measured in all mice when fed on breeder mouse chow (Teklad 8626) (Madison, WI). ENU2 mice were then made euphenylalaninemic by placing them, for 3 consecutive days, on solid diet devoid of phe (Teklad 97152) supplemented with water containing 30 mg/L L-phe, and then injected with L-phe (1.1 mg/g body wt, subcutaneously) to produce a controlled predictable HPA state. ENU1 and ENU1/2 mice do not show the HPA state on normal diet; a predictable degree of HPA was produced in these strains by subcutaneous injection of L-phe (1.1 mg/g).

Metabolic characterization. Time-dependent plasma clearance of phe was measured after subcutaneous injection of the standard dose of L-phe in the ENU1, ENU1/2, and euphenylalaninemic ENU2 animals. Plasma phe was measured at baseline (zero h) and 1, 2 and 3 h postchallenge. We use this parameter as a measure of phe "runout."

Pah enzyme assay. Liver tissues were prepared and stored at -80°C until analysis. Protein concentration was measured using the Bio-Rad protein assay kit (Hercules, CA). The assay (12-14), measuring the conversion of [U-14C]-L-phe to labeled tyrosine, was modified as follows. Homogenate (100  $\mu$ g) and 0.4 mM 6-methyltetrahydropterine (6-MPH<sub>4</sub>) (Schircks Labs, Jona, Switzerland) were added to the reaction mixture (0.1 M potassium phosphate buffer (pH 6.8), 1000 units catalase (Sigma-Aldrich, Oakville, Ontario, Canada), 0.3 mM L-phe,  $4 \times 10^5$  cpm [U-<sup>14</sup>C]phe (DuPont NEN, Boston, MA), and 10 mM dithiothreitol (ICN, Costa Mesa, CA)) (final reaction volume = 250  $\mu$ ). The samples were incubated (with shaking) at 25°C for 1 h, then boiled for 5 min, placed on ice, and analyzed according to Ledley et al. (14). Preliminary experiments established linearity of activity versus protein concentration and incubation time.

Western blots. Liver was homogenized in buffer containing 50 mM Trizma (pH 8.0), 150 mM NaCl, 1% (v/v) NP-40, 0.3  $\mu$ M aprotinin (Roche Molecular Biochemicals, Laval Quebec, Canada), and 1 mM Pefabloc (Roche Molecular Biochemicals). Samples were electrophoresed on 10% SDS-polyacrylamide gel, transferred to Hybond-C extra nitrocellulose (Amersham, Little Chalfont, Buckinghamshire, En-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Pah<sup>mall</sup> mice with an HPA phenotype were initially named the Pah<sup>bess</sup> strain; Pah<sup>mall</sup> mice are the PKU counterpart.

gland), and immunoblotted to detect mouse Pah protein, with  $1 \mu g/ml$  anti-mouse PH8 primary antibody (PharMingen, Missisauga, Ontario, Canada) (15), detected with peroxidase-labeled anti-mouse antibody (1:1000 dilution) (Amersham), and developed with RPN 2109 ECL (Amersham). Human PAH was used as a positive control.

Effect of parental phenotype on fetal survival. Females were introduced to their breeding partners immediately following sexual maturity. The following female homozygous and compound phenotypes were studied: wild-type BTBR/Pas (Control), ENU1, ENU1/2, ENU2, and heterozygous ENU1/+, ENU2/+. Various male genotypes (and phenotypes) were also studied for possible paternal affect. The effect of maternal HPA on progeny was measured by counting the number of litters and number of progeny at birth and weaning. Blood phe was measured in the dam prior to breeding and at delivery and weaning.

Tests of behavior. The T-maze alternation test was conducted as described by Nasir et al. (16). A Win-Stay eight-arm radial maze task was conducted 1 week following the completion of the Tmaze tests. The latter task, modified as described by Seamans and Phillips (17) and Nasir et al. (16), consists of a central octagonal platform with eight arms radiating from the middle  $(35 \times 9 \times 12 \text{ cm})$ ; eight 6-W light bulbs mounted directly above food cups (~4 cm from the base) were placed at the end of each arm. On the first 2 days the mice were acclimated to the maze for 10 min; no food was introduced. For the following 3 days, the animals were tested (two trials/day). On each trial day, four randomly selected arms were lit and baited with Kellogg's Froot Loops (Etobicoke, Ontario, Canada) cereal. Following food consumption, the light was turned off. After all four pellets had been retrieved (max. time allowed, 10 min) the animal was removed for a 5-min period and then placed back into the maze where the same four arms were lit and baited once again. The arm choices, the time latencies (s/ min) to reach the food in the first arm chosen, and the total time required to complete the daily trial were recorded.

DNA analysis. Animals were genotyped for wildtype and mutant alleles as described (11,18).

Brain and blood samples. The brain was removed within 5 s after death and homogenized (on ice) in 0.1% (w/v) sodium dodecyl sulfate (19). Allo-



**PIG. 1.** Plasma phe values ( $\mu$ mol, mean  $\pm$  SE, n = 4): control (**BTBR/Pas**) mice, 91.2  $\pm$  6  $\mu$ mol; ENU1/+, 58.5  $\pm$  7; ENU2/+, 65.7  $\pm$  1; ENU1, 93.4  $\pm$  8; ENU1/2, 147.0  $\pm$  29; ENU2, 1697.4  $\pm$  175. The corresponding brain phe values ( $\mu$ mol, mean  $\pm$  SE) are control, 76.9  $\pm$  6; ENU1/+, 120.3  $\pm$  10; ENU2/+, 112.5  $\pm$  5; ENU1, 123.6  $\pm$  1; ENU1/2, 150.7  $\pm$  42; ENU2, 876.4  $\pm$  30.

isoleucine was added as an internal standard; homogenate was then incubated for 15 min at room temperature followed by the addition of 1.5% (v/v) 5-sulfosalicylic acid dihydrate solution and then vortexed and centrifuged at 14,000g for 15 min. The supernatant was extracted and frozen at  $-80^{\circ}$ C until analysis. Blood was collected from the tail into heparinized tubes and plasma was obtained by centrifugation.

Amino acid analysis. Amino acids were measured by HPLC on a Beckman 6300 automatic amino acid analyzer (Palo Alto, CA).

Statistical analysis. We used single-factor analysis of variance (ANOVA) between the different genotypes (conducted for each factor measured). The Poisson heterogeneity test confirmed homogeneity within genotypes. All values reported on figures and text are expressed as means  $\pm$  SEM.

#### RESULTS

Metabolic manipulation and catabolic rates for Phe. ENU2 mice exhibit 10- to 20-fold elevated plasma phe levels and 10-fold increase in brain phe levels ( $P = 1.13 \times 10^{-11}$  and  $4.7 \times 10^{-15}$ , respectively) when fed with breeder mouse chow (Fig. 1); the corresponding measurements for the ENU1/2, ENU1, ENU1/+, ENU2/+, and BTBR/Pas wild-type strains show near normal or normal values (ANOVA conducted between these genotypes showed P =0.17 and 0.7, respectively). After the standardized injection to induce HPA in the ENU2 (initially made euphenylalaninemic, see Materials and Methods), ENU1, and ENU1/2 animals, the time-dependent

190



FIG. 2. Plasma phe clearance rates for  $\triangle$ , ENU1;  $\diamondsuit$ , ENU1/2; and  $\blacksquare$ , ENU2 animals loaded with a standard dose of phe (mean  $\pm$  SE; n = 5).

plasma clearance rates (catabolic rates) (Fig. 2) show that ENU2 animals have the most severe metabolic phenotype, ENU1 animals the least severe, and ENU1/2 mice an intermediate phenotype.

Pah enzyme activity. We examined the relationship between hepatic Pah enzyme activity and plasma phe levels (Fig. 3). The ENU2 mice, with undetectable enzyme activity, have the most elevated plasma phe levels. ENU1 and ENU1/2 mice, with ~24 and 5% normal enzyme activity, respectively, have near normal plasma phe levels under standard diet conditions. ENU2/+, ENU1/+ heterozygotes with ~49 and 61% normal enzyme activity, have normal plasma phe levels as expected for a recessive trait.

Enzyme protein levels. Hepatic Pah protein levels, as visualized by immunoblotting of liver ex-



FIG. 3. Pab enzyme activity vs plasma phe values in control and ENU phenotypes (mean  $\pm$  SEM; n = 4). Enzyme activity and plasma phe levels of the ENU1/2 animals are intermediate compared to those of ENU1 and ENU2 animals (P < 0.05).



FIG. 4. Western blot for Pah protein in liver extracts (representative of six replicates). The -52-kDa band (arrow) is the Pah monomer; other faint bands represent nonspecific binding, confirmed by their absence with purified human PAH (lane 1) and their presence in the wild-type mouse strain (lane 7). Lane 1: purified human PAH (hPAH); lane 2: ENU2, lane 3: ENU1/2; lane 4: ENU1; lane 5: ENU1/+; lane 6: ENU2/+; lane 7: wild-type BTBR/Pas, Rainbow marker used for reference.

tracts, are different in the three ENU phenotypes (Fig. 4). These findings imply that enzyme stability may vary with genotype: The ENU1 mutation apparently affects stability (and therefore activity) of the protein, evident by the clearly reduced level of immunoreactive Pah. The ENU2 mutation, which impairs enzyme activity, may also affect stability; it produces somewhat diminished but easily detectable protein, evident by the substantial amounts of immunoreactivity. The ENU1/2 compound is intermediate in both protein stability and enzyme activity. These findings were consistent in six replicates.

Maternal effect. The ENU2 dams with severe HPA conferred a severe maternal effect on offspring; the other strains did not, the effect being dependent on the degree of HPA (Table 1). ANOVA analyses showed a significant reduction in the number of litters and progeny at birth and of those surviving to weaning only from the ENU2 mothers (P < 0.00014 and 0.0008, respectively).

Behavior. The T-maze alternation test assesses simple discrimination learning and short-term memory; we observed impaired behavior only in the ENU2 animals (Table 2). The Win-Stay eight-arm radial maze task measures reference memory, habit learning, and memory for a visual stimulus. Only the ENU2 model showed impaired behavior (Table 2).

#### DISCUSSION

Animal models assist the study of disease phenotypes and potential therapies (20). Mouse models

SARKISSIAN ET AL

Maternal genotype	Average No. of litters/mated female	Average No. of litters surviving to weaning/ mated female	Average No. of progeny at birth/litter	Average No. of progeny surviving to weaning/litter
Control	1.9 ± 0.2	$1.6 \pm 0.1$	8.0 ± 0.7	7.1 ± 0.8
ENU1/+	$2.0 \pm 0.3$	$1.6 \pm 0.5$	$8.1 \pm 1.2$	$7.6 \pm 1.4$
ENU2/+	$3.1 \pm 0.4$	$1.9 \pm 0.3$	$6.6 \pm 0.6$	$4.9 \pm 0.7$
ENU1	$2.7 \pm 0.2$	$1.9 \pm 0.2$	$6.2 \pm 0.5$	$5.0 \pm 0.5$
ENU1/2	$3.1 \pm 1.3$	$2.1 \pm 0.4$	$6.0 \pm 0.8$	$5.3 \pm 0.8$
ENU2	$1.3 \pm 0.2$	0 ± 0*	$1.3 \pm 0.9$	$0 \pm 0^{*}$

192

\* ANOVA. P < 0.00014.

\* ANOVA, P < 0.0008.

offer the added advantage in that their genomes are highly homologous with the human genome (21). In addition the mouse and human phenylalanine hydroxylase genes have ~87% conservation of the nucleotide sequence, with ~10% of the changes silent; the corresponding proteins have 95% conserved amino acid sequences (14). Here we have described and compared phenotypes of control (BTBR/Pas) and mutant strains (Pah<sup>maill</sup>, Pah<sup>mail2</sup>, Pah<sup>mail2</sup>, and their heterozygous counterparts), the mutants being orthologues of human PKU and non PKU-HPA (Fig. 5).

The ENU1 mouse, which displays a mild phenotype (non-PKU HPA), carries a mutation in exon 3 (11) affecting the N-terminal region of the enzyme distant from the catalytic residues of PAH/Pah, recently identified by crystallographic analysis of the human enzyme (22,23). The ENU2 counterpart has a mutation in exon 7 which includes the catalytic region; the site is predicted to have  $\pi$ -stacking interactions with the substrate (24). The resulting phenotype is PKU-like (11). The ENU1/2 heteroallelic counterpart displays an intermediate phenotype. Pah enzyme activities of the various models correlate inversely with the corresponding phe levels in plasma and brain and with plasma phe clearance time. ENU2 mice with undetectable enzyme activity have ~20-fold elevated plasma and brain phe levels and the slowest clearance rate, while ENU1 and ENU1/2 mice with ~24 and 5% normal enzyme activity, respectively, have near normal plasma and brain phe levels and more normal clearance rates. The carrier counterparts, having approximately half the normal enzyme activity, display normal plasma and brain phe levels. These metrical traits are those expected for an autosomal recessive phenotype (25).

Pah protein shows different states of stability in the different ENU phenotypes. The ENU1 mutation results in protein instability, whereas the ENU2 mutation has only a minor effect on this parameter. Stability in the ENU1/2 compound is intermediate in comparison.

The behavioral assessment of ENU2 mice shows impaired simple discrimination in short-term memory, reference memory, habit learning, and memory for a visual stimulus. The other genotypes were cor-

TABLE 2 Behavioral Assessment (Mean  $\pm$  SE, n = 6)

Test	ENU2	Remaining genotypes combined	Significance (P)
T-maze alternation test			
Increase in average time required to reach food (s)	$20.7 \pm 6.7$	$5.2 - 10.3 \pm 0.4 - 2.1$	<0.005
The Win-Stay eight-arm radial maze task			
Reduction in the No. of entries into initially lit arms	5.5 ± 0.3	6.2-7.5 ± 0.4-0.5	<0.03
Increase in average time required to reach food (s)	58.3 ± 15.5	5.6-13.1 ± 1.3-1.9	<4 × 10 <sup>-•</sup>
Increase in average time to complete trials (s)	290.0 ± 36.0	71.8-138.6 ± 6.4-13.4	<8 × 10 <sup>-12</sup>



FIG. 5. Classic mouse models of PKU and non-PKU HPA, induced by N-ethyl-N'-nitrosoures (ENU) mutagenesis: A, control BTBR/Pas; B, Pah<sup>me//\*</sup> heterozygous carrier/wild-type; C, Pah<sup>me//\*</sup> non-PKU HPA orthologue; D, Pah<sup>me//\*</sup> heterozygous carrier/wild-type; E, Pah<sup>me//\*</sup> PKU orthologue; F, Pah<sup>me//\*</sup> heteroallelic orthologue.

respondingly unaffected in clinical measures. These observations concur with earlier findings (26).

The maternal effect on offspring correlates directly with the degree of HPA and is apparent only with the ENU2 mothers; the effect is completely independent of paternal genotype. These findings resemble human data where maternal plasma phe levels below the  $400-\mu$ mol range are usually associated with normal fetal outcome (1).

The ENU1/2 mouse model has been particularly useful for measuring the response to an alternative therapy for PKU, namely oral administration of phenylalanine ammonia lyase in an effort to degrade excess phe from the accumulated pools (18). Our present studies demonstrate proof of principle, both pharmacological and physiological. The present report describes in detail the parameters available to measure the short- and long-term responses to this therapy and document the advantages of the ENU1/2 strain for this work.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported in part by the Medical Research Council (Canada), the Canadian Genetic Diseases Network (CGDN) (Networks of Centers of Excellence), and a contract for maintenance of the mice from IBEX via CGDN. Studentship awards were supported by the Garrod Association (Canada),

#### SARKISSIAN ET AL.

McGill University-Montreal Children's Hospital Research Institute, and The Auxiliary (Montreal Children's Hospital).

#### REFERENCES

- Scriver CR, Kaufman S, Eisensmith RC, Woo SLC. The hyperphenylalaninemias. In The metabolic and molecular bases of inherited disease, 7th ed. (Scriver CR, Beaudet AL, Sly WS, Valle D, Eds.). New York: McGraw-Hill, pp 1015-1075, 1995.
- Scriver CR, Waters PJ. Monogenic traits are not simple: Lessons from phenylketonuria. Trends Genet 15:267-272, 1999.
- Shedlovsky A. McDonald JD, Symula D, Dove W. Mouse models of human phenylketonuria. *Genetics* 134:1205-1210, 1993.
- McDonald JD. Using high-efficiency mouse germline mutagenesis to investigate complex biological phenomena: Genetic disease, behavior, and development. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 200:303-308, 1995.
- Scriver CR, Kaufman S, Woo SLC. The hyperphenylalaninemias. In The metabolic basis of inherited disease, 6th ed. (Scriver CR, Beaudet AL, Sly WS, Valle D, Eds.). New York: McGraw-Hill, pp 495-546, 1989.
- Russell WL, Kelly EM, Hunsicker PR, Bangham JW, Maddux SC, Phipps EL. Specific locus test shows ethylnitrosource to be the most potent mutagen in the mouse. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 76:5818-5819, 1979.
- McDonald JD, Bode VC, Dove WF, Shedlovsky A. Pah<sup>365</sup>: A mouse mutant deficient in phenylalanine hydroxylase. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 87:1965-1967, 1990.
- McDonald JD. The PKU mouse project: Its history, potential and implications. Acta Paediatr 407:122-123, 1994.
- Bode V, McDonald J, Guenet J, Simon D. hph-l: A mouse mutant with hereditary hyperphenylalaninemia induced by ethylnitrosourea mutagenesis. *Genetics* 118:299-306, 1988.
- Montanez CS, McDonald JD. Linkage analysis of the hph-1 mutation and the GTP-cyclohydrolase I structural gene. Mol Genet Metab 68:91-92, 1999.
- McDonald JD, Charlton CK. Characterization of mutations at the mouse phenylalanine hydroxylase locus. *Genomics* 39:402-405, 1997.
- Ledley FD, Grenett HE, Woo SL. Biochemical characterization of recombinant human phenylalanine hydroxylase produced in *Escherichia coli*. J Biol Chem 262:2228-2233, 1987.
- Kaufman S. Phenylalanine 4-monooxygenase from rat liver. Methods Enzymol 142:3-17, 1987.

- Ledley FD, Grenett HE, Dunbar BS, Woo SLC. Mouse phenylalanine hydroxylase, homology and divergence from human phenylalanine hydroxylase. *Biochem J* 267:399-406, 1990.
- Cotton RGH, McAdam W, Jennings I, Morgan FJ. A monoclonal antibody to aromatic amino acid hydroxylases. *Biochem J* 255:193-196, 1988.
- Nasir J, Floresco SB, Ousky JR, Diewert VM, Richman JM, Zeisler J, Borowski A, Marth JD, Phillips AG, Hayden MR. Targeted disruption of the Huntington's disease gene results in embryonic lethality and behavioral and morphological changes in heterozygotes. *Cell* 81:811-823, 1995.
- Seamans JK, Phillips AG. Selective memory impairments produced by transient lidocaine-induced lesions of the nucleus accumbens in rats. *Behav Neurosci* 108:456-468, 1994.
- Sarkiasian CN, Shao Z, Blain F, Peevers R, Su H, Heft R, Chang TMS, Scriver CR. A different approach to treatment of phenylketonuria: Phenylalanine degradation with recombinant phenylalanine ammonia lyase. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 98:2339-2344, 1999.
- Diomede L, Romano G, Guiso G, Caccia S, Nava S, Salmona M. Interspecies and interstrain studies on the increased susceptibility to metrozol-induced convulsions in animals given aspartame. Food Chem Taxic 29:101-106, 1991.
- Scriver CR, Kaufman S. Hyperphenylalaninemia: Phenylalanine hydroxylase deficiency. In The metabolic and molecular bases of inherited disease, 8th ed. (Scriver CR, Beaudet AL, Sly WS, Valle D, Eds.; Childs B, Kinzler KW, Vogelstien B, Assoc. Eds.). New York: McGraw-Hill, in press, 2000.
- Nadeau JH. Maps of linkage and synteny homologies between mouse and man. Trends Genet 5:82-86, 1989.
- Erlandsen H, Fusetti P, Martinez A, Hough E, Flatmark T. Stevens RC. Crystal structure of the catalytic domain of human phenylalanine hydroxylase reveals the structural basis for phenylketonuria. *Nat Struct Biol* 4:995-1000, 1997.
- Fusetti F, Erlandsen H, Martinez A, Flatmark T, Stevens RC. Structure of tetrameric human phenylalanine hydroxylase and its implications for phenylketonuria. J Biol Chem 273:16962-16967, 1998.
- Erlandsen H, Stevens RC. The structural basis of phenylketonuria. Mol Genet Metab 68:103-125, 1999.
- Kacser H, Burns JA. The molecular basis of dominance. Genetics 97:639-666, 1981.
- Zagreda L, Goodman J, Druin DP, McDonald D, Diamond A. Cognitive deficits in a genetic mouse model of the most common biochemical cause of human mental retardation. J Neurosci 19:6175-6182, 1999.

## **APPENDIX B**

(Copyright © 2000 by Academic Press) (http://www.apnet.com) Reprinted with the permission of the publisher Analytical Biochemistry 280, 242–249 (2000) doi:10.1006/abio.2000.4542, available online at http://www.idealibrary.com on IDEAL®



### Measurement of Phenyllactate, Phenylacetate, and Phenylpyruvate by Negative Ion Chemical Ionization-Gas Chromatography/Mass Spectrometry in Brain of Mouse Genetic Models of Phenylketonuria and Non-Phenylketonuria Hyperphenylalaninemia

Christineh N. Sarkissian,\* Charles R. Scriver,\* and Orval A. Mamert<sup>11</sup>

\*Departments of Biology, Human Genetics, and Pediatrics, McGill University, and Debelle Laboratory, McGill University-Montreal Children's Hospital Research Institute, 2300 Tupper Street, A-717, Montreal, Quebec, H3H 1P3, Canada; and †Mass Spectrometry Unit, McGill University, 1130 Pine Avenue West, Montreal, Quebec, H3A 1A3, Canada

Received October 12, 1999

242

Phenylketonuria (PKU) (OMIM 261600) is the first Mendelian disease to have an identified chemical cause of impaired cognitive development. The disca is accompanied by hyperphenylalaninemia (HPA) and elevated levels of phenylalanine metabolites (phenylacetate (PAA), phenyllactate (PLA), and phenylpyruvate (PPA)) in body fluids. Here we describe a method to determine the concentrations of PAA, PPA, and PLA. in the brain of normal and mutant orthologous mice, the latter being models of human PKU and non-PKU HPA. Stable isotope dilution techniques are employed with the use of ['H<sub>4</sub>]-phenylacetic acid and [2,3,3-'H<sub>2</sub>]-3-phenyllactic acid as internal standards. Negative ion chemical ionization (NICI)-GC/MS analyses are performed on the pentafluorobenzyl ester derivatives formed in sits in brain homogenates. Unstable PPA in the homogenate is reduced by NaB'H, to stable PLA, which is labeled with a single deuterium and discriminated from endogenous PLA in the mass spectrometer on that basis. The method demonstrates that these metabolites are easily measured in normal mouse brain and are elevated moderately in HPA mice and greatly in PKU mice. However, their concentrations are not sufficient in PKU to be "toxic"; phenylalanine itself remains the chemical candidate causing impaired cognitive development. • >>> Acces aio Press

Key Words: PKU; non-PKU hyperphenylalaninemia; phenyllactate; phenylacetate; phenylpyruvate; phenyialanine metabolites; GC/MS; deuterium; selected ion monitoring; stable isotopes; mouse models.

Phenylketonuria (PKU)<sup>2</sup> and related forms of non-PKU hyperphenylalaninemia (HPA) (1) are autosomal recessive disorders of amino acid metabolism, which result from primary dysfunction of phenylalanine hydroxylase (PAH), the hepatic enzyme responsible for catalyzing the conversion of phenylalanine to tyrosine. PKU and HPA patients have elevated levels in body fluids of phenylalanine (phe) and of metabolites derived from phenylalanine (phenylpyruvate (PPA), phenylacetate (PAA), and phenyllactate (PLA)) (2, 3). Untreated PKU probands usually have severe irreversible mental retardation; the risk of mental retardation is less in the conditions with a lower degree of HPA (non-PKU HPA).

The free phe pool in the normal subject is derived from two sources: intake of exogenous dietary protein and turnover of endogenous polypeptides. Approximately 25% of the free pool is normally incorporated into protein; most of the remaining 75% is hydroxy-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> To whom correspondence should be addressed. Fax: (514) 398-2488. E-mail: md82@musica.mcgill.ca.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Abbreviations used: d, suffix denotes substitution by x atoms of deuterium in the molecule; ENU, N-ethyl-N'-nitrosoures; (ENUI/1) orthologous mouse model for human non-PKU hyperphenylalanine mis; (ENU2/2), orthologous mouse model for human PKU; HPA, hyperphenylalaninemis; MBTFA, N-methyl-bis-trifluoroscetamide; NICI, negative ion chemical ionization; PAA, phenylacetic acid; PFB, pentafluorobenzyl; phe, phenylalanine; PKU, phenylketonuria; PLA, phenyllactic acid; PPA, phenylpyruvic acid; SIM, selected ion monitoring; TFA, trifluoroscetate.



FIG. 1. NICI mass spectra obtained for the PFB derivatives of unlabeled PAA and PAAd, Intensities of ions with masses greater than 145 Da have been multiplied by 20, and appear not to be related to the sample. The intense ions at m/x 135 and 140 carry nearly the entirety of the ion current produced and correspond to the carboxylate anions formed by the loss of the pentafluorobenzyl radical from the molecular anions. While the molecular anions expected at m/x316 and 321, respectively, are not detected, very weak ion currents attributable to loss of HF from the molecular anions (not shown) confirm the nature of the derivatives.

lated to tyrosine and only a trivial fraction is transaminated to PPA under normal conditions (4). PAH enzyme catalyzes the hydroxylation reaction; when its activity is absent or reduced (as in PKU and to a lesser degree in non-PKU HPA), the free phe pool expands, if dietary phe input is not reduced. At this stage, the degradative transamination pathway, involving conversion of phe to PPA (the initial reaction in this pathway), becomes significant at a modal phe value of  $\sim 0.5$ mM (2-5). PPA is subsequently converted to PLA and PAA and phenylacetylglutamine (1). Whether these metabolites actually contribute to pathogenesis of cognitive impairment has long been debated (3, 5).

Orthologous mouse models of PKU and non-PKU HPA exist (6-8) which allow us to measure phe and its metabolites in brain in various degrees of HPA. Here we describe a GC/MS method to measure phenylalanine metabolites based upon stable isotope dilution techniques, coupled with negative ion chemical ionization (NICI).

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

The method measures PAA as the pentafluorobenzyl (PFB) ester with  $[^{2}H_{5}]$ -phenylacetic acid (PAAd<sub>5</sub>) as internal standard, and PLA as the PFB and trifluoroacetate (TFA) diester with  $[2,3,3-^{2}H_{3}]$ -phenyllactic acid (PLAd<sub>3</sub>) as internal standard. PPA is reduced to  $[2-^{2}H]$ phenyllactic acid (PLAd<sub>1</sub>) by addition of sodium boro-



FIG. 2. NICI mass spectra obtained for the PFB derivatives of the TFA esters of unlabeled PLA, PLAd<sub>1</sub>, and PLAd<sub>2</sub>. Intensities of ions with masses greater than 270 have been multiplied by 50 to show that they appear not to be related to the sample, as the masses show no incrementing dependent upon labeling. The carboxylate anions at m/z 261, 262, and 264 formed by the loss of the pentafluorobenzyl radical from the molecular anions (m/z 442, 443, and 445, not detected) carry nearly all the ion current.



FIG. 3. SIM chromatograms for a calibrating mixture containing unlabeled PAA (m/z 135), internal standard PAAd<sub>6</sub> (m/z 140), and unlabeled PLA (m/z 261). Ion currents at m/z 262 (12.47% relative to m/z 261) and 264 (0.13%) are due to natural abundance heavy isotope inclusion in the carboxylate anion formed from the unlabeled PLA derivative.

deuteride  $(NaB^2H_*)$  to the supernatant of the tissue homogenate, and is measured in the manner similar to that for PLA.



FIG. 4. Calibration curves, showing linear responses for PLA, PPA, and PAA, over physiological ranges. The abscissa represents weights of unlabeled metabolites added to calibrating aqueous solutions of 1 ml volume containing 13.31  $\mu$ g of PLAd<sub>3</sub> and 1  $\mu$ g of PAAd<sub>5</sub>. The ordinate represents the ratio of areas of unlabeled to labeled analogues obtained for these solutions.

#### **Mouse Models**

The homozygous mutant strain  $Pah^{outlinus}$  (phenotype name, ENU2/2) and  $Pah^{outlinus}$  (ENU1/1) are orthologues of human PKU and non-PKU-HPA, respectively (http://www.mcgill.ca/pahdb/mouse). They were developed by treating wild-type mice (BTBR background (used as controls)) with the alkylating agent *N*-ethyl-*N*'-nitrosourea (6, 7, 9). Produced in Wisconsin, they were kindly given to us by W. Dove and A. Shedlovsky. They display a range of phenotypic characteristics comparable to those of affected human individuals (10).

#### **Preparation of Internal Standard Solutions**

 $PAAd_5$ . A 0.071 mM PAAd<sub>5</sub> stock solution was prepared by dissolution of 1.0 mg (CDN isotopes) in 100 ml deionized H<sub>2</sub>O.

*PLAd*<sub>.</sub>, PPA (17 mg, 0.1 mmol, Sigma Chemical Co.) was dissolved in deuterium oxide (25 ml, CDN Isotopes) and made basic (pH > 12) with 3 drops of 40% NaO<sup>2</sup>H in <sup>2</sup>H<sub>2</sub>O. The resulting solution was held at 60°C for 1 h and then rotary evaporated to near-dry-

#### SPECTROMETRIC MEASUREMENT OF PHENYLALANINE IN PHENYLKETONURIA



FIG. 5. SIM chromatograms obtained for phe metabolites in the brain of a normal mouse. PAA (m/x 135) is clearly present, while PLA and PPA (m/x 261 and 262) are not detected in the present example. The ion current at m/x 264 is due to the PLAd<sub>3</sub> internal standard.

ness. The residue was taken up in a 10-ml aliquot of <sup>2</sup>H<sub>2</sub>O and held at 60°C for 1 h. This solution was cooled to room temperature and NaB<sup>2</sup>H<sub>4</sub> (approximately 5 mg, CDN Isotopes) was added. The resulting solution was warmed to 50°C for 10 min, cooled in an ice bath, and slowly acidified to pH < 2 with 2 N HCl (caution: vigorous evolution of hydrogen). The solution was saturated with NaCl and extracted with three 10-ml volumes of diethyl ether. The ether extracts were combined, made anhydrous by addition of solid anhydrous Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> (two successive 1-g lots), and then evaporated to dryness in a dry nitrogen stream. The product, PLAd<sub>1</sub> was obtained (14 mg, 83% crude yield) in oil form, free of residual PPA as determined by GC/MS analysis of the trimethylsilyl derivatives. Extensive experience with reductions of keto acids with NaB<sup>2</sup>H<sub>4</sub> in this laboratory shows that these reductions are quantitative. The isotopic purity was determined to be 97% as the triply deuterium-labeled isotopomer. Approximately 14 mg of the crude product was dissolved in deionized water (100 ml) to be used as the internal standard for PLA and PLAd, determinations. The concentration of this internal standard was determined by a reverse stable isotope dilution assay, measuring relative ion intensities in a solution with unlabeled PLA

of known concentration. The final concentration of the PLAd<sub>3</sub> internal standard solution was 0.787 mM.

#### Brain Sample Preparation

Brains were removed within 5 s following decapitation of ENU2/2, ENU1/1, and control animals fed with standard rodent diet (Teklad No. 8604) (n = 6/genotype) and immediately homogenized in minimal 20°C deionized water (1:1, w/v) to which we added the labeled internal standards (100 µl each of the PLAd<sub>3</sub> and PAAd<sub>5</sub> solutions). The total volume was made up to 1 ml, adjusted to pH 10-12 with dilute KOH, NaB<sup>2</sup>H, (2 mg) was added immediately, and the tubes were placed in 50°C water for 10 min. PFB derivatives were prepared in the manner previously reported (11) with the following stock solutions: A. methylene chloride (20 ml) and pentafluorobenzyl bromide (0.4 ml, Aldrich Chemical Co.); B, potassium phosphate buffer (pH 7.4, 100 ml) and tetrabutylammonium hydrogen sulfate (3.4 g, Aldrich Chemical Co.) adjusted to pH 7.4 with 2 N KOH. Solutions A (0.25 ml) and B (0.25 ml) were combined in a separate tube, 0.25 ml of tissue homogenate supernatant was added, the mixture was vortexed for 2 min and then placed in an ultrasonic bath for 20 min at

245



FIG. 6. SIM chromatograms obtained for phe metabolites in the brain of an ENU-1 mouse. PAA is present at levels somewhat lower than those in the normal mouse, and PLA and PPA are elevated slightly relative to the normal mouse. The retention times seen here are slightly different from Fig. 5 because in the interim the analytical column was replaced.

room temperature. Hexane (2 ml) was added, the mixture was vortexed for 1 min, the hexane layer was then removed and dried by addition of anhydrous sodium sulfate (10 mg) with vortexing for 1 min. The hexane layer was next decanted into a separate tube, N-methyl-bis-trifluoroacetamide (MBTFA, 50  $\mu$ l, Pierce Chemical Co.) added was then vortexed and placed into a 50°C water bath for 10 min. A 1 N sodium bicarbonate solution (2 ml) was added to the tube and the mixture was vortexed for 1 min. The hexane layer was finally removed into a separate tube, anhydrous sodium sulfate was added, and the mixture was vortexed for 1 min. An aliquot of this final hexane solution was transferred to an autoinjector vial for GC/MS analysis.

#### **Blank Sample**

Blank samples were prepared with deionized water equal in volume to the brain tissue homogenate supernatants. These samples were processed and analyzed as described for the tissue samples.

#### GC/MS Analysis

Aliquots  $(1 \mu l)$  of the derivatized mixtures were analyzed in NICI mode with a Hewlett-Packard 5988A

GC/MS fitted with a 30-m × 0.25-mm i.d. capillary column (J & W Scientific) coated with a 0.25-µm DB-1 film. The helium flow rate was 2 ml/min; the injector and interface temperatures were 250°C. The column was temperature programmed from 100°C after a 1-min hold to 120°C at 40°C/min and then at 10°C/min to 280°C. The column was baked out at 280°C for 5 min at the completion of each sample analysis. Methane was used as the moderator gas at an indicated source pressure of 0.6 mbar and the ion source temperature was 120°C. Selected ion mode was used to measure the intensities of negative ion fragments m/z 135, 140, 261, 262, and 264 with dwell times of 50 ms each. These fragments arise by the loss of the pentafluorobenzyl radical from the molecular anions of the PFB derivatives of PAA and PAAd<sub>5</sub>, and the PFB/TFA derivatives of PLA, PLAd<sub>1</sub>, and PLAd<sub>3</sub>, respectively.

#### Amino Acid Quantitation

Whole blood was collected from mouse tails into heparinized tubes, plasma was separated by centrifugation, and after deproteinization the amino acid content was analyzed by HPLC on a Beckman 6300 automatic amino acid analyzer.



FIG. 7. SIM chromatograms obtained for phe metabolites in the brain of an ENU-2 mouse. PAA, PLA, and PPA are all clearly elevated. The labeled internal standards (*m/z* 140 and 264) elute slightly earlier than their unlabeled analogues. The retention times seen here are again slightly different from Fig. 5 because in the interim the analytical column was replaced.

Whole brain amino acids were analyzed according to the method described by Diomede *et al.* (12). Brain tissue was removed within 5 s after decapitation and homogenized (on ice) in 0.5% sodium dodecyl sulfate solution (1:4, w/v). Alloisoleucine was added as an internal standard and the homogenate was then incubated for 15 min at room temperature. A 4% solution of 5-sulfosalicylic acid dihydrate solution (1:0.6, v/v) was added, and the mixture was centrifuged at 14,000g for 15 min. The supernatant was decanted and frozen at -80°C until analyzed by HPLC as above.

#### **RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

NICI mass spectra obtained for the PFB esters of authentic PAA and PAAd<sub>5</sub> standards are shown in Fig. 1. The most intense ions correspond to the carboxylate anions (m/z 135 and 140, respectively) produced by the loss of the pentafluorobenzyl radical (181 Da) from the molecular anions (m/z 316 and 321, respectively, not detected). Loss of HF (20 Da) from the molecular anions, which is commonly observed in derivatives of this nature, is detectable, although not apparent in the Fig. 1. The 140-Da fragment in the spectrum of  $PAAd_b$  confirms that all labeling is intact in the ion measured. SIM analysis of  $PAAd_b$  shows that the unlabeled content is 1.39% relative to the labeled. This is taken into account in the calculations of the endogenous concentrations of PAA.

NICI spectra for the PFB esters of the trifluoroacetyl esters of unlabeled and labeled PLA are shown in Fig. 2. The most intense ions  $(m/z \ 261, \ 262, \ and \ 264)$ represent the carboxyl anions produced by the loss of the pentafluorobenzyl radical from the molecular anions m/z 442, 443, and 445 (not detected) of unlabeled authentic PLA, PLAd, synthesized from PPA by reduction with NaB<sup>2</sup>H<sub>4</sub>, and synthesized PLAd<sub>1</sub> (internal standard), respectively. The PLAd, isotopomer corresponds to PPA in the original homogenate. It is essential that the 2-hydroxyl group of the PLA isotopomers be derivatized because decomposition by dehydration at GC temperatures would lead to deuterium label loss. The PLAd<sub>3</sub> synthesized and used as internal standard was found by SIM analysis to be 97.17% PLAd<sub>3</sub>, 2.66% PLAd<sub>2</sub>, 0.001% PLAd<sub>1</sub>, and 0.16% PLAd<sub>0</sub>. Reduction of authentic PPA by NaB<sup>2</sup>H, yielded PLAd, that was



#### SARKISSIAN, SCRIVER, AND MAMER

TABLE I

Relationship between Brain Phe Metabolites with Plasma Phe Levels in Three Phenotypes (normal, ENU1, and ENU2) (n = 6/genotype,  $\bar{X} \pm SE$ )

Mouse models	Plasma phenylalanine concentration (μM)	PPA (nmol/g brain)	PAA (nmol/g brain)	PLA (nmol/g brain)
Control	<100	$1.2 \pm 0.1$	$2.7 \pm 0.3$	$0.2 \pm 0.1$
ENU-1	150-400	$1.2 \pm 0.1$	$2.2 \pm 0.5$	$0.9 \pm 0.3$
ENU-2	1400-3000	$2.2 \pm 0.3$	7.4 ± 1.6	<b>59.3 ± 21.8</b>

0.29% unlabeled, a measure of the isotopic purity of the lot of NaB<sup>2</sup>H<sub>4</sub> which was used for the entire study.

SIM chromatograms obtained for one of the calibrating mixtures containing PAA, PAAd<sub>6</sub>, and unlabeled PLA are shown in Fig. 3. The PAA isotopomers are represented by the carboxylate anions  $(m/z \ 135 \ and$ 140) formed by the loss of the pentafluorobenzyl moiety from the molecular anions (not detectable). The PLA chromatograms (m/z 261, 262, and 264) would normaily represent the carboxylate anions of unlabeled PLA, PLAd<sub>1</sub> (formed by the reduction of PPA by NaBD,), and the internal standard PLAd, respectively, formed by the loss of the pentafluorobenzyl moiety from the molecular anions of the PFB-TFA derivatives. In this instance, the measured relative intensities are for unlabeled PLA substituted with only natural abundance heavy isotopes. The intensities of m/z 262 and 264 measured in the ion cluster relative to m/z 261 are 12.47 and 0.13%, respectively, and compare well with the calculated values of 12.51 and 0.12%, respectively.

The calibration curves for all three metabolites, over the expected physiological ranges, are shown in Fig. 4 A linear response is demonstrated for each metabolite  $(R^2 > 0.98$  for each metabolite). The response for PPA (measured as PLAd<sub>1</sub>) is approximately 72% that of PLAd<sub>0</sub>. This is possibly due to lack of purity or homogeneity in the PPA originally weighed out. Analysis of the PPA as the TMS derivative shows the presence of small but significant quantities of PLA and PAA. The sensitivity of our method (for all three metabolites) is estimated to be 0.1 nmol/g brain tissue.

Typical chromatograms for normal (Fig. 5), ENU-1 (Fig. 6), and ENU-2 (Fig. 7) mouse brain are shown. In normal mouse brain PAA is detectable  $(m/z \ 135)$  at low levels, while PLA and PPA  $(m/z \ 261 \ and \ 262)$  are essentially absent (Fig. 5). The apparently inverted peak (retention time, 9.02 min) in the responses for  $m/z \ 135$  and 140 results from the elution of a large unidentified peak which temporarily depletes the thermal electron atmosphere in the ion source.

The ENU-1 (non-PKU HPA) mouse brain (Fig. 6) contains elevated levels of PLA and PPA (m/z 261 and 262). The minor variation in the PAA levels between the ENU-1 and normal mice demonstrates that at nor-

mal or near normal (physiological) phe levels the transamination pathway contributes insignificantly to the brain metabolic phenotype in the variant HPA state.

The ENU-2 (PKU-like) mouse (Fig. 7) shows greatly increased concentrations of all three metabolites. The well-known tendency for deuterium-labeled analogs to elute slightly earlier than the corresponding unlabeled compounds is apparent.

The correlation between plasma phe and brain metabolites is shown in Table 1. BTBR-wild-type and ENU1 animals, displaying normal (<100  $\mu$ M) or low (150-400  $\mu$ M) plasma phe levels, respectively, have low phe metabolite levels in brain. This finding implies that the transamination pathway comes into play only at phe levels above 0.4 mM, as implied by the findings in the ENU2 animals, moreover correlating well with previous observations (see Fig. 15-1 in Ref. 5). When present, metabolite levels have a rank order PLA > PAA > PPA. The relationship between plasma and brain phenylalanine levels in the mouse models is given in Table 2.

Our data are among the first reporting direct measurements of brain phe metabolites in PKU and non-PKU HPA. A preliminary report by Evans (13) compared brain and body fluid metabolites in control and ENU-2 mice. Here we present a formal analysis of PLA, PAA, and PPA in brains of orthologous mice with PKU and non-PKU HPA and compare them with control values. Our interest was to study phe metabolite concentrations in brain independent of their levels in blood or urine; the latter were the focus of most earlier studies. The data show that brain metabolite concen-

TABLE 2

Relationships between Plasma and Brain Phe Values in Three Mouse Models ( $\mu$ M, n = 6,  $\ddot{X} \pm$  SE)

Mouse models	Plasma phenylalanine concentration (µM)	Brain phenylalanine concentration (µM)	
Control	74.4 = 8.8	70.1 ± 6.5	
ENU-1	181.5 = 23.3	$120.6 \pm 8.1$	
ENU-2	$1882.7 \pm 156.5$	886.97 ± 26.6	

trations correlate positively with plasma phe levels. More important, the levels of the metabolite measured here do not reach levels of toxicity predicted for human subjects by Kaufman (3) and documented in earlier studies (14). Taking into account assumptions about distributions of metabolites in the intracellular and extracellular space of brain, the levels of metabolites measured here are 10-fold lower than those associated with toxicity in brain (14). Nonetheless, our PKU (ENU-2) mice exhibit the behavioral and cognitive impairment expected in PKU (10), which we attribute primarily to the effect of phenylalanine itself. On the other hand, in certain untreated PKU patients with normal cognitive function, brain phe values are not elevated in the presence of high blood values, as measured by MRI (see Ref. 15); an independent impediment of blood/brain phe transport has been offered as an explanation. Our use of both the analytical method and the orthologous mouse models of the human is offered here as a contribution toward resolving a longstanding controversy about pathogenesis of the cognitive phenotype in PKU.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported in part by the Medical Research Council (Canada), the Canadian Genetic Diseases Network (CGDN) (Networks of Centers of Excellence) and a contract for maintenance of the mice from IBEX via CGDN. Studentship awards were supported by the McGill University-Montreal Children's Hospital Research Institute, the Garrod Association (Canada) and The Auxiliary (Montreal Children's Hospital).

#### REFERENCES

- Scriver, C. R., Kaufman, S., Eisensmith, R. C., and Woo, S. L. C. (1996) in The Metabolic and Molecular Bases of Inherited Disease (7th ed.) (Scriver, C. R., Beaudet, A. L., Sty, W. S., and Valle, D., Eds.), pp. 1015–1075, McGraw-Hill, New York.
- Knoz, W. E. (1972) in The Metabolic Bases of Inherited Disease (Stanbury, J. B., Wyngaarden, J. B., and Fredrickson, D. S., Eds.), 3rd ed., pp. 266-295, McGraw-Hill, New York.

- Kaufman, S. (1989) An evaluation of the possible neurotoxicity of metabolites of phenylalanine. J. Pediatr. 114, 895-900.
- Kaufman, S. (1999) A model of human phenylalanine metabolism in normal subjects and in phenylketonuric patients. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 96(6), 3160-3164.
- Scriver, C. R., Kaufman, S., and Woo, S. L. C. (1989) in The Metabolic Basis of Inherited Disease (Scriver, C. R., Beaudet, A. L., Sly, W. S., and Valle, D., Eds.), 6th ed., pp. 495-546, McGraw-Hill, New York.
- Shedlovsky, A., McDonald, J. D., Symula, D., and Dove, W. (1993) Mouse models of human phenylketonuria. *Genetics* 134, 1205-1210.
- McDonald, J. D., Bode, V. C., Dove, W. F., and Shedlovsky, A. (1990) Pahhph-5: A mouse mutant deficient in phenylalanine hydroxylase. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 87, 1965-1967.
- Sarkissian, C. N., McDonald, J. D., and Scriver, C. R. (1999) Mouse Path homologues. http://data.mch.mcgill.cs/pahdb/mouse/ sarkiss.html.
- McDonald, J. D., and Chariton, C. K. (1997) Characterization of mutations at the mouse phenylalanine hydroxylase locus. *Genomics* 39, 402-405.
- Sarkissian, C. N., Boulais, D. N., McDonald, J. D., and Scriver, C. R. (2000) A heteroallelic mutant mouse model: A new orthologue for human hyperphenylalaninemia. *Mol. Genet. Metab.*, in press.
- Hachey, D. L., Patterson, B. W., Reeds, P. J., and Elsas, L. J. (1991) Isotopic determination of organic keto acid pentafluorobenzyl esters in biological fluids by negative chemical ionization gas chromatography/mass spectrometry. Anal. Chem. 63, 919-923.
- Diomede, L., Romano, G., Guiso, G., Caccia, S., Nava, S., and Salmona, M. (1991) Interspecies and interstrain studies on the increased susceptibility to metrozol-induced convulsions in animals given aspartame. Fd. Chem. Toxicol. 29(2), 101-106.
- Evans, J. E., Dyer, C. A., Levy, H. L., and Evans, B. A. (1994) Brain and body fluid metabolic profiling of phenylalanine hydroxylase deficient mice. *In Proceedings of the 42nd ASMS Con*ference on Mass Spectrometry and Allied Topics, Chicago, IL, May 29-June 3, p. 153.
- Silberberg, D. H. (1967) Phenlyketonuria metabolites in cerebellum culture morphology. Arch. Neurol. 17, 524-529.
- Scriver, C. R., and Waters, P. J. (1999) Monogenic traits are not simple: Lessons from phenylketonuria. Trends Genet. 15(7), 267-272.

## **APPENDIX C**

(Copyright © 1999 Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA) Reprinted with the permission of the publisher Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA Vol. 96, pp. 2339-2344, March 1999 Medical Sciences

### A different approach to treatment of phenylketonuria: Phenylalanine degradation with recombinant phenylalanine ammonia lyase

CHRISTINEH N. SARKISSIAN\*, ZHONGQI SHAO<sup>†</sup>, FRANÇOISE BLAIN<sup>†</sup>, ROSALIE PEEVERS<sup>†</sup>, HONGSHENG SU<sup>†</sup>, ROBERT HEFT<sup>†</sup>, THOMAS M. S. CHANG<sup>‡</sup>, AND CHARLES R. SCRIVER<sup>•§</sup>

\*Departments of Biology, Human Genetics, and Pediatrics, McGill University, and Debelle Laboratory, McGill University-Montreal Children's Hospital Research Institute, 2300 Tupper Street, A-717, Montreal, QC, H3H 1P3, Canada; 'IBEX Technologies, Inc., 5485 rue Paré, Montreal, QC, H4P 1P7, Canada; and <sup>‡</sup>Artificial Cells and Organs Research Centre, McGill University, Montreal, QC, H3G 1Y6, Canada

Communicated by Arno G. Motulsky, University of Washington, Seattle, WA, December 7, 1998 (received for review October 5, 1998)

Phenylketonuria (PKU), with its associated ABSTRACT hyperphenylalaninemia (HPA) and mental retardation, is a classic genetic disease and the first to have an identified chemical cause of impaired cognitive development. Treatment from birth with a low phenylalanine diet largely prevents the deviant cognitive phenotype by ameliorating HPA and is recognized as one of the first effective treatments of a genetic disease. However, compliance with dietary treatment is difficult and when it is for life, as now recommended by an internationally used set of guidelines, is probably unrealistic. Herein we describe experiments on a mouse model using another modality for treatment of PKU compatible with better compliance using ancillary phenylalanine ammonia lyase (PAL, EC 4.3.1.5) to degrade phenylaianine, the harmful nutrient in PKU; in this treatment, PAL acts as a substitute for the enzyme phenylalanine monooxygenase (EC 1.14.16.1), which is deficient in PKU. PAL, a robust enzyme without need for a cofactor, converts phenylalanine to trans-cinnamic acid, a harmless metabolite. We describe (i) an efficient reco nant approach to produce PAL enzyme, (ii) testing of PAL in orthologous N-ethyl-N'-nitrosourea (ENU) mutant mouse strains with HPA, and (iii) proofs of principle (PAL reduces HPA)-both pharmacologic (with a clear dose-response effect vs. HPA after PAL injection) and physiologic (protected enteral PAL is significantly effective vs. HPA). These findings open another way to facilitate treatment of this classic genetic disease.

Phenylketonuria (PKU) (1) is the prototypical human Mendelian disease (OMIM 261600) demonstrating benefits from treatment (2). PKU and a related form of less harmful hyperphenylalaninemia (HPA, termed non-PKU-HPA) result from impaired activity of phenylalanine hydroxylase (PAH; EC 1.14.16.1), the enzyme catalyzing conversion of the essential amino acid nutrient phenylalanine to tyrosine. The enzyme is responsible for disposal (by oxidative catabolism) of the majority of nutrient phenylalanine intake. The untreated PKU patient with persistent postnatal HPA is likely to experience irreversible impairment of cognitive development. Antenatal HPA, caused by transplacental transport of phenylalanine from the maternal pool to the fetus during a pregnancy in which there is maternal HPA, will harm the embryo and fetus. These disease-causing effects of PKU and maternal HPA are preventable by treatment to restore cuphenylalaninemia (1).

Present treatment relies on the observation that a (semisynthetic) diet low in phenylalanine (3-5) will prevent HPA and thus the disease. Because it involves a major alteration of

PNAS is available online at www.pnas.org.

lifestyle, dietary treatment is difficult. Moreover, dietary therapy can be associated with deficiencies of several nutrients (1), some of which may be detrimental to brain development (6, 7). Moreover, most low phenylalanine treatment products have organoleptic properties sufficiently unsatisfactory that compliance with the treatment is compromised (8, 9). Such concerns have greater relevance now that better and longer compliance with therapy of PKU and non-PKU-HPA in all persons at risk has been recommended (10, 11).

A combination of oral enzyme therapy with phenylalanine ammonia lyase (PAL; EC 4.3.1.5) and controlled low protein diet might replace dependence on the semisynthetic diet, for treatment of PKU after infancy (10, 12). PAL is a robust autocatalytic enzyme that, unlike PAH, does not require a cofactor (13). PAL converts phenylalanine to metabolically insignificant amounts of ammonia and trans-cinnamic acid, a harmless metabolite; the latter is converted to benzoic acid and rapidly excreted in urine as hippurate (14). A preliminary report indicates that HPA is attenuated by oral administration of microencapsulated PAL in the rat with chemically induced HPA (15) and also, in preliminary studies, in naturally occurring HPA in a mouse model (16-18). Preliminary studies in human PKU patients showed analogous responses after the administration of PAL in enteric-coated gelatin capsules (19) or during use of an extracorporeal enzyme reactor (20). The human and even the animal studies were not continued because PAL was not available in sufficient amounts at reasonable cost.

(i) We used a construct of the PAL gene from Rhodosporidium toruloides (21) under the control of a high-expression promoter and expressed it in a strain of Escherichia coli to obtain large amounts of PAL (22). (ii) We used existing (23) and new strains (C.N.S., J. D. McDonald, and C.R.S. at http://www.mcgill.ca/pahdb/Pah Mouse/Mouse Pah Homologues) of the mutant N-ethyl-N'-nitrosourea (ENU)-treated mouse as orthologous models of human PKU and HPA to study enzyme substitution therapy with PAL. (iii) We showed that i.p. PAL injection lowers plasma phenylalanine in the mouse model (proof of pharmacological principle), and oral gavage of these mice with PAL enzyme, protected from inactivation by digestive enzymes, lowers plasma phenylalanine (proof of physiological principle). These developments point to an alternative approach to treatment of PKU, compatible with current guidelines (10, 11).

The publication costs of this article were defrayed in part by page charge payment. This article must therefore be hereby marked "advert ment\*\* in accordance with 18 U.S.C. §1734 solely to indicate this fact.

Abbreviations: ENU, N-ethyl-N'-nitrosourea; PKU, phenylketonuria; HPA, hyperphenylalaninemia; PAL, L-phenylalanine ammonia lyase; PAH, human L-phenylalanine hydroxylase. A Commentary on this article begins on page 1811. To whom reprint requests should be addressed at: Debelle Labora-

tory, McGill University-Montreal Children's Hospital, 2300 Tupper Street, A-721, Montreal QC, H3H 1P3, Canada. e-mail: mc77@ musica.mcgill.ca.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

Synthesis of Recombinant PAL. Amplification of the PAL gene. R. toruloides [ATCC no. 10788] was purchased from the American Type Culture Collection. Cells were grown in minimal medium containing phenylalanine as the sole carbon source (24), total RNA was extracted with hot acidic phenol (25) from a mid-logarithmic-phase culture, and mRNA was isolated with the PolyATtract mRNA isolation system (Promega). a cDNA pool was then synthesized with the RiboClone cDNA synthesis system (Promega).

Oligonucleotides (RTIP, 5'-AAGAATTCATGGCAC-CCTCGCTCGACTCGATCTCG-3', and RT2, 5'-CCGAAT-TCTAAGCGATCTTGAGGAGGACGT-3'), synthesized on an Ecosyn D300 DNA synthesizer (Eppendorf) were designed to feature an EcoRI site at their 5' end and to be homologous to 5' and 3' ends of the published sequence of the R. toruloides PAL gene (refs. 26 and 27; GenBank accession no. X51513). PCR amplification (28) was performed in 100 µl containing 100 pmol of each primer, 20 mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.0), 2 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 10 mM KCl, 6 mM (NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, 0.1% Triton<sup>A</sup>X-100, nuclease-free BSA at 10 mg/ml, all four dNTPs (each at 0.2 mM), 30 ng of cDNA as the template, and 5 units of Pfu DNA polymerase (Stratagene). Samples were incubated in a DNA thermal cycler (Barnstead/Thermolyne) at 95°C for 30 sec, at 50°C for 1 min, and 72°C for 3 min; repeated for 35 cycles. The PCR product was analyzed on a 1% agarose gel containing 0.6 mg of ethidium bromide per ml and subsequently cloned in pBluescript KS+ (Stratagene). Identity of the PAL gene was verified by sequence analysis using an AutoRead sequencing kit and an automated A.L.F. DNA sequencer (Pharmacia).

E. coli strains and plasmids. E. coli XL-1Blue was the host used for general cloning and vector construction; E. coli Y1091 was the host for fermentation to produce PAL. E. coli IBX-4, used in the animal study, was isolated from a Sprague-Dawley rat and identified by using api20E bacterial identification kit (BioMerieux, Charbonnier les Bains, France). Plasmid pBluescript was used for cloning PCR-amplified PAL fragments.

Construction of high-expression PAL plasmid pIBX-7. Plasmid pIBX-1 (29) was modified by site-directed mutagenesis, changing the unique BamHI site to an EcoRI site to allow cloning of the 2.2-kb PAL PCR fragment; the product was then further modified, which resulted in the deletion of the EcoRI sites. To increase expression, an additional tac promoter (Ptac) was synthesized by PCR and cloned downstream of the existing Ptac. The 5' Shine-Delgarno sequence (AGGAG) is separated from the ATG codon by a 9-nt sequence (ACAGAATTT). Kanamycin resistance for selection of PAL-containing cells was conferred by substituting the kanamycin resistance gene for the ampicillin resistance gene of pIBX-1. The plasmid was transformed into E. coli (hosts Y1091 and IBX-4) and induced with isopropyl 8-D-thiogalactoside (1 mM) for expression. The expression levels are similar in both hosts when cultured in shaken flasks (data not shown).

Purification of PAL enzyme from cell extract. Frozen E. coli cells (Y1091; 500 g) expressing plasmid pIBX-7 were suspended in 2 liters of buffer A (30 mM Tris HCl, pH 8.0/10 mM phenylalanine/2 mM cysteine) to which DNase I (5 mg/liter) and 5 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub> were added. The cell suspension was homogenized three times in a Rannie MiniLab 8.30H high-pressure homogenizer (APV Canada, Montreal) at 700 bar (1 bar = 100 kPa); between passages, the suspension was cooled to 12°C. The homogenate was centrifuged (14,100  $\times$  g) for 1 hr at 4°C, the supernatant containing PAL protein diluted 2- to 3-fold in water and loaded on a column containing 1.25 liters of Q-Sepharose Big Beads (Pharmacia). Washes were performed at a linear flow rate of 153 ml/hr with three column volumes of buffer A followed by three column volumes of buffer B (30 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.0/10 mM phenylalanine/2 mM cysteine/1M NaCl). PAL protein is eluted with buffer B in a

linear gradient (3%-100%) in six column volumes; the fractions with PAL activity were pooled. Ammonium sulfate was added slowly to the cluates (final concentration, 50%), stirred (30 min) at room temperature, and then centrifuged (14,700  $\times$  g for 30 min at 4°C). The final PAL protein pellet was dissolved in a minimal amount of buffer C (50 mM sodium phosphate, pH 7.5/5 mM phenylalanine/1 mM glutathione).

ENU Mice. The ENU mouse models, deficient in hepatic PAH enzyme activity, were created by treating wild-type mice (BTBR background) with the alkylating agent ENU. The original strains *Pahemultenul*(ENU1/1) and *Pahemultenul*(ENU2/ 2), from W. Dove and A. Shedlovsky (University of Wisconsin, Madison), were produced in Wisconsin (23, 30) and genotyped by J. D. McDonald (31). We produced the hybrid heteroallelic strain *Pahemultenul*(ENU1/2) in our facilities (see http:// www.mcgill.ca/pahdb/Pah Mouse/Mouse Pah Homologues). (All procedures described below have been reviewed and approved by the Animal Care Committee, McGill University).

The homozygous mutant ENU1/1 mouse is a counterpart of human non-PKU-HPA. It has a missense mutation in the Pah gene [c.  $364T \rightarrow C$  in exon 3 (V106A)] (30, 31), and on breeder diet (product 8626, Teklad, Madison, WI), it has both a normal plasma phenylalanine level and normal behavior but can be made hyperphenylalaninemic under controlled conditions with a phenylalanine load [by s.c. injection or gavage of L-phenylalanine at 1.1 mg/g (body weight)]. The homozygous mutant ENU2/2 mouse is a counterpart of human PKU. It has a missense mutation [c.  $835T \rightarrow C$  in exon 7 (F263S)] (23, 31). On breeder diet, it has 10- to 20-fold elevated plasma phenylalanine and phenylketones in urine; euphenylalaninemia in this strain was achieved for these studies by placing mice on a diet free of phenylalanine (product 2826, Teklad) with ad libitum water containing L-phenylalanine (30 mg/liter), for 3 consecutive days. After establishing euphenylalaninemia, ENU2/2 animals received standardized s.c. injections of Lphenylalanine [0.1 mg/g (body weight)] to achieve reproducible HPA.

We developed the new ENU1/2 strain by crossing female ENU1/1 and male ENU2/ $\pm$ ; all parents and offspring were typed by DNA analysis. The mutant beteroallelic animals have a normal plasma phenylalanine level on breeder diet but easily achieve a modest elevation, to levels between that of untreated ENU1/1 and ENU2/2, by s.c. injection or gavage of Lphenylalanine [1.1 mg/g (body weight)]. The ENU strains are further described on our web site (see above).

Protocols to Study the Effect of PAL Enzyme on Phenotype. i.p. administration of recombinant PAL (for proof of pharmacological principle). Studies were done on mice, younger than 1 year of age (all three strains). Each animal served as its own control; a sham (saline) injection was given in the first week, followed by the PAL injection 1 week later (same day of the week and time of day). Efficacy of i.p. PAL was measured by change in the plasma phenylalanine between the first and second week; animals (n = 5 per trial) received 2, 20, and 100 units of PAL. ENUI/I and ENUI/2 animals were fasted overnight before the experiment. Food was reintroduced after PAL administration. During the first week, 0.2 ml of saline i.p. was followed directly by an L-phenylalanine challenge [1.1 mg/g (body weight) by gavage] for the ENU1/1 and ENU1/2 mice; tail blood samples taken at zero min and 1, 2, 3, and 24 hr after the phenylalanine challenge. For the second-week protocol, PAL (replacing saline) was diluted to the dosage required with 0.1M Tris-HCl (pH 8.5).

Gavage of recombinant PAL (for proof of physiological principle). Studies were done in mice younger than 1 year of age. Each animal served as its own control and efficacy of PAL treatment was measured by change in plasma phenylalanine. We used two different PAL preparations: (i) recombinant PAL inside E. coli cells (IBX-4) and (ii) unprotected PAL (purified from Y1091 E. coli cells) in solution with aprotinin

(protease inhibitor). Saline gavage was used as the control treatment. Plasma phenylalanine levels were adjusted in ENU2/2 animals (n = 4) to achieve euphenylalaninemia. In the first week, the animals received a phenylalanine load [0.1 mg/g (body weight) by s.c. injection] on day 4, followed at 1 hr and 2 hr by gavage of saline bicarbonate (6 mg, to neutralize gastric acidity). Tail blood samples were taken before treatment (at time zero minus 5 min), and five times at hourly intervals after the phenylalanine challenge. In the second week, the gavage contained (i) 25 units of PAL (as induced recombinant *E. coli* cells, OD<sub>500</sub>) or (ii) 200 units of PAL, in combination with 10 mg of aprotinin in the sodium bicarbonate buffer.

In Vitro Assays of PAL Effect. We measured efficacy of the PAL preparation in vitro by analyzing its effect on a solution containing 4 mM phenylalanine (initial concentration) at  $37^{\circ}$ C and pH 8.5. We compared (i) the individual effects of nonrecombinant *E. coli* cells (OD<sub>600</sub> = 50), chymotrypsin (100 mg/ml), and mouse intestinal fluid (diluted 1:10 with Tris buffer at pH 8.5) with (ii) the effect of naked recombinant PAL either alone or in the presence of chymotrypsin (100 mg/ml) or of intestinal fluid (1:10 dilution with Tris buffer at pH 8.5) and (iii) the effect of *E. coli* cells (OD<sub>600</sub> = 50) expressing PAL (5 units) alone or in the presence of chymotrypsin (100 mg/ml) or mouse intestinal fluid (1:10 dilution with Tris buffer at pH 8.5).

**Analytical.** Plasma phenylalanine concentration. We collected blood from tail into heparinized tubes, extracted plasma, and measured phenylalanine by HPLC (Beckman System Gold, DABS amino acid analysis kit).

DNA Analysis. Animals were genotyped, as described (31), for the Pah<sup>enu2</sup> mutation. We developed a method to detect the Pah<sup>enu1</sup> mutation that eliminates a recognition site for the restriction enzyme Taql. We used PCR, with primers 5'-GAGAATGAGATCAACCTGACA-3' and 5'-TGTCTCGG-GAAAGCTCATCG-3', to amplify a 169-bp segment of exon 3 (mouse Pah) from blood spots collected on Guthrie cards. The product subjected to Taql digestion yields a distribution of fragments with a distinct banding pattern for each of three possible genotypes: Pah<sup>+/+</sup> generates two fragments (148 bp and 21bp), Pah<sup>emu1/+</sup> generates one fragment (169 bp).



FIG. 1. PAL gene from yeast R toruloides was cloned in the expression vector pIBX-7 where transcription is controlled by the strong inducible tac promoter and terminated by the rRNA transcription terminator sequences rmBT1 and rmBT2. Lact<sup>PI</sup> represses the tac promoter, and hence isopropyl  $\beta$ -0-thiogalactoside is required to release it from the promoter. The kanamycin resistance gene (Kan<sup>RI</sup>) is included in the construct to allow selection of cells containing the plasmid.



FIG. 2. Purified PAL enzyme (5  $\mu$ g) separated on 4–15% gradient SDS/PAGE. Molecular mass markers in kDa are to the right. Lanes: 1, sample of PAL with  $\sim$ 20% impurities indicated by additional bands; 2, low-range molecular mass standards (Bio-Rad).

#### RESULTS

Synthesis and Purification of PAL. We obtained PAL by expressing the pIBX-7 construct (Fig. 1) in *E. coli*, followed by purification on a Q-Sepharose column. The product is a yeast (*R. toruloides*) PAL enzyme, at 80% purity (Fig. 2). The yield in our present system is 100-150 units/g of *E. coli* cells, with a  $K_m$  of 250  $\mu$ mol/liter, at specific activity of 2.2-3.0 units/mg of PAL protein; 1 unit of PAL deaminates 1.0 mmol of L-phenylalanine to *trans*-cinnamate (and NH<sub>3</sub>) per min at pH 8.5 and 30°C.

Effect of PAL in ENU Mice. We used the ENU mouse orthologues of human PKU and non-PKU-HPA to obtain proof of pharmacologic and physiologic principles by demonstrating efficacy of PAL enzyme against the hyperphenylalaninemic phenotype.

**Pilot Study.** PKU mice (ENU 2/2; n = 12) on regular diet were treated with PAL (2, 20, or 100 units) by i.p. injection without any additional manipulations. Within 3 hr, the postinjection value for blood phenylalanine had fallen (range, 0-984 µmol/liter) from the pretreatment value (range, 389-2,012 µmol/liter). These preliminary observations demonstrated both an apparent treatment response and troublesome inter-



FIG. 3. Injection i.p. of recombinant PAL enzyme reduces plasma phenylalanine in the ENU2/2 mouse (y axis is logarithmic scale) over time (x axis) (P < 0.05). Reduction of plasma phenylalanine by PAL shows a dose-response relationship (x axis). Data are normalized to the control (sham-treated) values for each animal at each point. Data depicted are the average of five paired series. The range of control (100%) values was 390-2.013  $\mu$ mol/liter for animals receiving 2 units of PAL, 572-1.488  $\mu$ mol/liter for animals receiving 100 units.



FIG. 4. A single i.p. injection of recombinant PAL enzyme (100 units at zero time), reduces plasma phenylalanine level in ENU1/I mice by 95% at 24 hr (P < 0.02) relative to sham-treated controls. Data for five paired series (mean  $\pm$  1 SD) are normalized to paired control values to accommodate inter- and intraindividual variation. The range of control values (100% at zero time) was 41-528 µmol/liter; every animal showed a response to PAL.

and intra-individual variation. Accordingly, we controlled for the latter by adopting the protocols described above.

Proof of pharmacological principle. A single i.p. injection of PAL enzyme significantly lowered plasma phenylalanine in PKU mice (ENU2/2; P < 0.05) and showed a dose-response effect (Fig. 3); at each point, data are normalized to the control (sham-treated) values for each animal to accommodate interand intra-individual variation. The non-PKU-HPA mice (ENU1/1) and the beteroallelic HPA stain (ENU1/2) also responded to PAL treatment (data not shown). The effect of a single i.p. PAL injection in ENU1/1 mouse model persisted for 24 hr (P < 0.02; Fig. 4); ENU1/2 and ENU2/2 mice both had similar 24-hr responses (data not shown).

Proof of physiological principle. To demonstrate the effect of orally administered PAL on plasma phenylalanine levels required protease-resistant PAL formulations. Recombinant PAL enzyme activity was protected against inactivation by gastric acidity and intestinal digestive enzymes by retaining and shielding it in the *E. coli* cells where it was synthesized. We used these cells in the absence of a different form of PAL protection.

Recombinant PAL enzyme protected by the tell wall and membrane of *E. coli* resists inactivation by proteolytic intestinal enzymes *in vitro*; otherwise activity of naked enzyme is abolished (data not shown). PAL enclosed in *E. coli* cells was shown to reduce phenylalanine content of the *in vitro* solution (Table 1). When given by oral gavage, recombinant PAL (25 units) expressed in an *E. coli* strain isolated from Sprague-Dawley rat lowered plasma phenylalanine in ENU2/2 mice by 31% in 1 hr (P < 0.04) and 44% in 2 hr (P < 0.0004) (Fig. 5).

Other experiments in vivo, conducted with aprotinin (protease inhibitor) and recombinant PAL enzyme purified from E. coli (Y1091), gave further proof of physiological principle. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 96 (1999)



FIG. 5. Plasma phenylalanine levels in ENU2/2 mice after oral administration (25 units per mouse) of induced recombinant *E. coli* cells expressing PAL: 31% reduction within 1 hr (P < 0.04) and 44% reduction in 2 hr (P < 0.004). Data are normalized to control values (mean  $\pm$  1 SD). **(mathematical structure)** Sham; **(mathematical structure)** PAL enclosed in *E. coli*. The range of control values (100%) was 425-800  $\mu$ mol/liter; every animal showed a response to PAL.

This formulation resists inactivation by chymotrypsin and mouse intestinal fluid *in vitro* (data not shown). Oral gavage of naked PAL (200 units) combined with aprotinin (protease inhibitor) lowered plasma phenylalanine in ENU2/2 mice: by 50% in 1 hr (P < 0.017) and 54% in 2 hr (P < 0.023) (Fig. 6).

#### DISCUSSION

We describe a method to produce recombinant PAL (Fig. 1) that may enable the use of this enzyme to degrade excess phenylalanine in PKU where the normal pathway for its disposal is impaired. Why would this alternative be useful if, as is generally assumed, early treatment of PKU by a semisynthetic low phenylalanine diet is one of the success stories of medical genetics (1, 2)? The answers lie in the incidence of PKU, our expectations for its treatment, and the anticipated "prevalence" of patient treatment years.

The combined incidence of PKU and non-PKU-HPA is on the order of  $10^{-4}$  live births in populations of European descent. Current evidence reveals similar rates in Asian-Oriental and Arabic populations (1). New guidelines (10, 11) for the treatment of HPA have appeared so that residual imperfections in outcome (1) can be overcome and expectations met; the guidelines advise treatment to restore blood phenylalanine levels as near normal as possible, as early as possible, and for as long as possible, perhaps for a lifetime. In this context, the "prevalence" for patient treatment years takes on new meaning when it involves the difficult existing modes of treatment. The predicted "prevalence" in patient treatment years for a population of  $10^{4}$  persons, assuming 50 years of treatment per patient, would be 500,000 patient treatment years in half a century.

Table 1. Change in phenylalanine content in vitro solutions under various treatments

Experimental conditions	Treatment	Decrease in phenylalanine, % control <sup>†</sup>	
Control	Nonrecombinant E. coli cells	0	
	Chymotrypsin	0	
	Intestinal fluid	0	
PAL	In induced recombinant E. coli cells	76	
	In induced recombinant E. coli cells + chymotrypsin in medium	72	
	In induced recombinant E. coli cells + intestinal fluid in medium	66	

"Treatments were for I h followed by measurement of L-phenylalanine content.

<sup>†</sup>Initial concentration, 4 mM of L-phenylalanine.

PKU is a multifactorial disease; mutation in the *PAH* gene and dietary exposure to the essential nutrient amino acid L-phenylalanine are equally necessary causes of the mutant phenotype (1). Treatment of HPA is feasible because the dietary experience can be purposefully modified, and the low phenylalanine diet has been its mainstay.

Untreated PKU is a disease at three phenotypic levels. At the proximal (enzyme) level, many different mutations in the *PAH* gene impair PAH integrity and function (32). Because PAH enzyme is the principal determinant of phenylalanine homeostasis in vivo (1), its impairment leads to HPA, which is the intermediate (metabolic) level of the variant phenotype. Impaired cognitive development and neurophysiological function is the distal (clinical phenotype); phenylalanine is the neurotoxic molecule (1), and hence the rationale to restore euphenylalaninemia.

Three modalities for treatment exist in theory or in practice: gene therapy, enzyme therapy, and diet therapy. The first has its appeal but is only at the experimental stage (33) (also C. Harding, personal communication) and unlikely to be put into practice unless the alternatives fail. The third method (low phenylalanine diet therapy) was inaugurated in the 1950s (3-5) and has achieved its primary goal: it has prevented mental retardation in the adequately treated patient (1, 34). However, dietary treatment of PKU and HPA is difficult; it involves rigorous compliance, a major alteration in lifestyle, and use of treatment products that have unusual organoleptic qualities. Moreover, measurements of cognitive and neurophysiologic outcomes show subtle deficits (IQ scores are 0.5 SD below normal), and there are lacunae in neuropsychological and neurophysiological performance. Accordingly, there is growing interest in the second form of treatment (enzyme therapy).

Enzyme therapy could be done by replacement (of PAH enzyme) or by substitution (with another enzyme to degrade excess phenylalanine). Replacement of PAH requires the intact multienzyme complex for catalytic hydroxylating activity (1); it could be done best perhaps only by hepatic transplantation and this approach has not been pursued. But if the PAL enzyme could be administered by mouth to the PKU patient, it would have a certain appeal; therapy with enzymes protected from inactivation is feasible for the treatment of metabolic conditions (35, 36). We propose that PAL will "substitute" for deficient hepatic PAH activity and degrade phenylalanine in the PAH-deficient organism. To test this hypothesis, we used



Fig. 6. Plasma phenylalanine levels in ENU2/2 mice after combined oral administration of naked PAL enzyme (200 units per mouse) and protease inhibitor (aprotinin): 50% reduction within 1 hr (P < 0.017) and 54% in 2 hr (P < 0.023). Data are normalized to control values (mean  $\pm$  1 SD). **B**, Sham; **e**, unprotected PAL plus aprotinin. The range of control values (100%) was 458–1,051 µmol/liter; every animal showed a response to PAL.

the induced mutant (ENU) mouse orthologues of human PKU and non-PKU-HPA (23). We first demonstrated proof of pharmacologic principal: given by injection, PAL acts in vivo to lower ambient blood phenylalanine levels (Fig. 3). We then demonstrated proof of physiologic principal; PAL placed in the intestinal lumen acts in vivo to suppress HPA (Figs. 5 and 6). The latter is a significant finding that capitalizes on three prior concepts and observations: (i) Amino acids are in equilibrium between various compartments of body fluids (37, 38) and ultimately in equilibrium with the intestinal lumen (39), so that treatment of intestinal lumen phenylalanine will affect all body pools. (ii) PAL placed in the intestinal lumen will modify phenylalanine content of body fluids in the whole animal (15, 18). (iii) PAL placed in the intestinal lumen will act on both the dietary phenylalanine and the endogenous run out of free phenylalanine from its bound pools (40). Accordingly, the appropriate dosage and schedule (to avoid under- or overtreatment) of oral PAL, perhaps in combination with a controlled and modestly low protein diet, should control the phenylalanine pool size without need of the drastic restriction of dietary phenylalanine as now practiced and requiring artificial diets. Ancillary treatment of PKU with PAL and prudent protein intake would become analogous to treatment of diabetes mellitus with insulin, with an additional featurethe enteral route would avoid problems with immune recognition of PAL.

Until now, the cost of PAL has prohibited any consideration of therapy; even animal studies were curtailed. The recombinant enzyme we describe herein may avoid this constraint and has enabled our investigations. The relatively low specific activity of the recombinant PAL product and relative inefficiency at pH 7.0 (R.H., unpublished data) may be offset by the long contact time between enzyme and substrate during passage through small and large intestine. The formulation currently under development is focused on completely protecting the PAL enzyme against a protease environment.

We thank Dr. Achim Recktenwald for preparation of the enzyme, Pamela Danagher and Dr. King Lee who gave invaluable assistance during the early stages of this project, and Margaret Fuller and Beverly Akerman for technical help and guidance. We also acknowledge the advice of the perceptive reviewers of this manuscript. This work was supported in part by the Medical Research Council (Canada), the Canadian Genetic Diseases Network (CGDN) (Networks of Centers of Excellence), and a contract for maintenance of the mice from IBEX via CGDN. Studentship awards were supported by the McGill University-Montreal Children's Hospital Research Institute, the Garrod Association (Canada), and The Auxiliary (Montreal Children's Hospital).

- Scriver, C. R., Kaufman, S., Eisensmith, R. C. & Woo, S. L. C. (1995) in *The Metabolic and Molecular Bases of Inherited Disease*, eds. Scriver, C. R., Beaudet, A. L., Sty, W. S. & Valle, D. (McGraw-Hill, New York), 7th Ed., pp. 1015-1075.
- Scriver, C. R. (1967) in Proceedings of the Third International Congress of Human Genetics, eds. Crow, J. F. & Neel, J. V. (The Johns Hopkins Press, Baltimore, MD), pp. 45-56.
   Bickel, H., Gerrard, J. & Hickmans, E. M. (1953) Lancet II,
- Bickel, H., Gerrard, J. & Hickmans, E. M. (1953) Lancet II, 812-813.
   Woolf, L. L., Griffiths, R. & Moncreiff, A. (1955) Br. Med. J. 1,
- woolf, E. L., Orlinins, K. & Montreill, A. (1955) Dr. Med. J. 1, 57-64.
   Armstrone, M. & Tyler, F. H. (1955) J. Clin. Invest. 34, 565-580.
- Armstrong, M. & Tyler, F. H. (1955) J. Clin. Invest. 34, 565-580.
  Cockburn, F., Clark, B. J., Caine, E. A., Harvie, A., Farquharson, J., Jamieson, E. C., Robinson, P. & Logan, R. W. (1996) Int. Pediatr. 11, 56-60.
- Riva, E., Agostoni, C., Biasucci, G., Trojan, S., Luotti, D., Fiori, L. & Giovannini, M. (1996) Acta Paediatr. 85, 56-58.
- 8. Scriver, C. R. (1971) Nur. Rev. 29, 155-158.
- Buist, N. R. M., Prince, A. P., Huntington, K. L., Tuerck, J. M. & Waggoner, D. D. (1994) Acta Paediatr. Suppl. 407, 75-77.
   Medical Research Council Working Party on Phenylketonuria
- (1993) Br. Med. J. 306, 115-119. 11. Medical Research Council Working Party on Phenylketonuria
- Medical Research Council working Farty on Phenyiketonuria (1993) Arch. Dis. Child. 68, 426–427.

- Scriver, C. R., Kaufman, S. & Woo, S. L. C. (1989) in *The* Metabolic Basis of Inherited Disease, eds. Scriver, C. R., Beaudet, A. L., Sly, W. S. & Valle, D. (McGraw-Hill, New York), 6th Ed., pp. 495-546.
- 13. Hodgins, D. (1971) J. Biol. Chem. 246, 2977-2985.
- Hoskins, J. A., Holliday, S. B. & Greenway, A. M. (1984) Biomed. Mass Spectrom. 11, 296-300.
- Bourget, L. & Chang, T. M. S. (1986) Biochim. Biophys. Acta 883, 432-438.
- Sarkissian, C. N., Lee, K. C., Danagher, P., Leung, R., Fuller, M. A. & Scriver, C. R. (1996) Am. J. Hum. Genet. Suppl. 59, 1183 (abstr.).
- Sarkissian, C. N., Shao, Z., Blain, F., Peevers, R., Su, H., Fuller, M. A. & Scriver, C. R. (1997) Am. J. Hum. Genet. Suppl. 61, 182 (abstr.).
- Safos, S. & Chang, T. M. S. (1995) Artif. Cells Blood Substit. Immobil. Biotechnol. 23, 681-692.
- Hoskins, J. A., Jack, G., Peiris, R. J. D., Starr, D. J. T., Wade, H. E., Wright, E. C.& Stern, J. (1980) Lancet 1, 392-394.
- Ambrus, C. M., Anthone, S., Horvath, C., Kalghatgi, K., Lele, A. S., Eapen, G., Ambrus, J. L., Ryan, A. J. & Li, P. (1987) Ann. Intern. Med. 106, 531-537.
- Gilbert, H. J., Clarke, I. N., Gibson, R. K., Stephenson, J. R. & Tully, M. (1985) J. Bacteriol. 161, 314-320.
- Orum, H. & Rasmussen, F. (1992) Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 36, 745–748.
- Shedlovsky, A., McDonald, J. D., Symula, D. & Dove, W. (1993) Genetics 134, 1205-1210.
- Gilbert, H. J. & Tully, M. (1992) J. Bacteriol. 150, 1147-1154.
  Ausubel, F. M., Brent, R., Kingston, E., Moore, D. D., Seidman, J. G., Smith, J. A. & Struhl, K. (1997) in Current Protocols in Molecular Biology (Wiley, New York), Chapter 13.

#### Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 96 (1999)

- Fukuhara, N., Yoshino, S., Yamamoto, K., Se, T., Sone, S., Nakajima, Y., Suzuki, M. & Makiguchi, N. (1988) European Patent Application 0 260 919.
- 27. Rasmussen, O. F. & Orum, H. (1991) DNA Seq. 1, 207-211.
- Mullis, K., Faloona, F., Scharf, S., Saiki, R., Horn, G. & Erlich, H. (1986) Cold Spring Harbor Symp. Quant. Biol. 51, 263-269.
- Su, H., Blain, F., Musil, R. A., Zimmermann, J. J. F., Gu, K. & Bennette, O. C. (1996) *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.* 62, 2723-2734.
- McDonald, J. D., Bode, V. C., Dove, W. F. & Shedlovsky, A. (1990) Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 87, 1965-1967.
- McDonald, J. D. & Charlton, C. K. (1997) Genomics 39, 402–405.
  Waters, P. J., Parniak, M. A., Nowacki, P. & Scriver, C. R. (1998)
- Hum. Mutat. 11, 14-17.
  Fang, B., Eisensmith, R. C., Li, X. H. C., Finegold, M. J., Shedlovsky, A., Dove, W. & Woo, S. L. C. (1994) Gene Ther. 1, 247-254.
- 34. MacCready, R. A. (1974) J. Pediatr. 85, 383-385.
- Chang, T. M. S. & Poznanzsky, M. J. (1968) Nature (London) 218, 243-245.
- 36. Prakash, S. & Chang, T. M. S. (1996) Nat. Med. 2, 883-887.
- Cohn, R. M., Palmieri, M. J. & McNamara, P. D. (1980) in Principles of Metabolic Control in Mammalian Species, eds. Herman, R. H., Cohn, R. M. & McNamara, P. D. (Plenum, New York), p. 63.
- 38. Christensen, H. N. (1982) Physiol. Rev. 62, 1193-1233.
- Christensen, H. N., Feldman, B. H. & Hastings, A. B. (1963) Am. J. Physiol. 205, 255-260.
- Chang, T. M. S., Bourget, L. & Lister, C. (1995) Artif. Cells Blood Substit. Immobil. Biotechnol. 25, 1-23.

# **APPENDIX D**

PAH Mouse Site - Pah Homologues



Prepared by: C.Sarkissian, and PAHdb Curators.

Authors: C.N. Sarkissian, J.D. McDonald, C.R. Scriver.

#### Mouse enzyme and gene for phenylalanine hydroxylase

The mouse phenylalanine hydroxylase gene (symbol *Pah*) was mapped to chromosome 10 in 1988 [7] (Reviewed in 8); the cDNA was cloned and sequenced in the same lab [6] (GenBank UID: X51942, (EC 1.14.16.1)).

The cDNA is 1978 bp and begins its coding sequence at position 48, followed by an open reading frame (1359 bp) and a 17-residue poly A signal (beginning at position c1965). Mouse and human genes have  $\sim$ 87% conservation of sequence, with  $\sim$ 10% of the changes silent (in the third codon position). No similarities are observed in their untranslated regions [6].

The murine Pah enzyme has 453 residues (molecular weight, 51,786 Da). There is ~8% divergence between human and mouse sequences; the majority of differences are in the N-terminal region (thought to be involved in regulatory or binding function rather than catalytic activity). In addition, there are reciprocal substitutions of cysteine residues in mouse and human enzymes, preserving the number of cysteines but altering their relative positions. Differential steady-state concentrations of the two enzymes in the cell, potential topological changes, which may alter structure and function, possible differences in the rates of transcription, translation, stability, activation or intrinsic catalytic activity are all possible contributors to the still unexplained difference in mouse and human PAH activities; mouse enzyme has an order of magnitude greater specific activity than human enzyme [6].

#### Genetic Mouse Models of Phenylketonuria and non-PKU hyperphenylalaninemia

Natural (genetic) mouse models for PKU and non-PKU Hyperphenylalaninemia (HPA) now exist. Inbred BTBR males were treated with N-ethyl-N-nitrosourea (<u>†</u>), mated to normal BTBR females, and the potentially beterozygous progeny from this cross were mated and their progeny screened for HPA. Three mutant phenotypes were identified; Pah(enu1), Pah(enu2) and Pah(enu3).

The homozygous *Pah(enul)* mouse was reported in 1990 [9]. On the basis of its retarded clearance of an injected phenylalanine load, it was classified as a non-PKU HPA counterpart. *Pah(enul)* mice have a c.364T>C transition (V106A) in exon  $3(\underline{1})$ 

[11]. Note: Structure/function studies (rat Pah) show that the region in which this mutation falls (the N-terminal regulatory domain) can be cleaved by chymotryptic digestion with the enzyme still retaining its catalytic activity [1]. Crystallographic analysis of the human enzyme reveals that this mutation is distant from the catalytic residues of PAH/Pah [2,5]. This factor in conjunction with the conservative nature of the predicted Val to Ala substitution may explain the mild phenotype of the *Pah(enul)* animals [11]. These animals display normal plasma phenylalanine levels, normal colouration and no abnormal behaviour on regular diet (Teklad, #8626). There is no apparent effect of maternal phenotype on the fetus; and progeny show normal survival and growth rate. Pah enzyme activity is ~5-24% normal [10,12]. Under conditions of elevated Phe in diet, reduced growth is observed [9,13].

Pah(enu2) and Pah(enu3) strains were reported in 1993 [13]. Both strains are classified as PKU counterparts. The Pah(emu2) mutation is a c.835T>C transition (F263S) in exon 7 (1) [11]. Note: This mutation affects a residue shown (by the crystal structure analysis of the human PAH catalytic and tetramerization domains) to be in the active site. This residue is implicated in pterin binding with predicted  $\pi$ -stacking interactions with the substrate [3,4]. The region is highly conserved. [1,2,5]. The presence of mutation in the critical region in conjunction with the non-conservative phe to ser substitution may explain the sever phenotype observed in Pah(enu2) animals. The Pah(enu3) mouse mutation remains to be identified, however, it has been localized to a 301 bp portion of the coding sequence, spanning part of exon 11 and all of exons 12 and 13 (1) [11]. Neither Pah(enu2) of Pah(enu3) have measurable hepatic enzyme activity; on normal diets, they both display a 10-20 fold elevated serum phenylalanine level and elevated phenylketones in urine. These animals have retarded pre- and postnatal growth, smaller heads, behavioral abnormalities and, like their human PKU counterparts, show pronounced hypopigmentation. Both strains have a severe maternal effect on the fetus, resulting in the loss of litters within several hours of birth [12,13].

We have bred a variant of the *Pah(enu)* mouse using *Pah(enu1)* (female) x *Pah(enu2)* (male) crosses. Metabolic profiling, following L-phenylalanine challenge, reveals a HPA phenotype intermediate between *Pah(enu1)* and *Pah(enu2)*. On regular mouse chow, this *Pah(enu1/2)* heteroallelic strain has near normal plasma phe levels and normal coloration. Pah enzyme activity is ~5% normal. This strain has no abnormal behavior, a low maternal effect on the fetus arid is pliant to metabolic manipulation [12].

#### Footnotes:

(t)N-ethyl-N-nitrosourea, an alkylating agent, induces mutations at about  $10^{-3}$  frequency per locus, in spermatogonial stem cells.

(1) Mouse Pah cDNA has been sequenced but not the complete gene, therefore, each mutation has been assigned to a specific exon(s) by regional homology between mouse and human genes.

up to Genetic Monse Models of Phenylhetomaria and non-PKU hyperphenylataninemia

#### **A. General References:**
## PAH Mouse Site - Pah Homologues

I. Cotton RGH, Howells DW, Saleeba JA, Dianzani I, Smooker PM and Jennings IG: Structure function studies of the phenylalanine hydroxylase active site and a summary of structural features. Chemistry and Biology of Pteridines and Folates, Plenum Press, New York, 1993. pp. 55-57.

2. Erlandsen H, Fusetti F, Martinez A, Hough E, Flatmark T and Stevens, RC: Crystal structure of the catalytic domain of human phenylalanine hydroxylase reveals the structural basis for phenylketonuria. J Biol Chem 273: 16962, 1998.

3. Erlandsen H. and Stevens RC: The structural basis of phenylketonuria. Molec Genet Metab 68: 103, 1999.

4. Flatmark T: Structural insight into the aromatic amino acid hydroxylases and their disease-related mutant forms. Chem Rev 99: 2137, 1999.

5. Fusetti F, Erlandsen H, Martinez A, Flatmark T and Stevens, RC: Structure of tetrameric human phenylalanine hydroxylase and its implications for phenylketonuria. J Biol Chem 273:16962, 1998.

6. Ledley FD, Grenett HE, Dunbar BS, Woo SLC: Mouse phenylalanine hydroxylase, homology and divergence from human phenylalanine hydroxylase. Biochem J 267:399, 1990.

7. Ledley FD, Ledbetter SA, Ledbetter DH, Woo SLC: Localization of mouse phenylalanine hydroxylase locus on chromosome 10. Cytogenet Cell Genet 47:125, 1988.

 Scriver CR, S Kaufman, Eisensmith RC and SLC Woo. The hyperphenylalaninemias. In The Metabolic and Molecular Bases of Inherited Disease. 7th ed. eds. Scriver CR, Beaudet AL, Sly WS and Valle D. McGraw-Hill Inc. New York, 1995. pp. 1015-1075.

<u>UP 10 Messe enzyme and eene fer abenvialandne hydroxylate.</u> U<u>P 10 Genetic Messe Medels of Phenviketenuria and non-PSU byserphenvialaninemia</u>.

## **B. Specific References:**

9. McDonald JD, Bode VC, Dove WF and Shedlovsky A: Pah(hph5): A mouse mutant deficient in phenylalanine hydroxylase. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 87:1965, 1990.

10. McDonald JD, Bode VC, Dove WF and Shedlovsky A: The use of N-ethyl-N-nitrosourea to produce mouse models for human phenylketonuria and hyperphenylalaninemia. Mutation and the Environment, Wiley-Liss, New York, 1990. Part C, pp. 407-413.

11. McDonald JD, Charlton CK: Characterization of mutations at the mouse phenylalanine hydroxylase locus. Genomics 39:402, 1997.

12. Sarkissian CN, Boulais DM, McDonald JD and Scriver CR. A Heteroallelic Mutant Mouse Model: A New Orthologue for Human Hyperphenylalaninemia. Mol Genet Metab 69:188-194, 2000.

13. Shedlovsky A, McDonald JD, Symula D and Dove WF: Mouse models of human phenylketonuria. Genetics 134:1205, 1993.

<u>UD 10 Monae curvene and extre for phravialaniae huberstiese.</u> U<u>D 10 Genetic Monae Madeia of Phravikeonaria and non-PKU hyperphravialaniacuria</u>.

Mouse Home PAHdb

For further information about this site and its contents, please contact J.D.McDonald or C.N.Sarkissian.

## **APPENDIX E**

## Protocol for Long-Term PAL Administration Providing Direct Access to the Duodenum

Animals are injected with Tribrissen 24hrs prior to, the day of and the day following surgery. On the day of the surgery, they are injected (i.p.) with Pentobarbital, followed by an injection of Atropine sulfate (s.c.). The mouse is shaved around the abdominal area and the back (between the scapulae) and disinfected with isopropyl-alcohol, Hibitane and Iodovet. An incision is made on the back and abdominal area. A piece of silicone tubing is inserted through the back incision and directed (s.c.) towards the abdominal incision. The end, which appears at the posterior opening, is sealed with a sterile-removable plug (this can be accessed for administration of the enzyme). The peritoneal membrane is incised, and the duodenum located. Then a circular suturing is introduced and an incision made in the middle where the silicone tubing and Vetbond used to reinforce the seal. The abdominal cavity and skin is closed by suturing. The animals receive Buprenorphine (SC) prior to waking up and for the following 3 days.

One week following the surgery, the PAL formulation can be tested by injecting the solution, through the catheter, directly into the intestine. Efficacy of the enzyme can be measured by reduction in plasma phenylalanine levels over a period of a week.